RHESUS MACAQUE RHADINOVIRUS R12 IS REQUIRED FOR PROMYELOCYTIC LEUKEMIA NUCLEAR BODY DISRUPTION AND INHIBITS INNATE IMMUNE RESPONSES

By Laura K. Springgay

A Dissertation

Presented to the Department of Molecular Microbiology and Immunology and the Oregon Health & Science University School of Medicine in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

June 2018

School of Medicine

Oregon Health & Science University

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

This is to certify that the PhD dissertation of

Laura Springgay

has been approved

Thesis Advisor / Scott W. Wong, PhD

Committee Chair / Victor R. DeFilippis, PhD

Committee Member / Ashlee V. Moses, PhD

Committee Member / Amanda W. Lund, PhD

Committee Member / Timothy J. Nice, PhD

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of Contents	i
Selected Abbreviations	iv
Acknowledgements	vi
Abstract	vii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Human Herpesviruses	1
1.1.1 Herpesvirus classification	1
1.1.2 Herpesvirus structure	2
1.1.3 Herpesvirus lifecycle	4
1.1.4 Herpesvirus pathogenesis and animal models	5
1.1.4.1 Human alpha-herpesviruses	5
1.1.4.2 Human beta-herpesviruses	8
1.1.4.3 Human gamma-herpesviruses	12
1.2 KSHV	13
1.2.1 KSHV Genome	14
1.2.2 KSHV tropism and lifecycle	15
1.2.2.1 Tropism	15
1.2.2.2 Infection and active replication	15
1.2.2.3 Latency	16
1.2.2.3.1 Latency-associated genes	17
1.2.2.3.1 KSHV miRNAs	17
1.2.3 KSHV-associated diseases	19
1.2.4 Therapies for KSHV-associated diseases	21
1.2.5 Animal Models for KSHV	23

1.3 RRV	
1.3.1 RRV genome	27
1.3.2 RRV tropism and lifecycle	28
1.3.3 RRV-associated diseases	
1.3.4 RRV as a model for KSHV	30
1.4 Immune System	31
1.4.1 Innate and intrinsic immunity	32
1.4.1.1 Promyelocytic leukemia nuclear bodies	35
1.4.1.2 Interferon signaling	43
1.4.1.3 Interferon regulatory factors	47
1.4.2 Adaptive immunity	54
1.5 Herpesvirus Innate Immune Evasion	58
1.5.1 Interferon induction by herpesvirus infection	58
1.5.2 Interferon evasion	61
1.5.3 PML-NB evasion	69
1.6 Viral Interferon Regulatory Factors	74
1.6.1 KSHV vIRFs	75
1.6.1.1 vIRF-1	75
1.6.1.2 vIRF-2	80
1.6.1.3 vIRF-3	82
1.6.1.4 vIRF-4	87
1.6.2 RRV vIRFs	89
1.6.2.1 RRV vIRF immune modulation in vitro	90
1.6.2.2 RRV vIRF immune modulation in vivo	92
1.7 Concluding Remarks	96
Chapter 2: RRV evades antiviral PML-NBs by encoding the vIR	SF R1297
2.1 Abstract	98
2.2 Importance	98
2.3 Introduction	
2.4 Results	102

2.4.1 RRV vIRFs enhance infection in the presence of IFN and are	
required for the dispersal of PML-NBs	102
2.4.2 The RRV vIRF R12 co-localizes with PML-NBs	109
2.4.3 R12 co-immunoprecipitates with PML protein	113
2.4.4 Exogenous R12 protein expression during RRVvIRF-KO infecti	on
results in the loss of PML-NBs	116
2.4.5 Construction of recombinant R12 mutant RRV	117
2.4.6 Endogenous R12 localizes to PML-NBs and is necessary for	
PML-NB disruption during viral infection	120
2.4.7 Disruption of PML-NBs during RRV infection inhibits ISG	
induction and aids viral infection	126
2.5 Discussion	131
2.6 Materials and Methods	135
Chapter 3: Discussion and Euture Directions	144
2.1 PPV disruption of PML NRs onbances viral infection in the	
3.1 RRV disruption of PML-NBS enhances viral infection in the	
presence of type I IFN	145
3.2 Future Directions	148
References	153

SELECTED ABREVIATIONS

- α: Alpha
- β: Beta
- γ: Gamma
- к: Карра
- λ : Lambda
- ART: Anti-Retroviral Therapy
- BAC: Bacterial Artificial Chromosome
- EBV: Epstein Barr Virus
- GAS: Gamma-Activated Sequence
- HCMV: Human Cytomegalovirus
- HHV: Human Herpesvirus
- HSV: Herpes Simplex Virus
- IE: Immediate early
- IFN: Interferon
- IFNAR: Interferon Alpha Receptor
- **IRF: Interferon Regulatory Factor**
- ISG: Interferon Stimulated Gene
- JAK: Janus Kinase
- KS: Kaposi Sarcoma
- KSHV: Kaposi Sarcoma Associated Herpesvirus
- MCD: Multicentric Castleman's Disease
- MHV68: Murine Herpesvirus 68

ORF: Open Reading Frame

- PAMP: Pathogen-Associated Molecular Pattern
- PML: Promyelocytic Leukemia
- PML-NB: Promyelocytic Leukemia Nuclear Body
- PRR: Pattern Recognition Receptor
- RM: Rhesus Macaque
- RhIFNa2: Rhesus Macaque Interferon Alpha 2
- **RRV: Rhesus Macaque Rhadinovirus**
- SIM: SUMO-Interacting Motif
- SP100: Speckled 100 kDa
- STAT: Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription
- SUMO: Small Ubiquitin-like Modifier
- vIRF: Viral Interferon Regulatory Factor
- VZV: Varicella Zoster Virus

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to acknowledge and thank my mentor, Dr. Scott W. Wong, for his expertise, training, and support throughout my entire Ph.D. career. His guidance on navigating my research, grant writing, and career path has been invaluable. I cannot thank him enough for the opportunities he has provided to me.

I would also like to thank the rest of my thesis committee, Dr. Ashlee Moses, Dr. Amanda Lund, and Dr. Victor DeFilippis, for all of their advice throughout my project. In particular, I need to acknowledge Dr. DeFilippis because he not only served on my committee offering advice and reagents, he also provided me with my first research job outside of my undergraduate career. He instilled in me, a love for virus/host interactions and basic research.

Dr. Kenneth Stedman from Portland State University must also be recognized for his amazing teaching skills, which inspired my pursuit of virology research in the first place. He generously opened up his laboratory to me and set me on the path to this Ph.D. degree.

I also need to express my deepest gratitude to my mother and father, Janice and Charles, for encouraging my pursuit of science from the beginning. I also could not have completed graduate school and become a first time mother without the selfless support of my husband, Shawn. My sister and role model, Melissa, I simply would not be where I am without her. Lastly, I want to thank all of my family, friends, and lab-mates over the years, they have been the greatest support system.

vi

ABSTRACT

Kaposi sarcoma herpesvirus (KSHV) is the infectious etiological agent of several malignancies, lymphoproliferative disorders, and immune-dysfunction syndromes with significant morbidity and mortality in HIV-infected and immunecompromised individuals. While incidences of AIDS-associated malignancies caused by KSHV have declined considerably since the implementation of highly active antiretroviral therapies (ART), those individuals who develop KSHVassociated diseases have few, and often ineffective, treatment options. This underscores the continued need for research to understand KSHV pathology and development of new therapies.

Intrinsic and innate immunity are the first lines of cellular defense that viruses must overcome in order to successfully establish infection. Herpesviruses are a very successful group of viruses, as they not only infect a wide variety of species; they also produce lifelong infections that are never cleared from the infected hosts. A large and growing number of studies have helped to define the virally-encoded strategies utilized by herpesviruses to overcome the intrinsic, innate, and adaptive immune responses and explain their great success at persisting in their respective hosts. Unique among the herpesviruses, the gamma-2 herpesviruses such as KSHV and the closely related rhesus macaque rhadinovirus (RRV), encode open reading frames (ORFs) with homology to cellular interferon regulatory factors (IRFs). These viral IRFs (vIRFs) have been shown to play roles in innate and adaptive immune evasion, as well as oncogenesis and apoptosis. Several studies have now described how

vii

promyelocytic leukemia nuclear bodies (PML-NBs) function as intrinsic immune barriers that can potently inhibit viral replication. Much has been learned about how the alpha- and beta- herpesviruses are able to circumvent PML-NBs. However, only a few studies have begun to describe the interactions between gamma-2 herpesviruses and PML-NBs. Understanding how gamma-2 herpesviruses overcome the immediate restriction imparted by PML-NBs will provide valuable insight into the establishment of productive infections and could identify possible therapeutic targets to prevent infections.

This dissertation will present the current research findings in the fields of herpesvirus activation of and evasion of intrinsic and innate immunity, with a particular focus on PML-NBs and the gamma-2 herpesviruses, KSHV and RRV. I report for the first time that an RRV vIRF (R12) is involved in the disruption of PML-NBs upon *de novo* lytic infection. R12 not only localizes to PML-NBs but also complexes with PML protein. Additionally, R12 expression inhibits the interferon (IFN)-signaling pathway downstream of type I IFN engagement of the type I IFN receptor. These functions of R12 inhibit the induction of IFN stimulated genes (ISGs) during *de novo* lytic infection and ultimately aid RRV replication at early times post infection. R12 increases RRV infection efficiency in the presence of type I IFN signaling, such as would be encountered during natural *in vivo* infection, and provides evidence that R12 could help RRV to efficiently infect rhesus macaques.

viii

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

1.1 Human Herpesviruses

Human herpesviruses are highly successful viruses that have co-evolved with humans and establish persistent lifelong infections. Diseases associated with the various human herpesviruses range in severity from mild rashes to severe birth defects and cancer development. Thus, the human herpesviruses pose a significant threat to human health.

1.1.1 Herpesvirus Classification

The Herpesvirales order contains three families, *Malacoherpesviridae*, *Alloherpesviridae*, and *Herpesviridae* (1). The *Malacoherpesviridae* family infects molluscs. *Alloherpesviridae* members infect fish and amphibians and the *Herpesviridae* family infects mammals, birds, and reptiles. The *Herpesviridae* family is further divided into three subfamilies, *Alphaherpesvirinae*, *Betaherpesvirinae*, and *Gammaherpesvirinae*. Eight herpesviruses are known to infect humans and can be found in each subfamily of *Herpesviridae*. Herpes simplex virus 1 [HSV-1, also known as human herpesvirus 1(HHV-1)], herpes simplex virus 2 (HSV-2, HHV-2), and varicella-zoster virus (VZV, HHV-3) are members of the *Alphaherpesvirinae*. Human cytomegalovirus (HCMV, HHV-5), human herpesvirus 6 (HHV-6), and human herpesvirus 7 (HHV-7) are classified within the *Betaherpesvirinae* subfamily. Lastly, the *Gammaherpesvirinae* subfamily is divided into *gamma-1 lymphocryptoviruses* and *gamma-2*

rhadinoviruses, of which Epstein-Barr virus (EBV, HHV-4) and KSHV (HHV-8) are members (respectively).

Herpesviruses, including the human herpesviruses, infect a narrow host range and have adapted to their respective hosts so that infections are never cleared, but display two distinct phases; a lytic phase marked by active gene transcription and viral replication, and a latent phase with a very limited gene transcription program and no viral replication (2). The subfamilies of *Herpesviridae* are separated based on cellular tropism, host range, replication kinetics, and phylogenetic relatedness based on genetic sequence. Alphaherpesviruses show rapid kinetics of replication and during latency they display tropism for sensory ganglia. Beta-herpesviruses have slow replication kinetics and establish latency in myeloid-lineage cells. Lastly, the gamma-herpesviruses (3). The same factors that help delineate the different subfamilies of human herpesviruses also influence the research models used to study each virus, as discussed below.

1.1.2 Herpesvirus Structure

One of the main criteria for inclusion into the *Herpesvirales* order is virion morphology (Figure 1.1) (4). All herpesviruses have linear double-stranded (ds) DNA genomes packaged within an icosahedral capsid. The size of the genomes varies across the different herpesviruses, ranging from 125kbp to 240kbp and encoding around 40 functionally conserved genes and many more nonconserved genes (5). The capsid is composed of 12 pentons and 150 hexons

which themselves consist of 5 or 6 major capsid proteins, respectively. Pentons and hexons are interconnected by triplexes that consist of two proteins, a monomer and a dimer (6). Surrounding the capsid is an unstructured area called the tegument, which contains functional proteins that are important for initial virus infection (7). The outer-most layer of the mature virion is the envelope, which contains lipid membrane derived from the Golgi and/or endosomes of the infected cell. Along with the cellular proteins and lipids, the envelope also contains viral glycoproteins necessary for attachment, fusion, and entry into the next target cell (7).



Figure 1.1 Herpesvirus Virion With permission from Zerboni et al. 2014 Nature Reviews Microbiology

1.1.3 Herpesvirus lifecycle

Entry into cells by the human herpesviruses can occur by fusion at the plasma membrane or fusion with endocytic vesicles to deliver capsid and tegument proteins into the cytoplasm (8). Once in the cytoplasm, the capsid is transported to the nucleus along microtubules. At the nucleus the viral DNA is ejected from the capsid through the capsid portal and into the nucleus through nuclear pores (9). Once inside the nucleus, the viral DNA circularizes and, during lytic replication, begins a highly ordered gene-expression program (9). A set of genes termed immediate early (IE) are transcribed first and do not require previous viral protein synthesis before their activation. Some of the IE genes function as transactivators of subsequent viral genes. The early (E) genes are transcribed next and require IE gene transcription to have occurred prior, but do not require viral DNA synthesis. Several of the E gene products are involved in genome synthesis and, therefore, viral genome replication can begin at this point. The late (L) genes are the last set of genes to be transcribed during the acute phase of viral replication. The transcription of L genes requires that viral DNA synthesis has occurred. These gene products include the structural proteins necessary for assembly of the new progeny virions (10). After the capsid proteins are synthesized in the cytoplasm they move back into the nucleus to assemble, the newly synthesized genomes are packaged into the capsids and must next exit the nucleus. This is thought to be achieved by budding through the inner nuclear membrane into the space between the two nuclear membranes. The virus particle now has a lipid membrane envelope surrounding the capsid, which

will fuse with the outer nuclear membrane so that the capsid loses the envelope as it enters into the cytoplasm. The viral capsid acquires viral and cellular proteins that will make up the tegument as it travels through the cytoplasm and gains the final envelope from the modified membranes of the Golgi or endosomes during the exit from the cell (Figure 1.2) (8, 11).



Figure 1.2 Herpesvirus Lifecycle

With permission from Zeev-Ben-Mordehai et al. 2014. Current Opinions in Virology

1.1.4 Herpesvirus Pathogenesis and Animal Models

1.1.4.1 Human alpha-herpesviruses

HSV-1, HSV-2, and VZV cause ulcerative sores and vesicles during active replication. They initially infect mucosal epithelium before establishing latency in the dorsal root ganglia that innervate sites of active replication (3). However, there are several important distinctions to be made in the pathogenesis of these viruses.

HSV-1 and HSV-2 are transmitted person to person from physical contact of infected mucosal sites where viral shedding is occurring (3). These viruses will infect the mucosal epithelium and produce pustules and ulcers at the site of infection (oral for HSV-1 and genital for HSV-2). Eventually the viruses will infect the innervating ganglia and become latent. Reactivation of the virus occurs following stress (physical or emotional) or immune suppression. Active virus will travel down the nerve (called anterograde transport), back to the mucosal sites of initial infection and cause blistering and sores, viral replication, and virus shedding (3). Currently, no vaccines are in use for preventing or treating HSV-1 or -2 infections. Three antiviral therapies are approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for the treatment of herpes simplex outbreaks; Acyclovir, Valacyclovir, and Famciclovir, which are all nucleoside analogues that inhibit the viral DNA polymerase.

HSV-1 and HSV-2 are more promiscuous viruses in that they are able to infect several species such as mouse, rabbit, guinea pig, rat, owl monkey, marmoset, and rhesus macaque (RM) (12). Infection of mice with HSV-1/2 quickly establishes latency in ganglia, and provides a model to study acute infection, latency, and neuroinvasion (12, 13). Guinea pigs and rabbits provide a useful model for studying reactivation, as this does not occur as reliably in the mouse model (12).

Unlike HSV-1/2, VZV infects individuals through the upper respiratory tract via aerosolized virus particles (14). After the mucosal epithelium of the upper respiratory tract becomes infected, a 10-21 day incubation period can be

followed by varicella disease (chickenpox) (14). The rash first appears on the trunk and soon spreads to the face and extremities and can be accompanied by fever. Following primary infection, the innervating ganglia can become infected and VZV will become latent within these cells (15). Reactivation can occur and results in herpes zoster (shingles) disease. Very painful lesions on isolated areas of the skin that coincide with the innervating ganglia experiencing viral reactivation mark this disease (15). Similar to primary infection, lesions will usually clear in about a week. However, nerve pain can last for several more weeks and around 30% of infected individuals will develop chronic pain or postherpetic neuralgia (16). Three vaccines are in use within the U.S. for prevention of VZV-related diseases. Varivax is approved for children as young as 12 months to prevent varicella and Zostavax is approved for adults aged 50 or older to prevent herpes zoster reactivation (17). Both of these vaccines are live attenuated strains of VZV. Recently, in October of 2017, a new recombinant herpes zoster subunit vaccine (Shingrix) was approved by the FDA in the U.S. (17).

Animal models for VZV include the use of guinea pigs, mice, and rats for *in vivo* studies, although these models have limitations. Guinea pigs can only become infected with a guinea pig adapted strain of VZV, obtained through serial passaging within fetal guinea pig cells (18). Infection of guinea pigs with the adapted strain results in seroconversion but pathogenesis is limited and reactivation does not occur (19). Experimental VZV infection of mice and rats will similarly result in seroconversion without any clinical disease manifestations (19).

Severe-combined immunodeficient (SCID)-humanized (SCID-hu) mice provide a better mouse model for VZV pathogenesis. Transplantation of fetal human thymus and liver tissue, human skin grafts, or human fetal dorsal root ganglia into SCID mice provides a model for VZV infection and pathogenesis (14, 20). Simian varicella virus (SVV) is a non-human primate (NHP) alpha-herpesvirus with 70-75% DNA similarity to VZV (21). SVV infection of NHPs such as cynomolgus macaques and patas monkeys results in more severe disease manifestations including death, providing a model for severe VZV disease complications (22-24). RMs infected with SVV do not die and present a similar pathogenesis to that seen in most human infections with VZV including rash, viremia, and T and B cell involvement, followed by latency in ganglia (25). Therefore, while limited availability and expensive costs can make RM models more difficult to work with, the SVV model is very important for studying VZV-like disease and pathogenesis *in vivo*.

1.1.4.2 Human beta-herpesviruses

Pathogenic human beta-herpesviruses can be grouped into two classes, HCMV and Roseolaviruses (HHV-6 and HHV-7). HCMV infection occurs through contact with infected bodily fluids (such as saliva, urine, and breast milk), organ transplantation with a HCMV positive donor, or by vertical transmission from mother to fetus (3). HCMV can infect a wide range of cellular targets however it is now believed that hematopoietic cell lineages, especially monocytes, provide the latency reservoir for HCMV (26, 27). When latently infected monocytes traffic to

tissues and differentiate into macrophages or monocyte-derived dendritic cells, the virus can reactivate (26).

Infection of immune-competent individuals is usually asymptomatic but fever, sore throat and swollen glands may also occur. In rare cases, some healthy individuals may develop a HCMV mononucleosis or hepatitis (28).

HCMV infection of a fetus or immune-compromised individual can result in significant morbidity and mortality. In immune-compromised individuals, such as AIDS patients, primary HCMV infection or reactivation can lead to retinitis, gastrointestinal disease, pneumonia, and central nervous system disease (including peripheral neuropathy and myelitis) (26, 29, 30). Another population at risk for severe HCMV infection outcomes is transplant patients undergoing immunosuppression. The highest risk population is HCMV seronegative patients receiving a transplant from a HCMV positive donor (31). CMV syndrome, characterized by fever, low white blood cell and blood platelet counts, and elevated liver enzyme levels, can develop 3 to 4 weeks post transplant (31). Other diseases like hepatitis, pneumonia, gastrointestinal disease, and retinitis can occur in the HCMV-transplant setting (31). Finally, HCMV disease is associated with allograft rejection (31, 32). Another immune-compromised population at risk of severe outcomes following HCMV infection is the unborn fetus. If a pregnant woman experiences a primary infection (or more rarely, a reactivation) with HCMV, the virus can infect the fetus (33, 34). In utero infection affects multiple organs and can cause a multitude of birth defects including growth and mental retardation, sensorineural hearing loss, hepatosplenomegaly,

and microcephaly (26). Presentation of severe pathology in the context of multiple types of immune-deficiency underscores the balance between immune protection and persistent HCMV infection.

Characteristic of beta-herpesviruses, HCMV displays restricted species tropism, only infecting humans. Humanized mouse models provide a means to study HCMV in vivo, but the data that can be obtained from such animal models depends on how the mice are humanized. SCID mice lacking B and T cells can be engrafted with human fetal tissues (liver, thymus, lung, colon, skin, retina) to study HCMV replication in the transplanted tissues (35). More recently, knockout of interleukin-2 receptor γ -chain locus in SCID mice (NSG mice) provides mice deficient in B, T, and NK cells (36). When human fetal bone marrow, liver, and thymus (BLT) are transplanted into these mice there is reconstitution of human myeloid lineage, NK cells, B cells, and T cells. Human CD34⁺ hematopoietic progenitor cells have also been transplanted into NSG mice. These newer models of humanized mice provide the ability to examine HCMV latency, reactivation, and immune responses (26). Other mammals harbor their own versions of CMV; murine CMV (MCMV), rat CMV (RCMV), guinea pig CMV (GPCMV), and RM CMV (RhCMV) provide valuable models to study HCMV-like infections, pathogenesis, and vaccine development (37-39). However, the study of vertical transmission and subsequent birth defects can only be studied using the guinea pig and RM models, as MCMV and RCMV do not cross the placental barrier in their respective hosts (38, 40, 41).

HHV-6 and HHV-7 are also known as roseoloviruses due to a characteristic rash that can present after infection with either virus. HHV-6 is further divided into two species, HHV-6A and HHV-6B. HHV-6 and HHV-7 infection routes are thought to be primarily through saliva (42). In vivo, HHV-6 can infect several cell types and organs (central nervous system tissue, salivary glands, liver, endothelial cells and monocyte/macrophages). HHV-7 displays a more restricted cell tropism in vitro than HHV-6, which may suggest different in vivo cell tropism. In fact, latency appears to be established in monocyte/macrophage cells by HHV-6 and in CD4⁺ T cells by HHV-7 (43, 44). One unique feature of HHV-6 (both A and B) that is not shared by the other human herpesviruses is the ability of HHV-6 to integrate its genome into human chromosomes. Up to 1% of the human population harbors HHV-6 in their genome and this can be passed to offspring through germ-line cells (45). Additionally, the integrated HHV-6 genome can reactivate (46). Primary infection with HHV-6 and HHV-7 typically occurs in early childhood and can be asymptomatic or result in a sudden high fever followed by a rash (exanthema subitum) (42). More severe disease outcomes rarely occur and may be due to underlying factors such as genetic abnormalities or immune dysregulation (43).

Similar to HCMV, HHV-6 and HHV-7 display a restricted species tropism. A marmoset model for HHV-6A and HHV-6B infection has been developed with limited clinical manifestations (47). Humanized mouse models have also been utilized for HHV-6 and HHV-7 *in vivo* studies (47). Pig-tailed macaques have been shown to be susceptible to HHV-6A infection with evidence of viral

replication and similar disease manifestations observed in humans (48). Additionally, viral homologs to HHV-6 and HHV-7 have very recently been described for pig-tailed macaques (MneHV-6 and MnHV-7) and mice (murine roseolovirus, MRV) and provide the opportunity to investigate these betaherpesviruses *in vivo* (49, 50).

1.1.4.3 Human gamma-herpesviruses

The human gamma-herpesviruses have the distinction of being oncogenic viruses and include EBV and KSHV. KSHV will be discussed in detail in the following section 1.2. EBV is transmitted through infected saliva and first infects mucosal epithelial cells where active replication generally takes place. Virus is then transmitted to B cells and becomes latent in memory B cells (51). There are three latency programs for EBV. Latency III helps drive B cell proliferation and expresses the full repertoire of EBV latency genes and non-coding RNAs. Latency II only expresses Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen 1 (EBNA1) and the latent membrane protein (LMP) transcripts to help the virus evade the immune system. Finally, latency I expresses only EBNA1 (52). Infection of young children with EBV is usually asymptomatic while infection of adolescents can result in infectious mononucleosis (fever, sore throat, swollen lymph nodes, and fatigue) (52). A minority of (often immunocompromised) individuals infected with EBV will go on to develop EBV-associated malignancies. These malignancies include Bcell lymphoproliferative disease, Burkitt's lymphoma, Hodgkin lymphoma, primary effusion lymphoma, diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, nasopharyngeal carcinoma, and gastric adenocarcinoma (53, 54).

Just like the beta-herpesviruses, human gamma-herpesviruses do not readily infect other species. Humanized mouse models provide one method for studying EBV infections *in vivo* (55). Closely related viral homologs afford another means to study EBV-like infections. Murine gamma-herpesvirus 68 (MHV68) is closely related to EBV and is also utilized as a mouse model for EBV-like infections (56). Many NHPs are also infected with host-specific viruses that are closely related to EBV. RMs (Rhesus lymphocryptovirus, RhLCV), marmosets (maLCV), and cynomolgus macaques (cyLCV), provide additional animal models for EBV (57).

As described in this section, human herpesviruses are pernicious viral threats to human health. Their ability to establish life-long persistent infections presents a distinct obstacle that must be overcome in order to reach a cure. The various animal models and related animal viruses described above are indispensable for the development of therapeutics and for research into potential cure strategies.

1.2 KSHV

KSHV (HHV8) was the most recently identified human herpesvirus. With the onset of the AIDS epidemic in the United States, a focus on research to discover the cause of KS in AIDS patients began. Roughly 10 years after the AIDS epidemic in the U.S. began, KSHV was isolated from KS lesions and identified as the etiologic agent of KS (58). The prevalence of KSHV infection varies from region to region across the world with high-level endemic areas (sub-Saharan Africa and some regions of the Middle East) reporting 30%-70% of

adults infected, intermediate-level endemic regions (Mediterranean area) with 10%-25%, and non-endemic areas (the Americas, northern Europe, and Asia) observing less than 10% of the general population infected (59, 60). Immunocompetent individuals infected with KSHV generally remain latent and asymptomatic. In the event of immune dysregulation or immune suppression, KSHV can reactivate and lead to several malignancies and lymphoproliferative disorders.

1.2.1 KSHV Genome

The genome of KSHV is packaged into virions as linear dsDNA, 165-170 kbp in length, which remains linear during lytic replication but forms circular episomes during latency (61). A ~137 kbp long unique region (LUR) is flanked on either side by terminal repeat sequences of 30 kbp in size (62, 63). The LUR contains the over 90 ORFs encoded by KSHV and 12 pre-micro RNAs (premiRNAs) that give rise to 25 mature miRNAs (64, 65). Genes that were initially identified as unique to KSHV were designated K1 through K15. KSHV encodes at least 14 viral genes with homology to cellular genes including a viral Interleukin-6 (vIL-6, K2), viral B cell lymphoma-2 (vbcl-2, ORF16), viral Fasassociated death domain-like IL-1 β -converting enzyme inhibitory protein (vFLIP, ORF71), and vIRF-1 though vIRF-4 (K9-K11.1, see section 1.6 below) (66). The terminal repeats on either end of the KSHV genome contain ~800 bp repeat units with a G+C content of 84.5% (compared to the 53.5% G+C content of the LUR). These terminal repeats contain potential packaging and cleavage sites and are required for episomal DNA maintenance during latency (61, 66).

1.2.2 KSHV Tropism and Lifecycle

1.2.2.1 Tropism

KSHV is like several other human herpesviruses in that it possesses a strict species-specificity for humans. KSHV can infect many different human cell types including fibroblasts, endothelial cells, B cells, CD34⁺ hematopoietic progenitor cells, monocytes, epithelial cells, and DCs (61, 67). It is widely believed that the main latency reservoir for KSHV *in vivo* is memory B cells, although latency may establish in other cell types including monocytes (67). In addition to human cells, KSHV can infect some non-human cells *in vitro* like hamster BHK-21 and CHO cells, mouse fibroblasts, and owl monkey kidney cells (67).

1.2.2.2 Infection and Active Replication

The primary infection route for KSHV is not fully elucidated as of yet, but is believed to occur mainly through saliva and to a lesser extent through sexual contact, or blood (68). Binding receptors and entry receptors on target cells allow KSHV to attach and then enter the cell. Heparin sulfate on the cell surface serves as a binding receptor for KSHV to first attach to the target cell (69). KSHV glycoproteins gB, gpK8.1A, ORF4, and gH enable the initial binding of KSHV to heparin sulfate (70). Several entry receptors utilized by KSHV have been identified and the receptor used depends on the cell type. KSHV gB contains an integrin binding motif and the α 3 β 1, α V β 3, α V β 5, and α 9 β 1 integrins have been

shown to serve as entry receptors on endothelial cells, fibroblasts, and monocytes (70-72). A 12-transmembrane glutamate/cysteine exchange transporter (xCT) has also been identified as a KSHV fusion-entry receptor that may work alongside integrins to facilitate viral fusion (73, 74). To date, the KSHV glycoprotein that interacts with xCT has not been identified. DC-SIGN on myeloid dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, THP-1 monocytes, and activated B cells is another entry receptor for KSHV, through binding with KSHV gB (70, 72) (75). Lastly, ephrin type-A receptor 2 (EphA2R) on endothelial and fibroblast cells can be bound by gH/gL of KSHV, leading to phosphorylation of EphA2R and internalization of the KSHV virion (76). Once bound to the target cell, KSHV is internalized through macropinocytosis or clathrin-mediated endocytosis (70, 72). Following internalization, the KSHV replication cycle is typical for herpesviruses with temporal expression of viral genes, replication in the nucleus, mature capsids budding from the nucleus, obtaining tegument proteins in the cytoplasm, and acquiring an envelope from endosomes or golgi, before exiting the cell (70, 77, 78).

1.2.2.3 Latency

When KSHV becomes latent, it must maintain its genome throughout cell division. This is achieved by tethering the episome (packaged into chromosome-like structure) to cellular chromosomes using the viral protein latency-associated nuclear antigen 1 (LANA-1, ORF73) (79). The terminal repeat sequence is the origin of latent replication (*Ori-P*) and is necessary for genome persistence (78). 50 to 100 copies of KSHV genomes are maintained in a latently infected cell, and

replication of the viral genomes occurs alongside cellular genome replication (80, 81). During latency only a small subset of viral genes and miRNAs are expressed (62).

1.2.2.3.1 Latency Associated Genes

KSHV genes expressed during latency include LANA-1, vCyclin, vFLIP, K12, and vIRF-3 (82). As described above, LANA-1 helps to maintain the viral episome in dividing cells. LANA-1 also possesses anti-apoptotic, cellular proliferation, and maintenance of latency functions through its interactions with other cellular proteins, viral proteins, and viral promoters (82). ORF72/vCyclin promotes cell cycle progression and proliferation by activating cyclin dependent kinase 6 (83). ORF71/vFLIP activates nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF κ B) and promotes cell survival and viral latency (84, 85). The K12 locus produces three proteins, Kaposin A, B, and C with functions that contribute to tumorigenesis, angiogenesis, and pro-inflammatory responses (82, 86, 87). vIRF-3 has immune-modulatory, oncogenic, and anti-apoptotic functions and is discussed in detail in section 1.6.

1.2.2.3.2 KSHV miRNAs

Micro RNAs (miRNAs) are noncoding single-stranded RNAs 19-22 nucleotides in length that can post-transcriptionally repress target genes and prevent protein synthesis. Biogenesis of miRNAs begins in the nucleus where RNA polymerase II transcribes the pri-miRNAs (up to kilobasepairs long). Drosha and DiGeore syndrome critical region 8 (DGCR8) proteins process the pri-

miRNAs into pre-miRNA that are subsequently exported from the nucleus. Once in the cytoplasm, Dicer further cleaves pre-miRNAs into 19-22 nucleotide duplexed miRNAs. One strand of the mature miRNA is loaded onto the RNAinduced silencing complex (RISC) by binding to the Argonaute 2 protein. The sequence of the miRNA seed region (8bp long) directs the RISC complex to target mRNAs and results in translation inhibition or mRNA degradation.

KSHV encodes 12 pre-miRNAs that are processed into 25 mature miRNAs (88). Ten of the KSHV pre-miRNAs are located in the genomic region between K12 and ORF71 while two are located within K12 itself (pre-miR-K10 and pre-miR-K12) (89). As stated above, all of the KSHV miRNAs are expressed during latency. However, miR-K10a-5p, miR-K10a-3p, miR-K10b-3p, miR-K12-5p, and miR-K12-3p are also expressed during lytic infection (90, 91). Single miRNAs are able to target multiple genes and the KSHV miRNAs are no exception. KSHV miRNA target identification and validation has revealed maintenance of latency, anti-apoptotic, angiogenic, cell cycle regulation, and immune evasion roles for these miRNAs (88). For example, miR-K9-5p and miR-K7 target the KSHV lytic switch, replication and transcription activator (RTA), to help maintain latency (92-94). miR-K7 also targets major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I polypeptide-related sequence B (MICB), which reduces attack of the infected cell by NK cells (95). miR-K11 targets I-kappa-B kinase epsilon [IKK ε , a kinase that can phosphorylate/activate interferon regulatory factor 3/7 (IRF3/IRF7) transcription factors to induce IFN transcription] to inhibit type I IFN signaling (96). miR-K1, miR-K3-3p, miR-K6-3p, and miR-K11 target

thrombospondin 1, an anti-angiogenic and anti-proliferative protein (97). Caspase 3-induced apoptosis is suppressed by miR-K1, miR-K3, and miR-K4-3p (98). Thus, the KSHV miRNAs are a tool to modulate many cellular and viral targets in order to maintain latent viral infection within a suitable cellular environment.

1.2.3 KSHV-Associated Diseases

KSHV is associated with three malignancies and two acute inflammatory diseases. The first association of KSHV and a malignancy was the discovery that KSHV was the causative agent of Kaposi's sarcoma (KS). KS was first described by Dr. Moritz Kaposi in 1872 as benign lesion of the extremities found in elderly Mediterranean and eastern European men (99). There are now four recognized epidemiological forms of KS, and the one described by Dr. Kaposi is termed classic KS. Classic KS rarely develops into an aggressive malignancy (59, 99). The other three forms of KS are African endemic KS, iatrogenic KS, and AIDSassociated KS (59, 99). African endemic KS is found in sub-Saharan Africa where severe disease mainly afflicts children. Furthermore, African endemic KS is more aggressive than classic KS with significant mortality rates. latrogenic KS, or post-transplant KS is associated with the immunosuppressive therapies that transplant patients receive. Lastly, AIDS-associated KS is the most aggressive form of KS and is considered an AIDS defining illness. AIDS-associated KS is also the most common cancer associated with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection. KS lesions are usually cutaneous or mucosal in location but have also been found on lymph nodes and visceral organs (100). The lesions are often polyclonal or oligoclonal (arising independently rather than through disseminated

metastasis) but instances of monoclonality have also been observed. These lesions are purple, brown, or red in color due to their high angiogenic nature. Vascular leakage is characteristic of KS lesions and cellular infiltration as well as extravasation readily occurs. Strikingly, over 95% of KS lesions contain KSHV DNA and the virus is often found to be latently infecting the cells. KS tumors contain a spindle-shaped cell that is believed to be of endothelial origin. Both blood endothelial and lymphatic endothelial cell markers are found on KS spindle cells and transcriptional reprogramming may be the cause (99, 100).

Primary Effusion Lymphoma (PEL) is another malignancy associated with KSHV. PEL is a non-Hodgkin lymphoma of B cell origin. Malignant B cells of PEL are monoclonal in nature and found in the pleural, pericardial, and peritoneal cavities of the body (101). PEL cells contain 50-100 copies of latent KSHV genomes and are often co-infected with EBV (101). PEL is an aggressive lymphoma with poor prognosis having an average of 5 to 6 months survival post diagnosis (99, 102).

Multicentric Castleman disease (MCD) is a lymphoproliferative disorder where proliferative tumors are found in lymph nodes and other lymphatic organs (99). While not all types of MCD are caused by KSHV infection, the plasma cell version of MCD is KSHV positive (99, 103). MCD entails an abnormal proliferation of (often) polyclonal immunoglobulin M (IgM) λ -plasmablasts in the mantel zone of B cell follicles (104). In contrast to KS and PEL, KSHV-positive MCD cells are often lytically infected (105). Fever, hypergammaglobulinemia, high levels of IL-6 and vIL-6, and autoimmune phenomenon are symptoms of

MCD (99, 105). MCD can cause autoimmune hemolytic anemia and sometimes leads to non-Hodgkin lymphoma, both of which can be fatal (99, 106).

Acute inflammatory diseases associated with KSHV include KSHVassociated inflammatory cytokine syndrome (KICS) and immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome (IRIS). KICS is an inflammatory disease that lacks lymphadenopathy (as observed in MCD). KICS is characterized by high KSHV viral loads and increased levels of cellular and viral cytokines including human IL-6, IL-10, and vIL-6 (107). IRIS occurs in a subset of patients with advanced HIV infection, following the onset of ART treatment, and manifests as either a worsening of an opportunistic infection or the unmasking of a previously unknown infection. IRIS is believed to occur due to an increase in CD4⁺ T cells (following ART treatment) that recognize pathogens or autoantigens which had been previously unrecognized and dysregulation of the reconstituted immune system. Worsening of KS lesions following the start of ART as well as unmasking of KS lesions and MCD following ART have been described (108-111).

KSHV diseases often, although not always, occur in a context of immune dysfunction. Understanding how KSHV contributes to this immune dysfunction and pathological outcomes is crucial for the development of effective antiviral therapeutics.

1.2.4 Therapies for KSHV-Associated Diseases

Following administration of ART, the incidence of KS, PEL, and MCD has declined in HIV positive individuals. However, AIDS-associated and non-AIDSassociated KSHV malignancies are still a real problem in parts of Africa and for

transplant patients. Treatments for established KS involve excision of cutaneous lesions if possible as well as administration of radiation, chemotherapeutic agents, cytokines, and antivirals. For visceral or disseminated KS, chemotherapy (doxorubicin, etoposide), IFN α , and IL-12 are options for treatment (99, 112-114). Very limited efficacy is achieved with the use of viral DNA polymerase inhibitors (ganciclovir, cidofovir, foscarnet), however prophylactic use may prevent the development of KS in immune-compromised individuals (99). Drugs to treat KS by targeting non-viral proteins have recently been developed. Imatinib inhibits the tyrosine kinase c-Kit, which is expressed in KS tumor cells and showed promising results in a phase II clinical trial (115). (115). The KSHV encoded G protein-coupled receptor (vGPCR) is a viral oncogene that helps to transform cells by activating the phosphoinositide 3-kinase and mammalian target of rapamycin (PI3K-mTOR) pathway, which positively regulates cellular proliferation and protein production (116). Rapamycin and analogs of rapamycin inhibit the PI3K-mTOR pathway and have been used both orally and topically to treat KS (116, 117).

MCD treatment also involves chemotherapy and use of viral DNA polymerase inhibitors have increased efficacy in MCD patients (compared to KS patients) due to the lytically replicating virus (99, 118). Rituximab (anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody) used alone or in conjunction with chemotherapy is another therapeutic option (118). However, rituximab treatment for MCD may worsen a concurrent case of KS and in at least five instances, HIV negative/KSHV positive individuals receiving rituximab for autoimmune or transplant reasons developed

KSHV induced tumors (4 cases of KS and 1 case of solid PEL) (119). IL-6 or IL-6 receptor monoclonal antibody therapy has also been used to alleviate symptoms of MCD (99).

PEL treatments mainly include chemotherapy and ART as well as radiation in limited cases (120). No standard of care is established for PEL and prognosis remains poor.

Therapies for KICS, KSHV-IRIS, and unmasking-IRIS are also not well defined but antivirals (cidofovir), chemotherapies, and other supportive care appear to show some efficacy. In some cases, KS-IRIS is self limiting and resolves without therapeutic intervention (110).

Limited treatment options and high costs illustrate the need for continued KSHV research and development of better therapeutics. Further characterization of how KSHV manipulates infected cells can help identify both viral and cellular targets for antiviral therapies.

1.2.5 Animal Models for KSHV

Animal models for KSHV infection and pathogenesis studies have been difficult to develop due to the high species specificity exhibited by the virus. Attempts to infect immune-compromised mice, specifically the SCID mouse, by transplanting KSHV infected human B cell lymphomas along with human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) resulted in lymphomas derived from the transplanted B lymphoma cells but infection of the co-transplanted human PBMCs was not observed (121). KSHV infected CD34⁺ hematopoietic progenitor cells implanted into the NOD/SCID mouse model had detectable KSHV infected

B cells in the bone marrow and spleen. Additionally, 3 of the 10 mice developed a pleural effusion with the presence murine B cells (displaying in vitro immortalization) and KSHV infected human monocytes (122). Another group showed that injection of KSHV into NOD/SCID mice has also been found to result in the establishment of productive infection and long-term persistence of the virus; however, no KSHV-associated diseases developed within these mice (123). Humanized BLT mice infected with KSHV displayed a similar response as the NOD/SCID mice where both latent and lytic KSHV gene expression could be detected up to 3 months post infection but no KSHV-associated diseases developed (124). However, infection routes believed to be important for human transmission, such as through the oral mucosa and intravaginally, established successful infections in the humanized BLT mice. NGS mice (NOD/SCID/IL-2R γchain knockout) provide a human tumor xenograft model utilized to study possible anti-tumor therapeutics. Successful engraftment of KSHV infected PEL and KS tumors into NGS mice has been reported. However, no infectious virions are generated in the mice following engraftment due to latent infection predominating in the tumors (125). Thus, humanized mouse models can recapitulate only some aspects of KSHV infection and very limited pathogenesis.

As described in section 1.1.4, MHV68 is a murine gamma-herpesvirus that is phylogenetically related to both EBV and KSHV. MHV68 genome is essentially collinear with both EBV and KSHV genomes and provides a model to study tropism, latency, and immune responses to gamma-herpesviruses (125). However, there are some important differences between KSHV and MHV68.

MHV68 does not encode several immune-modulating and tumor-promoting genes encoded by KSHV including vCD200, viral macrophage inflammatory protein (vMIP), vFLIP, vIL-6, and the vIRFs (126). While lymphoproliferation has been observed in mice infected with MHV68, skin lesions and lymphomas do not develop in wildtype mice infected with MHV68 (125). Conversely, immune deficient mice infected with MHV68 do develop B cell tumors and inflammatory disorders (127). Whether MHV68 is a better model for EBV or KSHV is a matter or debate, however, the lack of important viral homologs to cellular genes that are present in KSHV is a drawback of this model. Additionally, KSHV-associated malignancies are often associated with HIV co-infection and no HIV homolog has been described for mice, precluding the development of a co-infection model in mice.

NHPs provide useful animal models for human diseases due to the close evolutionary relationship between NHPs and humans. Experimental infection of RMs with KSHV [both simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) positive and SIV negative] does not result in robust KSHV infection (128). While KSHV viral DNA was detected in PBMCs a year after infection, no KSHV transcripts or KSHVspecific antibodies were detected in the animals and no KSHV-associated diseases developed (128). KSHV infection of the common marmoset produced a sustained antibody response, establishment of latency, and one of two orallyinfected animals developed lesions similar to KS (129). These results could be due to the marmoset's limited MHC-I polymorphisms, which may restrict the breadth of the marmoset's adaptive immune response, and should be taken into

account when using this animal model. A gamma-2 herpesvirus was identified, by DNA sequencing, in retroperitoneal fibromatosis lesions that spontaneously arose in pig-tailed macaques and RMs at the Washington Regional Primate Research Center and was subsequently named retroperitoneal fibromatosisassociated herpesvirus (RFHV) (130). Retroperitoneal fibromatosis in macaques is a lesion that is similar to KS, containing spindle-shaped cells, high vascularization, and strong co-incidence with simian retrovirus 2 infection (and simian acquired immunodeficiency syndrome) (130). However, the origin of the spindle-shaped cells of retroperitoneal fibromatosis are believed to be fibroblasts, while an endothelial cell origin for the KS spindle-shaped cells has been characterized (131). Genomic comparisons between RFHV, KSHV, and RRV (discussed below) revealed that RFHV is more closely related to KSHV than RRV is to KSHV (132). Unfortunately, the inability to culture RFHV has limited its use as a model for KSHV-like infections and pathogenesis (133). The discovery of RRV, another gamma-2 herpesvirus closely related to KSHV that naturally infects RMs and is able to be propagated in tissue culture, has provided a very useful animal model and will be discussed in the next section.

1.3 RRV

RRV was isolated from two separate RM colonies by Dr. Scott W. Wong at the Oregon Regional Primate Research Center and by Dr. Ronald C. Desrosiers at the New England Regional Primate Research Center (134, 135). Sequence analysis revealed that this newly identified virus is a gamma-2 herpesvirus closely related to KSHV (Figure 1.3) (136). The two viral isolates, H26-95 (from
New England) and 17577 (from Oregon), were very similar genetically but only 17577 displayed pathogenesis in RMs co-infected with SIV, perhaps owing to the genetic divergence of the glycoproteins (in particular gB). Today, both isolates are studied and provide a means to investigate *in vivo* gamma-2 herpesvirus infections.



Figure 1.3 Phylogenetic Tree Displaying KSHV (HHV8) and RRV relatedness With permission from Estep et al. 2012. Journal of Virology

1.3.1 RRV Genome

The genome of RRV is essentially collinear to that of KSHV. As is the case for KSHV, RRV genome structure consists of terminal repeats on either ends of a LUR, and the 52.2% G+C content of the RRV LUR is comparable to KSHV LUR (53.5%) (137). Notable differences between KSHV and RRV include the genomic location of ORF2 (DHFR), a lack of K3, K4.2, K5, K7, and K12 homologs in RRV, and the number of vMIP (3 for KSHV and 1 for RRV) and vIRF (4 for KSHV and 8 for RRV) genes (137, 138). Sequence alignments between RRV isolates H26-95 and 17577 found mostly silent mutations and amino acid sequence identities of less than 95% were only found for 4 of the 84 ORFs (137,

139). One noteworthy difference was in the gB sequence, where 19 amino acid differences were identified, 7 of which changed the charge of side chains. The difference in gB sequence between H26-95 and 17577 may indicate that they are separate strains of RRV (137). The divergent gB sequences could contribute to the differential pathogenicity observed for H26-95 compared to 17577, as herpesvirus gB proteins are often immunogenic and help determine cellular tropism. However, it is clear that both H26-95 and 17577 provide a model to study KSHV-like infections.

1.3.2 RRV Tropism and Lifecycle

Multiple cell types can be infected with RRV *in vitro* including primary and telomerized rhesus fibroblasts, primary and immortalized rhesus B cells, rhesus T cells, rhesus monocytes, rhesus DCs, human BJAB cells, human lymphatic endothelial cells, and human vascular endothelial cells (140-143). *In vivo*, the major latency reservoir for RRV is B cells (144). RRV can use Ephrin receptor tyrosine kinases (Ephs) for entry into B cells and endothelial cells, by engagement of RRV gH/gL with Ephs followed by receptor mediated endocytosis (141, 142). Other entry receptors may exist, as blocking Ephs mediated entry did not completely inhibit RRV entry and infection of cells (142). However, integrins are not believed to be used as RRV gB does not contain the integrin binding motif (Arg-Gly-Asp) found in KSHV gB (145). Another study revealed that RRV entry into fibroblasts occurs through clathrin-mediated endocytosis, but no cellular receptor was identified (146). Following entry, viral capsids are trafficked to the nucleus on microtubules with the help of dynein motor proteins (147). RRV

follows the same general infection cycle as other herpesviruses with replication and capsid assembly occurring in the nucleus and then acquisition of the tegument and final envelope membrane within the cytoplasm as the virus traffics out of the cell (148-150).

1.3.3 RRV-associated Diseases

RRV infection of immunocompetent RMs does not usually cause disease. However, when RMs are co-infected with RRV and SIV or simian retrovirus 2, incidences of pathological outcomes increases. RRV 17577 was first isolated from an SIV infected RM that displayed a multicentric lymphoproliferative disorder (134). Experimental infection of RMs with RRV 17577 and SIV resulted in the development of a plasma cell variant MCD-like hyperplastic B cell lymphoproliferative disorder (LPD) (134). Hyperplastic B cell LPD is characterized by B cell hyperplasia, elevated IgG levels, lymphadenopathy, enlarged spleen, presence of vIL-6, and viremia (151). RMs infected with RRV alone displayed a transient B cell hyperplasia around 2 weeks post infection (134). However, if the RMs were co-infected with SIV and RRV, the B cell hyperplasia was larger in magnitude and was sustained over several more weeks. Lymphomas and retroperitoneal fibromatosis lesions (positive for RRV and vIL-6, negative for RFHV) have also been found in RRV/SIV co-infected RMs, and at least one case of lymphoma in an RRV-infected (but SIV negative) RM has been described (152).

The similarity in observed pathologies as well as the fact that disease incidence is predominantly in the context of dysfunctional immune systems further demonstrate the close relatedness between RRV and KSHV.

1.3.4 RRV as a model for KSHV

RRV and KSHV display some differences during *in vitro* infections, which provide valuable insights into different aspects of gamma-2 herpesvirus lifecycles. In vitro infection with KSHV will produce abortive replication and quickly establish latency in most cell lines. Use of chemical stimuli (phorbol esters and sodium butyrate) will induce reactivation of the virus in a subset of cells (153, 154). Exogenous expression of KSHV ORF50/RTA in cells infected with KSHV can also induce reactivation (155, 156). The development of an immortalized dermal microvascular endothelial cell line (DMVEC), immortalized with human papilloma virus 16 (HPV16) E6 and E7 genes, that is able to be infected with KSHV and sustains latent KSHV infection has been indispensible in the study of KSHV biology (157). In addition, telomerase-immortalized microvascular endothelial (TIME) cells, immortalized with the telomerase reverse transcriptase subunit (hTERT), provide long-lived endothelial cells for study of long term KSHV infections (158). Primary dermal endothelial cells as well as lymphatic endothelial cells can be infected with KSHV *in vitro*, however their tissue culture life-span is much shorter than the immortalized endothelial cells and can affect the study of latency and reactivation (159). B cells have been more refractory to *in vitro* infection with KSHV, however some recent advances

have been made. Infection of B cells has been achieved by treating B cells with CD40L and IL-4 (to up-regulate DC-SIGN and render B cells permissive to infection) prior to infection (160). Another method to infect B cells involves co-culturing B cells with KSHV lytically infected Vero or iSLK cells (lytic infection achieved by ectopic expression of ORF50 and sodium butyrate) (161, 162). The current *in vitro* systems for KSHV investigation provide models for latency and reactivation, but lack the ability to adequately study *de novo* lytic infection. In contrast to KSHV, *in vitro* RRV infection of a wide variety of both rhesus and human cell lines results in a predominantly lytic infection (163). Additionally, a RRV bacterial artificial chromosome (RRV-BAC) technology has also been developed and provides the means to mutate or remove specific RRV ORFs in order to study their function in the context of viral infection (164). Therefore, *in vitro* infection with KSHV provides a model for latent or persistent infections while RRV provides a model for lytic/productive replication.

As described above in section 1.5.3, in vivo RRV infection of SIV-infected RMs can result in pathologies that are very similar to those seen in KSHV/HIV co-infected humans. This animal model, along with the RRV-BAC system, provides a valuable model to study the involvement of specific viral- and host-factor contributions to disease development and viral persistence. Furthermore, RMs and RRV afford the ability to develop and test antiviral therapeutics and vaccines *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

1.4 Immune System

In order to maintain homeostasis and defend against harmful pathogens, including herpesviruses, vertebrates possess a multi-layered immune system. From ever-present restriction factors to the delayed but highly potent cytotoxic T cells, invading pathogens must overcome many obstacles to establish infections and replicate. The three layers of the immune system are described in this section, with emphasis on intrinsic and innate immunity as well as how type I interferon impacts the adaptive immune response.

1.4.1 Innate and intrinsic immunity

The first layer is called the intrinsic immune response. Intrinsic immunity is often categorized within innate immunity, but is characterized by a readiness to restrict infection by pathogens at all times. Components of the intrinsic immune response are constitutively expressed (although they may be further induced upon stimulation) and are termed restriction factors because they can limit replication of the pathogen directly without the need for signaling cascades (165, 166). With respect to viral infections, apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme-catalytic polypeptide-like 3G (APOBEC3G; restricts HIV-1 replication), bone marrow stromal antigen 2 (BST-2; inhibits viral egress of several enveloped viruses), and PML-NBs (restrict viral replication of a variety of RNA and DNA viruses) are examples of the mediators of intrinsic immunity (165, 166).

Innate immunity on the other hand involves the sensing of pathogens followed by the rapid induction of signaling cascades to orchestrate a broadly antimicrobial state mediated by innate immune cells, the complement system, cytokines, and chemokines (165). Innate immune responses do not rely on

specificity for the pathogen (as is the case with adaptive immunity, described below), instead reacting to anything non-self or danger-associated that is found within the body. Innate immunity is triggered through pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) expressed by the host cell that can detect pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) present on bacteria, fungi, parasites, and viruses. The innate immune response can also be triggered by danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), which are intracellular molecules such as heat shock proteins, adenosine triphosphate (ATP), or mRNA, that are released by a host cell in response to cellular damage (167). Once in the extracellular spaces, neighboring cells will recognize the DAMPs and initiate an innate immune response. Many cell types are involved in innate immunity include monocytes/macrophages, mast cells, neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils, fibroblasts, DCs, natural killer (NK) cells, innate lymphoid cells, and more (168). PRRs include the toll-like receptors (TLRs), C-type lectin receptors (CLRs), retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I)-like receptors (RLRs), and Nod-like receptors (NLRs) (169, 170). There are other PRRs that recognize bacterial and viral nucleic acids, including but not limited to DNA-dependent activator of IRFs (DAI), cyclic GMP-AMP synthase (cGAS), interferon- γ -inducible protein 16 (IFI16), DEAD-box protein 41 (DDX41), DEAH-box protein 36 (DHX36), DNAdependent protein kinase (DNA-PK), absent in melanoma 2 (AIM2), 2'5'oligoadenylate synthetase (OAS), DHX9, and protein kinase-R (PKR) (171, 172).

Important for viral recognition and induction of the innate immune response are the trans-membrane TLRs and cytoplasmic RLRs. TLRs 2, 3, 4, 7,

8, and 9 recognize different viral infections, with TLR2 and TLR4 detecting viruses at the cell surface and the rest detecting viral components within endosomes (173). TLR2 and TLR4 can detect viral envelope proteins or viral proteins released from cells, TLR3 can detect viral dsRNA, TLR7 and TLR8 can detect viral single-stranded (ss) RNA, and TLR9 can detect viral dsDNA (174-179). The RLRs include RIG-I, MDA5, and LGP2. These PRRs can recognize cytoplasmic viral dsRNA (produced during RNA and some DNA virus infections) that contain certain moieties such as 5'-triphosphate, 5'-diphosphate, poly(U/UC) rich, and 2'-O-methylation (172, 180). In addition, MDA5 is thought to recognize longer dsRNA while RIG-I detects shorter dsRNA (181-183). Signaling by TLRs and RLRs results in the production of IFNs, pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines.

PKR can also detect cytosolic RNA produced during viral infection and will phosphorylate eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2A (eIF2a) to inhibit both viral and cellular protein synthesis (184, 185).

NLRs are known to sense bacterial infections directly, but no direct viral sensing by NLRs has been demonstrated to date (186). However, some NLRs are part of the inflammasome, which can be activated following viral infections (187, 188). Inflammasomes are multiprotein complexes that activate caspase-1, which will go on to cleave and activate pro-interleukin-1 β (pro-IL-1 β) and pro-IL-18 cytokines, as well as activating pyroptosis (186). IL-1 β and IL-18 are important cytokines that induce many pro-inflammatory genes, enhance IFN γ production by and proliferation of T helper 1 (T_H1) cells, and cause fever (187).

The DNA sensing PRRs are important for the antiviral responses to infection with DNA viruses. For example, sensing of viral DNA by DAI will signal through the transcription factors NF κ B and IRF3 to induce the production of type I IFNs, cytokines, and chemokines (189). IFI16 can function through multiple mechanisms, including inhibition of viral replication, induction of apoptosis, synergistically cooperates with cGAS to activate the stimulator of interferon genes (STING) pathway, or activation of the ASC-dependent inflammasome (190-193). When cGAS binds to viral DNA in the cytosol, cGAS produces the second messenger cyclic GMP-AMP (cGAMP). STING will detect cGAMP and signal through TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK-1) to activate IRF3 and induce type I IFN production (194, 195).

In the event that intrinsic immune defenses are unable to stop infection or replication of invading pathogens, innate immune responses can come into play. Many of the innate immune pathways induced by PRRs result in the production of type I IFNs which go on to induce an IFN signaling pathway that activates the production of antiviral effectors. While intrinsic and innate immunity are defined as distinct branches of the immune system, they do influence each other and can establish positive feed-back loops.

1.4.1.1 Promyelocytic Leukemia Nuclear Bodies (PML-NBs)

Promyelocytic Leukmia Nuclear bodies [PML-NBs; also known as nuclear domain 10 (ND10) and PML oncogenic domains (PODs)] are dynamic subnuclear structures. PML-NBs were first discovered by electron microscopy as dense spheres within the nucleus of cells and by immunofluorescence

microscopy using autoantibodies from primary biliary cirrhosis patients which identified a 100 kDa nuclear protein (SP100) that formed a speckled or punctate dot pattern in the nucleus (196, 197). The promyelocytic leukemia (PML) gene was identified in acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL) cells where a translocation event between chromosomes 15 and 17 fused the PML gene to the retinoic acid receptor alpha (RAR α) gene (198). Subsequent studies showed that the localization of PML protein was in punctate structures in the nucleus, and this structure was disrupted in APL cell lines (198, 199). Additionally, the clinical treatment for APL (all-trans retinoic acid) results in remission of the leukemia and reformation of PML-NB structures (200). Thus, the discovery of PML-NBs also provided the first insights into the significant role of these important subnuclear structures in human disease.

PML-NBs are now known to be constitutively expressed structures, expressed in most cell types, ranging in number from 1 to 30 PML-NBs per nucleus (201-204). PML protein is a member of the tripartite motif (TRIM) protein family and is also designated TRIM19. As a member of the TRIM family, PML protein contains a RING finger, two B boxes, and a coiled-coil (RBCC) domain (196, 205-207). The PML gene consists of 9 exons and through alternative splicing, produces at least 7 PML protein isoforms with differing carboxy-termini (Figure 1.4) (208, 209). All isoforms of PML protein contain the RBCC domain and hetero- and homo-dimerization between PML isoforms can occur through the coiled-coil domain (205, 208). PML isoform I contains both a nuclear localization signal (NLS) and a nuclear export signal (NES) and is found in both the

cytoplasm and the nucleus. PML isoforms II-VI contain only the NLS and mainly localize to the nucleus while PML isoform VII lacks the NLS and is cytoplasmic. However, due to the ability of PML isoforms to heterodimerize, it is believed that all isoforms could shuttle between the nucleus and cytoplasm by binding to PML isoform I.



Figure 1.4 PML Protein Isoforms With permission from Maroui et al. 2012. PLoS ONE

Formation of PML-NBs requires PML protein, but many other proteins are found to localize to PML-NBs either permanently or transiently, depending on the phase of the cell cycle, if the cell is damaged or under stress, or if the cell is infected with a pathogen (196). SP100, death domain-associated protein (Daxx), and alpha thalassemia/mental retardation syndrome X-linked (ATRX) are

considered more permanent residents at PML-NBs while p53, CREB-binding protein (CBP), checkpoint kinase 2, and many other proteins will transiently localize to PML-NBs (208). Once localized to PML-NBs, PML-NB resident proteins are often post-translationally modified [modified by small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMOylated), phosphorylated, acetylated, ubiquitinated] which affects their functions and stability (210). Investigations into the mechanism of PML-NB formation have produced multiple conflicting results. PML protein, itself, can be post-translationally modified through phosphorylation, acetylation, and SUMOylation (211-213). SUMOylation of PML occurs on three lysine residues (K65, K160, K490) and there is also a SUMO interacting motif (SIM: ⁵⁰⁸VVVI⁵¹¹) therefore it was hypothesized that PML-NBs formed through SUMO-SIM interactions between PML proteins (211, 214). Some groups reported that overexpression of mutant PML proteins lacking either the SUMOylation lysines or the SIM failed to form PML-NBs and concluded that SUMO-SIM interactions were responsible for PML-NB formation (211, 214, 215). However, others have reported that SUMO and SIM deficient PML proteins can still form PML-NBs and instead the RBCC domain is responsible for the formation of PML-NBs (Figure 1.5) (196, 216-219). While the role of SUMO/SIM interactions in the multimerization of PML protein is contested, there has been consensus that SUMO/SIM interactions are necessary for other protein partner (such as SP100 and Daxx) recruitment to PML-NBs (217). Studies of PML-NB structure have revealed that these are not static or homogenous structures but are highly dynamic and diverse in composition and protein-protein interactions.



Figure 1.5 Proposed PML-NB Structures

 A) Diagram of PML oligomerization occurring through disulfide bonds.
B) Diagran of recruitment of proteins to PML-NBs through SUMO/SIM interactions.
With permission from (A) Sahin et al. 2014. Nucleus and (B) Lallemand-Breitenbach et al. 2010. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology

Because of the wide range of proteins that can localize to PML-NBs, and

wide range of functions attributed to PML-NBs, it has been suggested that there

is more than one kind of PML-NB structure (210, 220, 221). PML-NBs are

believed to be involved in transcriptional regulation of cellular genes as multiple

transcription factors and transcription regulators localize to PML-NBs [SP100,

activating protein 1 (AP-1), CBP, TRIM24] and nascent RNA can be found adjacent to PML-NBs (221, 222). Additionally, PML-NBs may play a role in chromatin structure and therefore have an indirect effect on transcription. PML-NBs can be found near highly acetylated chromatin (such as at actively transcribed MHC class I gene cluster) and many chromatin remodeling proteins can localize to PML-NBs including heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1), ATRX, Daxx, histone regulator A (HIRA), and Bloom's syndrome protein (BLM) (208, 221, 223). Transcriptional activation and repression have both been attributed to PML-NBs, which may be due to the stage of the cell cycle, cell type, or due to the fact that PML-NBs are heterogeneous structures.

PML-NBs also play a role in apoptosis and tumor suppression. Loss of PML-NBs results in cells that are unable to initiate apoptosis in response to several stimuli (224, 225). P53 and several p53 regulatory enzymes can localize to PML-NBs where p53 is post-translationally modified and activated (224-226). Retinoblastoma (Rb) protein and E2F transcription factors colocalize with PML-NBs and result in repression of E2F target gene transcription, many of which are involved in cellular proliferation (227).

Activation of the AKT- mTOR pathway within the hypoxic environment of a tumor can lead to tumor neoangiogenesis through upregulation of hypoxiainducible factor 1-alpha (HIF1 α) and subsequently vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). VEGF expression can result in increased vascularization of the tumor and is associated with tumor progression and a poor prognosis. PML-NBs have been shown to inhibit the AKT-mTOR pathway, under conditions of

hypoxia, by sequestering mTOR within the nucleus so that mTOR cannot be activated in the cytoplasm by the small GTPase Rheb (228). Loss of PML-NBs relieves this inhibition of the AKT-mTOR-HIF-1α-VEGF pathway within the hypoxic microenvironment of tumor (229). This results in increased tumor neoangiogenesis as evidenced by (1) increased tumor growth and microvessel density when PML^{-/-} murine embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) were injected into nude mice compared to wildtype MEFs, and (2) the correlation between PML loss and increased microvessel density that is observed in human prostate cancer samples (229). Finally, several cancers exhibit loss or very low levels of PML protein expression consistent with a tumor-suppressor role for PML-NBs (230). However, it has also been reported that certain cancers show an overexpression of PML that leads to aberrant, pro-survival, functions of PML (231). Thus, further investigations are needed to determine the exact role of PML-NBs in oncogenesis.

Importantly, PML-NBs have been extensively studied for their role in the intrinsic/innate immune response. Through the study of PML-NBs during viral and, to a much lesser extent, bacterial infection, the innate immune functions of PML-NBs have begun to be deciphered. PML-NBs and their role in the intrinsic immune response has been supported by the fact that PML-NBs can, in the absence of viral PML-NB antagonistic genes, epigenetically silence incoming viral genomes (HSV-1 and HCMV). Additionally, knockdown of many PML-NB resident proteins results in the increased replication of several DNA (HCMV, adenovirus, HSV-1) and some RNA (avian sarcoma virus, lymphocytic

choriomeningitis virus, influenza A) viruses (232-238). PML-NBs have also been shown to physically restrict the virus life cycle. For example, PML isoform IV interacts with the capsid protein ORF23 of VZV to encapsulate newly assembled VZV nucleocapsids into PML-NBs and prevent egress (239). The role of PML-NBs in the innate immune defense against bacteria has not been as extensively studied as PML-NB defense against viruses. However, several recent studies have shown that PML-NBs are important for protection against bacteria. Using PML^{-/-} mice, researchers found that these mice were no longer susceptible to the lipopolysaccharide (LPS) lethality observed in wildtype mice. Additionally, macrophages from these PML^{-/-} mice did not produce high levels of IL-6 following LPS treatment, providing the first evidence that PML-NBs were involved in the NF_κB pathway (240). PML-NB defense against invading bacteria was demonstrated both *in vitro* and *in vivo* as PML-NB^{-/-} cells and mice displayed increased Listeria monocytogenes replication, while Shigella infection has been shown to increase the number of PML-NBs (241, 242).

The involvement of PML-NBs in innate immunity has been extensively studied in regards to the IFN pathway. While PML-NBs are constitutively expressed, their number and size increases following type I or type II IFN treatments (243). This is a result of the induction of PML and SP100, as both of these genes contain IFN-stimulated response element (ISRE) and gammaactivated sequence (GAS) elements (244, 245). More direct evidence for the involvement of PML-NBs in the IFN pathway was discovered when specific isoforms of PML were studied. Following recognition of viral components or

PAMPs, PRRs initiate signaling cascades that activate transcription factors in the cytosol, such as IRF3 and NF κ B (among others), which can then translocate to the nucleus to bind to target gene promotor regions and initiate the transcription of IFN β and other antiviral genes. Following IFN β production, IFN β can signal through the type I IFN receptor to induce a second signaling cascade to activate the interferon stimulated gene factor 3 (ISGF3) transcription complex comprised of Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 1 (STAT1), STAT2, and IRF9. Once assembled, ISGF3 will translocate to the nucleus and induce transcription of additional innate immunity and antiviral genes. PML isoform II is necessary for the efficient and robust induction of IFN β and certain ISGs, as it stabilizes and prolongs the occupancy of IRF3, NF_kB, and ISGF3 transcription complexes at their target gene promoters (246). PML isoform IV enhances the activity of IRF3 by recruiting the IRF3 antagonist Pin1 into PML-NBs (247). Increased transcription of PML-NB components by type I IFN, and the enhanced induction of IFN β by PML-NBs can thus produce a positive feedback loop and connect the intrinsic and innate immune responses.

While the importance of PML-NBs is still being elucidated, it is important to note that knockout of the PML gene in cells or mice is not a lethal mutation, suggesting that PML is not required for development. However, as discussed above, PML^{-/-} mice have an increased susceptibility to infections and the loss of PML contributes to tumor development under certain circumstances (248, 249).

1.4.1.2 IFN Signaling

IFNs are important molecules in the innate immunity arsenal. The human IFN proteins range in size from 165 amino acids to 208 amino acids (250). There are 22 human IFN genes categorized into three types based on amino acid sequence and receptor usage: type I, type II, and type III. Type I IFNs consist of 14 IFN α subtypes, and a single subtype each of IFN β , IFN ϵ , IFN κ , and IFN ω . IFN γ is the only IFN within the type II IFN group while type III IFNs contain IFN λ 1, IFN λ 2, IFN λ 3, and IFN λ 4 (250, 251). IFNs can signal in autocrine and paracrine manners to exert wide-ranging effects.

Type I IFNs are produced by and can act on most cell types, and are vital to antiviral defenses. The type I IFNs are involved in establishing a cellular environment that is refractory to pathogen growth, promoting antigen presentation and NK cell functions, and modulating cell cycle progression, apoptosis, and autophagy (252). Type I IFNs also activate the adaptive immune response, thus linking the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system (252). Induction of type I IFN transcription is regulated by NF κ B and several IRF transcription factors (253). The receptor that recognizes type I IFNs is a heterodimer that consists of the IFN α receptor 1 (IFNAR1) and IFN α receptor 2 (IFNAR2) chains. Once IFN α or IFN β engage the IFNAR1/2 receptor, oligomerization of IFNAR receptors occurs to allow two tyrosine kinases [Janus kinase 1(JAK1) and tyrosine kinase 2 (TYK2)] that are associated with the cytoplasmic tail of the receptor to trans-phosphorylate each other (252). Once activated, JAK1 and TYK2 can phosphorylate STAT1 and STAT2, which will then form a trimeric complex with IRF9, termed ISGF3, and translocate to the nucleus.

This transcription complex will bind to ISREs on the promoters of target genes and induce the transcription of ISGs (Figure 1.6) (254). Because the transcriptional program induced by type I IFNs can harm the host if allowed to progress unchecked (due to the proinflammatory functions of IFNs which can result in toxicity, tissue damage, autoimmune disorders, etc.), negative feedback loops to turn off this pathway are present (255). Type I IFN signaling induces the transcription of suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) proteins and ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase 18 (USP18) which will either compete with STATs for binding to IFNAR or displace JAK1 from IFNAR2, respectively (256). Additionally, IFNAR receptors can be downregulated on cell surfaces and host miRNAs can target components of the type I IFN pathway (miR-302d targets IRF9, miR-29a targets IFNAR1) (257-260).



Figure 1.6 Induction of Type I IFN and Type I IFN Signaling With permission from Zhang et al. 2015. Hypertension

Type III IFNs (IFN λ 1, IFN λ 2, IFN λ 3, and IFN λ 4) signal through a distinct receptor, IFN λ R, comprised of a heterodimer of IL28R/IL-10R chains (261). IFN λ receptor expression was initially thought to be limited to epithelial cells and hepatocytes in humans, but new studies are discovering that this receptor may be expressed on a wider repertoire of cells (neutrophils, DCs, and macrophages) (262). Once the IFN λ receptor is engaged it appears that the JAK/STAT pathway, utilized by type I IFNs, is also triggered by type III IFNs (262).

The single type II IFN (IFN γ) is mainly produced by activated T and NK cells, but is also produced by B cells, NKT cells, and professional antigen presenting cells (APCs) (263). Similar to IFNAR and IFN λ R, the IFN γ receptor (IFNGR) also consists of two chains, IFNGR1 and IFNGR2, and oligomerizes upon engagement with IFN γ (263). In contrast to the type I and type III IFN receptors, IFNGR signals through JAK1 and JAK2 to phosphorylate STAT1 and results in STAT1 homodimer formation (264). STAT1 homodimers then move into the nucleus and bind to a GAS encoded in the promoters of target genes. Although it appears that the main signaling cascade induced by IFN γ involves STAT1, STATs 2, 3, and 5 can also be activated following IFN γ stimulation (265). Additionally, other non-canonical IFNy signaling can occur through mitogenactivated protein kinases (MAPK) such as extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) 1/2 and c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) (264). IFNγ signaling results in the transcription induction of IFN γ -inducible genes. The effects of IFN γ include immunoglobulin class switching in B cells, activation of macrophages, and increased expression of MHC class II on immune and non-immune cells (266).

The IFN family of cytokines exert pleiotropic effects that help produce an anti-microbial state in both the innate and adaptive immune responses. Proper regulation of these cytokines is important to protect the host against pathogens and to prevent aberrant IFN signaling that could also harm the host. Hence, a family of transcription factors help to regulate IFN and ISGs. These transcription factors are described in the next section.

1.4.1.3 IFN Regulatory Factors

IFN regulatory factors (IRFs) are a family of transcription factors involved in innate immune signaling, hematopoietic cell differentiation, and cell growth and apoptosis (169, 267). There are nine members of the IRF family designated IRF1 through IRF9. Common to all IRF proteins is the amino (N)-terminal DNA binding domain, which includes five conserved tryptophan-rich repeats. The carboxy (C)terminal region of the IRF proteins is more diverse and confers the specificity of each IRF for their interacting partners (other IRFs, transcription factors, and cofactors). The C-terminus of IRF3-IRF9 contains the IRF-associated domain 1 (IAD1) while IRF1 and IRF2 contain IAD2 in their C-terminus (169, 267). Because the IRFs regulate the production of IFNs and ISGs, they play a central role in the innate immune response to viral infections (Figure 1.6) (254).

IRF1 expression is variable depending on the cell type and although basal levels are constitutively present, it can be further induced upon stimulation by IFN_{γ}, IFN_{β}, DNA damage, and viral infections (267-269). Transcription of IRF1 is induced by IFN_{γ}, but is only fully activated with the help of IRF9 signaling (presumably through phosphorylation), at which point IRF1 translocates to the

nucleus to activate target genes such as IFN β and IL-12p35 (270). IRF1 can translocate to the nucleus without MyD88 involvement, but with slower kinetics (270). More recently, it has been shown that IRF1 acts as a transcription factor for IFN λ 1 in airway epithelial cells in response to several viruses (271, 272). IRF1 is also involved in DNA damage-induced apoptosis, suppression of oncogenesis, NK cell development, and differentiation of T_H1, CD8⁺ T cell, and regulatory T cell (T_{reg}) differentiation (267, 273). A recent study on gamma-herpesvirus driven lymphoproliferative disorders implicated a role for IRF1 in B cell differentiation at germinal centers (274). Thus IRF1 can regulate type I, II, and III IFNs as well as help regulate cellular development and differentiation.

IRF2 competes for the same DNA binding sites as IRF1, but does not activate transcription of IFN or ISGs and thereby negatively regulates type I IFN production and signaling (275). However, there have also been reports of IRF2 cooperating with IRF1 to induce the transcription of certain genes including IL-12p40 and Cox-2, as well as a role for IRF2 in the defense against some viral infections (276-279). IRF2 is also involved in the normal development of several types of immune cells including NK cells, DCs, B cells, T cells, and basophils (267, 280). In addition, IRF2 expression along with IRF1 promotes T_H1 and suppresses T_H2 polarization (281). Oncogenic functions of IRF2 may be due in part to its antagonistic activity towards IRF1, however IRF2 also activates the transcription of histone H4 (involved in cell-cycle progression) (282-284). While IRF2 was first characterized as antagonizing IRF1, it is now clear that IRF2 has

many other functions including antiviral defense and the regulation of immune cell development.

IRF3 has been extensively studied for its role in the defense against pathogens. IRF3 is constitutively expressed but resides in the cytoplasm until it is activated by phosphorylation (285). Both TLR3 and TLR4 can signal through the TRIF adaptor protein to activate TBK-1, which will phosphorylate IRF3. The cytoplasmic PRRs, RIG-I, MDA5, and cGAS/STING can also signal through IRF3 (169). When cytoplasmic RNA is detected by RIG-I, or MDA5, they signal through the adaptor molecule mitochondrial antiviral-signaling protein (MAVS) which can activate TBK-1 to phosphorylate IRF3. cGAS can detect cytoplasmic DNA and produces cyclic di-nucleotides which are then sensed by STING, and STING brings TBK-1 and IRF3 into close proximity of each other so that TBK-1 can phosphorylate IRF3 (169). IKKε can also phosphorylate IRF3 (286). Once IRF3 is phosphorylated it can translocate to the nucleus and interact with CBP and P300. IRF3 will then dimerize with another IRF3 molecule or with IRF7 and this complex (CBP/P300/IRF3 dimer or IRF3/IRF7) will bind to the promoters of type I IFN genes and other target genes. IRF3 induces a subset of ISGs both distinct and similar to those induced by other IRFs, for example IRF3 can induce IFN β , RANTES, and IFN α 1 and IFN α 2 transcription (287). However IRF3 does not induce transcription of several other IFN α subtypes (which are instead activated by IRF7) (287). IRF3 is also involved in apoptosis as it transcriptionally induces tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL), which can trigger cell death by engaging death receptor (DR) 4 and DR5 (288, 289).

Following RLR activation and signaling through TNF receptor associated factor (TRAF) 2 and TRAF6, linear ubiquitin chains are added to IRF3, which switches the role of IRF3 from transcription factor to apoptosis mediator. Ubiquitinated IRF3 binds to the pro-apoptotic protein Bax and together they translocate to the mitochondria and trigger cytochrome C release and intrinsic apoptosis follows (290). Thus, IRF3 plays a central role in the defense against viruses and can work cooperatively with IRF7.

IRF4 binds to the same region of myeloid differentiation primary response 88 adaptor protein (MyD88) that IRF5 binds, and as such, IRF4 competitively inhibits IRF5 signaling (291). In this manner IRF4 is able to negatively regulate the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines induced by IRF5. Similar to IRF3, IRF4 is constitutively expressed but only in a subset of cells including DCs, macrophages, and B cells. Additionally, transcription of IRF4 can be induced upon antigen stimulation in T cells. Aside from the IRF5 antagonistic role, IRF4 is involved in cellular development. Differentiation of the CD4⁺ DC subset and T_H2 cells requires IRF4 expression (292, 293). IRF4 is also involved in several aspects of B cell regulation including at the pre-B stage to develop immunoglobulin light chains, plasma cell differentiation, and formation of germinal centers (294, 295). Similar to IRF2, IRF4 has been described to perform antagonistic functions against another IRF while also possessing cellular development and differentiation functions.

IRF5 is another key transcription factor activated following viral infections. Several cell types, including B cells, conventional and plasmacytoid DCs, and

macrophages, have been shown to express IRF5 (296). Following engagement of TLR9 and activation of MyD88, IRF5 binds to the central region of MyD88 resulting in activating phosphorylation and translocation to the nucleus. Phosphorylated IRF5 will form a dimer and interact with CBP/P300, similar to IRF3 and IRF7 (267, 280, 297). The transcriptional program induced by IRF5 includes proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6, IL-12, and TNF α (169, 298). In myeloid DCs, it has been shown that IRF5 (as well as IRF3 and IRF7) can be activated through the adaptor protein MAVS and then induce transcription of type I IFNs (299). IRF5 can induce cell cycle arrest and transcription of several proapoptotic genes such as Bak, Bax, caspase 8, and p21 (300). The stability of IRF5 protein in uninfected or otherwise quiescent cells has recently been discovered to be involved with the constitutive photomorphogenesis 9 (COP9) signalosome (297). The COP9 signalosome is a multi-protein complex that is homologous to the regulatory subunit of the 26S proteasome and controls proteasome-mediated protein degradation of several immune signaling components (231). A component of the COP9 signalosome, CSN3, has been identified as a binding partner for IRF5 and when the COP9 signalosome is knocked down, IRF5 protein levels rapidly drop in a proteasome-dependent manner (297, 301). Ultimately, IRF5 is involved in the induction of a robust antiviral state along with IRF3 and IRF7.

Less is known about **IRF6** compared to the other IRFs. Similar to other IRFs, in response to poly (rI:rC) treatment, IRF6 translocates from the cytoplasm into the nucleus (302). Expression of IRF6 has recently been demonstrated in

macrophages, neutrophils, and DCs, with an anti-inflammatory role observed in macrophages. It was discovered that IRF6 is a negative regulator of TLR4 signaling and inhibits the activation of NF κ B, thereby protecting against LPSinduced endotoxic shock (303). The majority of work on IRF6 has revealed the important function of IRF6 in keratinocyte development and differentiation. Mutation of IRF6 in humans has been linked to two cleft lip/palate syndromes, Van der Woude syndrome and Popliteal Pterygium syndrome, and this is linked to the role of IRF6 in keratinocyte development. IRF6 is also expressed in mammary epithelial cells and oral epithelial cells, and is involved in cell cycle arrest of mammary epithelial cells. Mice displaying a deficiency in IRF6 also show abnormal skin, limb, and craniofacial development. Therefore, it appears that IRF6 has important functions in normal development.

IRF7 is only constitutively expressed in B cells and DCs, but is induced in other cell types upon IFN signaling or viral infection (304). Activating phosphorylation of IRF7 can occur following RLR/MAVS/TBK-1/IKK ϵ , TLR3/TRIF/TBK-1/IKK ϵ , and cGAS-dependent and independent signaling cascades through STING and TBK-1 (267). Such as is observed with IRF3 and IRF5, IRF7 will translocate to the nucleus, interact with CBP/P300, and homo-dimerize or form heterdimers with IRF3 before inducing transcription of target genes. While IRF7 can often induce the same set of ISGs as IRF3, it can induce a larger set of unique ISGs. For example, IRF7 can induce several IFN α subtypes that IRF3 cannot induce, such as IFN α 4, IFN α 7, and IFN α 14 (287). In addition to the above-mentioned signaling cascades involved in IRF7 activation,

a pathway known to activate NF κ B also targets IRF7. The IL-1 receptorassociated kinase 4 (IRAK4), IRAK1, and IKK α kinase-signaling pathway can phosphorylate and activate IRF7 (305). Thus, IRF7 plays an indispensable role in the host defense against pathogens.

IRF8 is expressed in hematopoietic cells and is either constitutively expressed or IFN_γ inducible depending on the cell type. In DCs, unmethylated CpG DNA triggers the TLR9 signaling pathway and this activates NF κ B, which is dependent on IRF8 expression (306). IRF8 has also been shown to enhance type I IFN induction by stabilizing the recruitment of transcription complexes onto IFN promoters (307). Additionally, IRF8 transcriptionally regulates PML gene expression and is required for the formation of PML-NBs in myeloid cells (260). Many roles for IRF8 in cell development and differentiation have been discovered. IRF8 is required for the proper differentiation of certain DC subsets, macrophages and T_H1 cells (308). Additionally, IRF8 is involved in B cell and germinal center development. Hence, IRF8 possess a wide variety of roles in both defense against pathogens and the proper development and differentiation of several cell types.

IRF9 functions downstream of receptor binding by type I and type III IFNs, to activate different subsets of ISGs. Following type I or III IFNs binding to their respective receptors, the JAK/STAT pathway is activated. STAT1 and STAT2 are phosphorylated as a result and can complex with IRF9 to form the ISGF3 transcription complex (261, 309, 310). However, IRF9 can also bind to a STAT2 homodimer or complex with STAT2 and STAT6. These different complexes may

induce different ISG programs in response to different stimulation (311). IRF9 can also play an indirect role in apoptosis as type I IFNs signal through ISGF3 to activate p53 (312). Thus, IRF9 is necessary for the expression of antiviral genes that will ultimately exert protective effects for the host cell.

In conclusion, the IRF family of transcription factors has a central role in the IFN response and defense against pathogens including viruses. However, the continued research on this family of transcription factors has revealed a much larger and still-expanding role for the IRFs.

1.4.2 Adaptive immunity

If intrinsic and innate immunity fail to control a pathogen, then the adaptive immune response is triggered. Adaptive immunity, in contrast to intrinsic and innate immunity, is a specific response to a particular antigen and results in immunological memory, ensuring that a more rapid and robust immune response can occur in the event that the host encounters the same antigen again (313). Innate immunity helps to activate the adaptive immune response by driving differentiation of adaptive immune cells, as well as the maturation and migration of APCs to lymph nodes. In addition to their important role in innate immune responses, type I IFNs also influence the adaptive immune response.

DCs are professional APCs that will present antigens on MHC class I or class II cell surface molecules to CD8⁺ or CD4⁺ T cells, respectively. When T cells bind to antigen-presenting MHC molecules and costimulatory molecules such as CD40, CD80, or CD86, they become fully activated. Exposure of DCs to type I IFN results in an increased expression of MHC class I and class II as well

as the costimulatory molecules CD40, CD80, and CD86 (314-317). DCs will also release CXC motif chemokine receptor 3 (CXCR3) ligands [CXC motif chemokine ligand 9 (CXCL9), CXCL10, and CXCL11] in response to type I IFN (317). Activated T and B cells express the CXCR3 receptor and thus T and B cells can be recruited to sites of infection by DCs that are exposed to type I IFN (318). Therefore, type I IFN matures DCs into professional APCs that are capable of recruiting and activating adaptive immune cells.

When CD8⁺ T cells become activated following recognition of antigen on MHC class I, they secrete cytokines such as TNF α and IFN γ , as well as perforin, and granzymes, which collectively have antiviral and pro-apoptotic effects on the infected cell (313). CD8⁺ T cells can also induce apoptosis of infected cells through Fas/FasL signaling. The presence of type I IFN during primary CD8⁺ T cell responses to viral infections enhances the proliferation, clonal expansion, and generation of memory CD8⁺ T cells (319-321). For example, it was shown that during lymphocyte choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) infection, CD8⁺ T cells that lacked the type I IFN receptor had significant impairment in their capacity to expand and differentiate into effector cells (320). In this manner, a strong CD8⁺ T cell response relies on the type I IFN response.

CD4⁺ T cells (also known as helper T cells) aid in the clearance of microbes through their abilities to help B cells produce antibodies, enhance macrophage activation, produce cytokines and chemokines, and recruit other cells to sites of infection (neutrophils, basophils, eosinophils) (313). Naïve CD4⁺ T cells will further differentiate upon antigen stimulation. Depending on which

cytokines are present at the time of differentiation, the type of APC activating the T cell, the amount of antigen, and the costimulatory molecules that are activated, naïve CD4⁺ T cells can differentiate into one of at least seven different lineages (322). Lineages that naïve CD4⁺ T cells can differentiate into include T helper 1 (T_H1) , T_H2 , T_H17 , T_H22 , T_H9 , follicular helper T cells (Tfh), and regulatory T cells (Tregs) (323). Type I IFNs have been shown to help drive a $T_{H}1 \text{ CD4}^{+} \text{ T cell}$ differentiation program, both indirectly by enhancing DC secretion of IL-12 and directly by upregulating transcription factors in CD4⁺ T cells that drive $T_{H}1$ differentiation (324-326). It has also been demonstrated that type I IFN can suppress T_H2 and T_H17 differentiation of CD4⁺ T cells (325, 327, 328). T_H1 cells secrete cytokines that activate macrophages and CD8⁺ T cells (322). T_H2 cells promote IgG1 and IgE secretion by B cells, and $T_H 17$ cells activate several cell types (endothelial cells and stromal cells for example) to produce proinflammatory molecules (322). Hence, type I IFN can skew CD4⁺ T cell differentiation in a way that would benefit the clearance of intracellular pathogens, such as viruses, by macrophages and $CD8^+$ T cells.

B cells provide additional defense in the adaptive immune response. When mature follicular B cells recognize an antigen through their B cell receptor, and then receive help from CD4⁺ T cells they can become plasma cells producing IgM. B cells can also go through proliferation, affinity maturation, and class switching in germinal centers to become memory B cells and plasma cells with high affinity B cell receptors and can produce other classes of immunoglobulins (IgG, IgA, IgE, IgD) (313). These antibodies can lead to multiple

outcomes including prevention of pathogen entry into cells (by interfering with virus binding to cellular receptors, preventing the uncoating of genomes, or aggregation of viral particles), activation of the complement system (a cascade that will produce inflammation, enhance phagocytosis, and attack bacterial membranes), enhanced phagocytosis of antibody coated pathogens (opsonization), and antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (increased destruction of infected cells by macrophages, eosinophils, and NK cells). Type I IFN effects on B cells are complex and appear to be context dependent. Differentiation of B cells into antibody-secreting B cells can be regulated indirectly by the type I IFN activation of DCs to secrete IL-6 (329, 330). Additionally, there is evidence that type I IFN directly affects B cells resulting in enhanced B cell receptor signaling (331). Using type I IFN receptor knockout mice, and chimeric mice lacking type I IFN receptors on B cells only, it has also been shown that type I IFN signaling is required for (1) an early antibody response during primary influenza virus infection and (2) plasma cell development and IgM production following vesicular stomatitis virus infection (332, 333). However, in the context of certain chronic viral infections, type I IFN can result in the loss of virus-specific B cells and broadly neutralizing antibodies. During persistent LCMV infection there is a loss of LCMV-specific B cells that is dependent on type I IFN and CD8⁺ T cells (334). As mentioned above, type I IFN suppresses the T_H2 response, which in turn inhibits specific antibody production by B cells. In the case of T_{H2} driven allergic IgE production, type I IFN treatment reduced this allergic response and showed therapeutic benefits for asthma

patients treated with IFN α (335, 336). While several factors (duration of IFN signaling, viral infections, stage of B cell development, effects on other immune cells) influence the final effect on B cells, it is evident that type I IFNs play a pivotal role in B cell responses.

Innate and adaptive immune responses are distinct arms of the immune system, however they are not isolated from each other. The pleiotropic effects that type I IFN can exert on the adaptive immune system, as described above, evidence this fact. Following clearance of a pathogen, long-lived B and T cells will continue to provide surveillance and protection from that specific pathogen (called immunological memory) (313).

1.5 Herpesvirus Innate Immune Evasion

While many species have developed an intricate immune system to guard against microbial infection, herpesviruses have co-evolved the ability to circumvent or antagonize many of these immune responses and establish lifelong infections within their host species. This section will focus on what is known about the induction and evasion of the IFN response and evasion of PML-NBs following infection with human herpesviruses and their closely related primatemodel herpesviruses.

1.5.1 IFN induction by herpesvirus infection

Herpesviruses can induce IFN upon cellular recognition of viral envelope glycoproteins, DNA, and RNA. Viral binding and entry into a host cell triggers the first signaling cascades that lead to IFN production. HCMV envelope glycoprotein B (gB) can trigger IRF3 activation and IRF3-dependent induction of IFN and

ISGs. While soluble HCMV gB can elicit this response, whole HCMV virions induce a much greater response (337). Similarly, purified soluble KSHV envelope glycoprotein K8.1 could elicit the transcription of IFN β and ISGs in fibroblasts, and IFN α in HEK 293T cells (338, 339). HSV-1 virion binding and entry induce IRF3 activation and ISG induction, however soluble HSV-1 gB is not sufficient for this induction (340-342). IFN β activation can also occur through the activation of NF_κB and HSV-1, HCMV, and KSHV are capable of activating this pathway upon infection (343-345). Additionally, HSV-1 envelope protein gD can induce IFNa production in lymphocytes and myeloid dendritic cells (346). Interestingly, KSHV infection induces TLR4 signaling (usually associated with recognition of bacterial LPS) and type I IFN production (347). UV treated KSHV virions could also activate TLR4 implying that the PAMP recognized by TLR4 may be a viral envelope glycoprotein. Research to date has thus revealed that all three subfamilies of human herpesviruses can elicit an IFN response with several viral glycoproteins.

Viral DNA sensing by cellular PRRs (such as IFI16, cGAS, ZBP1, DDX41, and TLR9) can also trigger the IFN response. Most human herpesviruses have now been shown to activate TLR9 and induce type I IFNs following infection (348). VZV infection of plasmacytoid DCs induces the production of IFN α by TLR9-dependent and –independent mechanisms (349). A recent study on VZV infection of dermal cells revealed a role for STING in the induction of IFN β and IFN λ following infection, although the exact mechanism of viral recognition is unknown (350). KSHV and HSV-1 *de novo* infections, as well as KSHV and EBV

latent infections, are sensed in the nucleus by IFI16 complexed with breast cancer type 1 susceptibility protein (BRCA1) and histone H2B. This viral DNA recognition results in the activation of the IFI16-inflammasome complex and is dependent on IFI16 and BRCA1 but not H2B (351). Meanwhile, following viral DNA sensing in human vascular endothelial cells, the IFI16-BRCA1-H2B complex translocates to the cytoplasm where it interacts with both cGAS and STING resulting in the phosphorylation of TBK-1 and IRF3, and induction of IFN β transcription (351, 352). As a reminder, cGAS is a cytoplasmic DNA sensor that produces 2'3'-cGAMP following detection of DNA in the cytoplasm. 2'3'-cGAMP is a strong activating ligand for STING, which will then recruit and activate TBK-1 and IRF3, followed by IRF3-regulated induction of IFN β . Interestingly, a recent study revealed that several human B cell lines (primary and EBV-negative) lack STING protein and do not produce type I IFN upon cytoplasmic DNA exposure (353). This has implications for the ability of B cell tropic viruses such as EBV and KSHV to infect B cells. This study also found that reconstitution of STING protein within B cells did not rescue IFN production in response to cytoplasmic DNA exposure suggesting further dysfunctions in cytoplasmic DNA sensing pathways (353). Of course there are other DNA sensors such as TLR9 and IFI16 (described above) that sense EBV and KSHV genomes. However, this study revealed that the cGAS-STING pathway is defective in human B cells. HCMV infection of monocyte-derived DCs and macrophages induces type I IFNs through cGAS while HCMV infection of plasmacytoid DCs induces type I IFNs through TLR9 (354). HCMV is also detected by the DNA sensor, Z-binding

protein 1 (ZBP1, also known as DAI), and induces IFN β expression through IRF3 (355). It follows that the human herpesviruses, with their DNA genomes, will trigger several DNA-sensing PRRs. This has now been elucidated and revealed that IFN production results from this viral DNA sensing by the cell.

IFNs can also be induced following the sensing of viral RNA, even in the context of DNA virus infections. HSV-1 and KSHV infection can induce type I IFN through TLR3 activation, perhaps due to the production of viral dsRNA during the virus lifecycle (356-358). EBV infection can also activate TLR3 and induce type I IFN production, however this is due to virally encoded small RNAs (EBERs) (359). A role for RIG-I and MAVS has been demonstrated for HSV-1 induction of type I IFNs (360, 361). Cellular RNA polymerase III is able to transcribe viral DNA into RNA possessing a 5'-triphosphate, which is then recognized RIG-I (362). EBERs RNAs can also activate RIG-I in addition to TLR3, resulting in type I IFN induction (363). KSHV is also able to activate RIG-I signaling and IFN β production following infection or reactivation, however the viral PAMP responsible is currently unknown (364). While less is known about the mechanisms of herpesvirus-RNA sensing it is clear that this pathway is triggered during infections with several herpesviruses, and results in the production of IFN.

1.5.2 IFN evasion

While the herpesviruses clearly induce the IFN pathway, they also encode many strategies to evade this innate immune response. Numerous studies have revealed that these large DNA viruses encode diverse mechanisms that act at multiple locations along the IFN pathway. Herpesvirus-encoded mechanisms to

inhibit the production of IFN as well as IFN signaling have been characterized. Additionally, to evade the initial signaling cascades that induce type I IFN upon virus binding and entry, herpesviruses often incorporate immune evasion proteins in their teguments so that they can act immediately upon infection. Inhibition of IFN Production by Alpha-herpesviruses

Virally encoded mechanisms to inhibit the induction of IFNs are critical for the establishment of a robust infection. HSV-1 tegument protein US3 (a viral protein kinase) is able to reduce the expression of TLR3, inhibit TLR2 signaling through its interactions with TRAF6, and hyperphosphorylate IRF3 and the p65 subunit of NF κ B to inhibit IRF3 and NF κ B activation (365-368). HSV-1 infected cell protein 0 (ICP0) is another tegument protein with multiple immune modulatory effects. As an E3 ligase, ICP0 is able to reduce levels of several cellular proteins including MyD88, toll-interleukin 1 receptor domain-containing adaptor protein (TIRAP), the p50 subunit of NF κ B, and IF116 (369-372). Other HSV-1 proteins inhibiting IFN induction include US11 (inhibits RIG-I and MDA5 signaling), UL36 (deubiquitinates TRAF3 preventing TBK1 recruitment), ICP34.5 (sequesters TBK1), UL41 (degrades cGAS mRNA), VP24 (inhibits TBK1 and IRF3 interaction), ICP27 (inhibits IRF3 activation), and VP16 (inhibits IRF3 and CBP interactions) (373-380).

At least three VZV proteins target IRF3; ORF61 can subvert the type I IFN response by inducing degradation of phosphorylated IRF3, IE62 (ORF62) blocks activating phosphorylation of IRF3, while ORF47 aberrantly phosphorylates IRF3 to prevent homodimerization (381, 382). ORF61 of VZV and the related primate
virus, SVV, has also been shown to block the activation of NF κ B by preventing the ubiquitination of I κ B α (383).

Inhibition of IFN Production by Beta-herpesviruses

Although HCMV infection results in IFN induction, the virus is able to dampen the IFN response as evidenced by comparative studies between wildtype HCMV and loss of function or gene knockout mutants. HCMV encodes multiple genes to inhibit IFN induction such as IE2, which can block NF κ B transcription of IFN β (384). Another mechanism to inhibit IFN β transcription, at late times post infection, is through the HCMV glycoprotein US9. US9 is expressed at its highest levels 48 hours post infection and is able to reduce mitochondrial MAVS levels and disrupt STING/TBK-1 complex formation, both of which result in reduced IRF3 activation and IFN β transcription (385). Two viral homologs of human IL-10 (hIL-10) are encoded by HCMV, cmvIL-10 and latency associated (LA) cmvIL-10 (386). While cmvIL-10 has been shown to bind the hIL-10 receptor and function in the same anti-inflammatory capacity as hIL-10 (including inhibition of type I and II IFN production), LAcmvIL-10 does not exert the full repertoire of hIL-10 functions (387-389). LAcmvIL-10 is a truncated version of cmvIL-10 and does not possess the ability to suppress proinflammatory cytokines (390-392). However, LAcmvIL-10 can upregulate protein levels of hIL-10 and may exert anti-inflammatory functions indirectly through hIL-10 during latency (393). Although the role of pp65 in HCMV innate immune evasion has been controversial in the past, a recent publication demonstrated that pp65 binds to cGAS and inhibits the release of cGAMP, preventing

downstream activation of STING and IFNβ (394). Another HCMV gene product, pp71, can inhibit the STING/IFNβ pathway by inhibiting the trafficking of STING and preventing STING/TBK-1/IRF3 complex formation (395). HCMV miRNAs can also modulate the IFN response. The HCMV miRNA Hcmv-miR-UL112 has been shown to down-regulate type I IFN secretion, perhaps by targeting IRF1 (396, 397). While HCMV infection results in ISG induction, RhCMV infection does not. Contrary to what occurs during HCMV infection, RhCMV infection does not result in IRF3 dimerization or translocation to the nucleus (398). This result highlights that while many similarities may exist between human and nonhuman primate herpesviruses, key differences also exist.

Significantly less is known about the IFN evasion mechanisms of HHV6 and HHV-7. It has been shown that IE1 of HHV 6A and 6B inhibits IRF3 translocation to the nucleus and subsequent induction of IFN β (399). Inhibition of IFN Production by Gamma-herpesviruses

Several mechanisms for the inhibition of IFN production have been discovered for EBV. EBV BZLF1 can transcriptionally repress IFN_Y, BPLF1 inhibits TLR signaling, LF2 binds to IRF7 preventing IRF7 dimerization and IFN α induction, BGLF4 inhibits IRF3 from binding to DNA, and BRLF1 down-regulates IRF3 and IRF7 transcription inhibiting type I IFN induction (400-404). EBV encodes miRNAs, some of which have been implicated in modulating the IFN response. EBV miR-BART6-3p inhibits IFN β induction by targeting RIG-I mRNA and suppressing the RIG-I pathway (405).

Several genes encoded by KSHV help suppress IFN induction. ORF45 competitively inhibits IRF7 phosphorylation by IKK ε and TBK-1 (406). ORF50/RTA encodes a ubiquitin E3 ligase activity that polyubiquitinates and targets IRF7 for proteasome-dependent degradation (406, 407). ORF50 can also recruit a cellular ubiquitin E3 ligase, RTA-associated ubiquitin ligase (RAUL), to ubiquitinate and target both IRF3 and IRF7 for proteasome-dependent degradation (408). Lastly, ORF50's E3 ubiquitin ligase activity has been shown to promote the ubiquitination and proteasome-dependent degradation of MyD88 and TRIF (409, 410). KSHV LANA competitively inhibits IRF3 DNA binding to the IFN β promoter to inhibit IFN β transcription (411). K-bZIP/ORF8 displaces IRF3 from target-gene promoters, inhibiting IRF3-dependent gene transcription including IFN β (412). Three PRRs are also inhibited by KSHV. TLR4 transcription is down-regulated by vGPCR and vIRF1, RIG-I signaling and IFN β induction are inhibited by ORF64 (possibly through the deubiquitinase activity of ORF64), and cGAS enzymatic activity (ability of cGAS to produce cGAMP) is inhibited by ORF52 (347, 364, 413). ORF36 of KSHV can inhibit TBK-1-dependent IFN_β production, which may occur through the disruption of IRF3 activity (414). Similar to EBV, KSHV encodes miRNAs with diverse targets and functions (see section 1.2.2.3.2 above). KSHV miRNAs miR-K9, miR-K5, and miR-K11 have some effect on reducing type I IFN production. miR-K9 targets IRAK1 while miR-K5 targets MyD88, two components of type I IFN-induction cascades (415). miR-K11 targets IKK ε , a kinase responsible for activating IRF3 and IRF7, down-regulating the transcription of type I IFNs (96). Finally, all four KSHV vIRFs can inhibit the

IFN pathway by multiple mechanisms including antagonizing cellular IRFs and PRRs. The vIRFs are discussed in detail in section 1.6.

Due to the diverse and potent effects of IFNs, it is not surprising the herpesviruses have evolved several strategies to inhibit IFN synthesis. Not only do the herpesviruses encode multiple effectors to inhibit the production of IFN, some herpesviruses even utilize multiple viral effectors to target the same cellular protein (i.e. miR-K5 and ORF50 targeting of MyD88). However, in the event that IFN is produced, herpesviruses have also developed mechanisms to inhibit IFN-induced signaling pathways.

Evasion of IFN Signaling by Alpha-herpesviruses

The ability to inhibit signaling events downstream of IFN production will also aid viral infection and spread. As a reminder, the canonical type I IFN signaling pathway involves engagement of IFNAR1/2 with type I IFN which will trigger the phosphorylation of JAK1 and TYK2 and the recruitment and phosphorylation of STAT1 and STAT2, followed by phospho-STAT1 and phospho-STAT2 complexing with IRF9 to form the ISGF3 transcription complex that translocates to the nucleus and activates transcription of ISGs.

HSV-1 encodes ICP27 which can inhibit STAT1 phosphorylation and translocation to the nucleus following IFN signaling (416). Infection with HSV-1 induces an increased expression of SOCS1 and SOCS3, negative regulators of the JAK/STAT pathway (417). This up-regulation of SOCS expression following infection was dependent on UL13 (418).

As for VZV, the growth of a VZV mutant virus lacking ORF63 was inhibited in the presence of IFN α but not IFN γ , suggesting a role for ORF63 in the inhibition of type I IFN signaling (419). It was later shown that infection with VZV and the nonhuman primate homologous virus, SVV, results in reduced levels of IRF9 and inhibition of STAT2 phosphorylation (420). ORF63 of both VZV and SVV was able to down-regulate levels of IRF9 but had no effect on STAT2 phosphorylation, therefore another viral gene product may be involved (420). SVV is able to inhibit the signaling of IFN γ by reducing protein levels of STAT1, JAK1, and JAK2 (421). Similar to HSV-1, VZV infection also up-regulates SOCS3 to inhibit type I IFN signaling (422).

Thus, alpha-herpesviruses share common strategies for inhibiting the IFN signaling pathway by (1) antagonizing components of the JAK/STAT pathway and (2) upregulating the SOCS proteins involved in negative feedback of the IFN signaling pathway.

Evasion of IFN Signaling by Beta-herpesviruses

Infection with HCMV results in the inhibition of type I and type II IFN signaling. HCMV infection can block IFN α induced phosphorylation of IFNAR1, JAK1, TYK2, STAT1, and STAT2, and also reduce the levels of JAK1 and IRF9 (423). Unfortunately, the mechanisms and viral factors involved in these phenotypes have yet to be identified. One HCMV gene product known to inhibit type I IFN signaling is IE1. IE1 expression inhibits ISGF3 from binding to target genes and IE1 binds to STAT1 and STAT2 to relocalize these two components of ISGF3 to PML-NBs (424-426). The STAT binding (and type I IFN signaling)

function of IE1 is presumed to be separate from the PML-NB disruption function as a mutated IE1 that could no longer bind to STATs was still able to disrupt PML-NBs (425). HCMV UL23 inhibits STAT mediated transcription of IFNγ stimulated genes by inhibiting Nmi and STAT interactions (Nmi interactions with STATs enhance the recruitment of CBP/P300 to STAT transcriptional complexes) (427). IE1 of HCMV can also inhibit IFNγ stimulated gene transcription (428). Although the mechanism is not fully elucidated, IE1 expression reduces STAT1 homodimer binding to target genes without directly binding to STAT1.

It is clear that HCMV is able to inhibit IFN signaling at multiple steps along the pathway. However, much remains to be elucidated about the mechanistic details of this process and identification of the viral effectors involved. Evasion of IFN Signaling by Gamma-herpesviruses

EBV can inhibit IFN signaling by inducing the degradation of IFN

receptors, an effect that is dependent on LMP2A and LMP2B (429). LMP-1 of EBV can inhibit the Tyk2 phosphorylation event following the binding of IFN α to its receptor, abrogating IFN signaling (430). EBV miR-BART16 targets CBP, an important transcriptional coactivator in the IFN pathway, and inhibits ISG transcription following IFN α treatment (431).

Impairment of IFN signaling has been described for four KSHV gene products. ORF10 interacts with IFNAR and the receptor associated kinases TYK2 and JAK1, inhibiting their phosphorylation and the phosphorylation of STAT2, and thus inhibiting ISGF3 formation (432). KSHV vIL-6 also prevents

TYK2 phosphorylation and ISGF3 formation (433). vIRF-2 can inhibit ISGF3mediated transcription and will be discussed further in section 1.6 (434). Lastly, KSHV ORF54 inhibits the IFN signaling pathway and while the mechanism is currently unknown, the MHV68 homolog of KSHV ORF54 induces the degradation of IFNAR1 (435).

A growing body of evidence is revealing the strategies used by gammaherpesviruses to inhibit the IFN signaling pathway. These strategies involve multiple viral proteins as well as noncoding RNAs to antagonize every step of the IFN signaling cascade. This multi-pronged attack (by members of every subfamily of human herpesviruses) to stop the induction of IFN and ISG transcription indicates how detrimental the ISGs are for viral infections. Consequently, these viruses expend a large amount of their genomic coding capacity towards evading this one pathway.

1.5.3 PML-NB Evasion

PML-NBs provide a strong and immediate defense against herpesvirus infections. Because herpesviruses are so successful at establishing infection and persisting in the host, it follows that these viruses encode a means to modulate or disrupt PML-NBs. Examples of herpesviruses in each subfamily of the *Herpesvirales* family have been found to modify or disrupt PML-NBs.

PML-NB Evasion by Alpha-herpesviruses

The alpha-herpesvirus HSV-1 encodes the tegument protein ICP0 to disrupt PML-NBs. ICP0 is a SUMO-targeted ubiquitin ligase (STUbL) and is able to induce the proteasomal degradation of SUMO-conjugated PML and SP100

proteins, thereby disrupting PML-NB structures (436, 437). ICP0 homologues in other alpha-herpesviruses (bovine herpesvirus 1, equine herpesvirus 1) had a similar effect on PML-NBs (438). While the group that investigated ICP0 homologs in other alpha-herpesviruses did not find the ICP0 homolog of VZV (ORF61) to be able to disrupt PML-NBs, they admitted that expression levels of their ORF61 construct were low and may explain their results. Another group was later able to show that ORF61 does disrupt PML-NBs following infection with VZV using an ORF61 mutant VZV (439).

The alpha-herpesviruses use homologous tegument-associated proteins to antagonize PML-NBs, a theme that has also been described for gammaherpesviruses. In this manner, viral protein expression does not have to occur before the virus can disrupt these restrictive sub-nuclear structures.

PML-NB Evasion by Beta-herpesviruses

HCMV is the most studied beta-herpesvirus in regards to PML-NBs. HCMV tegument protein pp71 binds to Daxx and localizes to PML-NBs where it is able to displace (but not degrade) ATRX from PML-NBs and also induces the proteasome-dependent degradation of Daxx (440). Daxx has the ability to silence the major immediate early promoter (MIEP) of HCMV, thus the targeting of Daxx allows for activation of MIEP and the viral immediate early protein 1 (IE1) is transcribed and translated (440-442). IE1 is then able to bind to PML and induces the removal of SUMOs from PML protein resulting in the dispersal of PML-NBs but not the degradation of PML protein (443, 444).

Another beta-herpesvirus, HHV-6, appears to modify PML-NBs but does not completely abolish the PML-NB structures from infected cells. Upon infection, PML-NB structures become fewer in number but larger in size, while PML protein levels increase (445). The HHV-6 IE1 protein can localize to PML-NBs but does not disperse them. Additionally, SUMOylation of IE1 may stabilize this viral protein (445, 446). Furthermore, the HHV-6 ORF U19 was shown to colocalize with PML-NBs and to have transcriptional transactivating functions on the RANTES promoter, which was suppressed by PML expression (447). The authors theorize that U19 transactivates transcription broadly of both viral and cellular genes and PML protein can suppress this activity to inhibit viral transcription. They postulate that this may contribute to the slow viral replication observed during HHV-6 infection compared to HSV-1 and HCMV, which are able to disrupt PML-NBs. Direct evidence for this claim has not been provided. Furthermore, investigation of other PML-NB resident proteins important for inhibiting viral replication (hDaxx, SP100) has not been done and may explain how HHV-6 replicates without abolishing PML-NB structures.

Why HCMV infection does not result in the degradation of PML protein (as occurs with HSV-1 infection), or how HHV-6 replicates without apparent degradation of PML-NB structures, are unresolved questions. However, these viruses show that manipulation of PML-NB structures is sufficient to evade the restrictive functions of these sub-nuclear structures, and that PML protein degradation is not required.

PML-NB Evasion by Gamma-herpesviruses

All gamma-herpesviruses studied to date encode a viral homolog of the cellular enzyme phosphoribosylformylglycineamide amidotransferase (FGARAT), an enzyme involved in *de novo* purine biosynthesis. While the viral FGARATs (vFGARATs) have not been shown to have purine biosynthesis capabilities, they all display functions in the disruption of PML-NBs. The EBV vFGARAT, BNRF1, binds to Daxx at PML-NBs and inhibits Daxx from binding to ATRX (448). Thus BNRF1 is able to alleviate the transcriptional repression of EBV by PML-NBs. Intriguingly, knocking down Daxx and ATRX in latently EBV-infected lymphoblastoid cells resulted in the reactivation of the virus, suggesting that the virus may utilize PML-NB components to regulate the lytic-to-latent switch (448). A subsequent analysis of the interaction domains between BNRF1 and Daxx revealed that mutating the residues necessary for this interaction also inhibited the expression of viral latent genes and B cell proliferation (449). The KSHV vFGARAT, ORF75, also interferes with the Daxx-ATRX complex. ORF75 expression results in the loss of ATRX protein and dispersal of Daxx from PML-NBs (450). Attempts to make a KSHV mutant virus with stop codons in ORF75 failed to produce infectious virus and lytic gene expression could not be detected (450). In addition to ORF75, KSHV also encodes 4 ORFs with homology to cellular IRFs, termed vIRFs. One of these vIRFs, vIRF-3 (also known as LANA2), is able to antagonize PML-NBs by increasing the SUMO 2/3 modification on PML proteins which leads to ubiquitination and subsequent proteasomal degradation (451, 452). Animal gamma-herpesviruses also antagonize PML-NBs through vFGARATs. MHV68 encodes ORF75c (a ubiquitin E3 ligase) that induces the

proteasomal degradation of PML protein, thereby disrupting PML-NBs (453, 454). MHV68 mutants with non-functional ORF75c are still able to replicate and it was found that a second protein, ORF61, has PML-NB modifying functions. ORF61 expression resulted in a change to PML-NB morphology whereby the PML-NB dots became elongated tracks, however the mechanism and consequence to PML function have yet to be elucidated (455). Herpesvirus saimiri encodes ORF3 to degrade SP100 protein, however PML protein and PML-NB structures remain (albeit lacking SP100) (456). Lastly, RRV infection results in the dispersal of PML-NBs by 24 hours post infection with a loss of SP100 protein levels by 8 hours post infection and loss of PML protein levels by 24 hours post infection (457). ORF75 of RRV was shown to be responsible for the loss of SP100 proteins in human iSLK cells and rhesus fibroblasts, while conflicting data showed ORF75 was responsible for PML protein loss in iSLK cells but not rhesus fibroblast cells (457).

While all gamma-herpesviruses use a vFGARAT to antagonize PML-NBs, the mechanisms have diverged across the viruses within this subfamily. Similar to the alpha-herpesviruses and HCMV, gamma-herpesviruses utilize a tegumentassociated protein to quickly subvert PML-NBs. Furthermore, gamma-2 herpesviruses may also share another common strategy by encoding vIRFs to help disrupt PML-NBs. KSHV vIRF-3 is also required for PML-NB loss and the research presented in chapter 2 of this thesis provides evidence of a role for the RRV vIRF R12 in PML-NB subversion. Another gamma-2 herpesvirus, Japanese macaque rhadinovirus (JMRV), also encodes vIRF proteins and it would be

interesting to investigate whether similar PML-NB related functions exist for the JMRV vIRFs. However, there have not been any reports on the function of these proteins or the ability of JMRV to disrupt PML-NBs to date.

1.6 Viral interferon regulatory factors

Both KSHV and RRV encode vIRF ORFs with homology to cellular IRFs (Table 1). KSHV encodes four vIRFs (vIRF-1 through vIRF-4) from four ORFs, while RRV encodes eight vIRFs (R6 through R13) from eight ORFs (63, 137, 458). The vIRFs of KSHV have been studied and shown to possess transcriptional regulatory, oncogenic, cell survival, and immune evasion functions (451, 459-462). The RRV vIRFs have thus far been studied mainly for their role in immune evasion (140, 463, 464). Because of their wide-ranging effects, further investigation into the functions of vIRFs is warranted and may reveal important information for combating gamma-2 herpesviruses.

		Cellular IRF	KSHV vIRF	RRV vIRF
	vIRF-1	IRF8 ^a 15% / 23%		R10 15% / 28%
кѕнѵ	vIRF-2	IRF4 ^a 21% / 31%		R11 11% / 27%
	vIRF-3	IRF4 ^a * 16% / 36%		R9 19% / 25%
	vIRF-4	None		R12 16% / 26%
RRV	R6	IRF8 ^b 16% / 21%	vIRF-1 15% / 25%	R10 12% / 45%
	R7	IRF8 ^b 16% / 22%	vIRF-1 16% / 23%	R11 18% / 45%
	R8	IRF8 b 14% / 23%	vIRF-1 15% / 21%	R12 17% / 52%
	R9	IRF8 ^b 19% / 25%	vIRF-3 * 16% / 25%	R13 11% / 53%
	R10	IRF8 b 14% / 23%	vIRF-1 13% / 28%	
	R11	IRF8 ^b 16% / 24%	vIRF-1 15% / 24%	
	R12	IRF8 b 16% / 23%	vIRF-2 20% / 23%	
	R13	IRF8 b 16% / 21%	vIRF-1 * 14% / 23%	

Table 1. Comparisons of vIRFs and cellular IRFs

Protein-protein BLAST comparison using NCBI database. Results presented as %Identity / %Similarity.^a denotes comparison with human genome,^b denotes comparison with macaca mulatta genome,* denotes those comparisons that required a position-specific iterated BLAST (PSI-BLAST) algorithm to produce result.

1.6.1 KSHV vIRFs

1.6.1.1 vIRF-1

vIRF-1 is a lytically expressed gene with early kinetics (transcripts detected 8-12 hours post induction in PEL cells) and there is some evidence for low level expression during latency (458, 465). A conserved DNA binding domain found in cellular IRFs was identified in vIRF-1 and the capacity to bind DNA was confirmed (462). Additionally, vIRF-1 was shown to bind to the KSHV viral promoter region of K3, viral dihydrofolate reductase (vDHFR), and vIL-6, and can function as a viral transcription factor activating this promoter (462). It is perhaps not surprising that a viral gene displaying homology to a cellular transcription factor can function as such. However, several more diverse functions have now been described for vIRF-1 and are described below.

Anti-apoptotic functions of vIRF-1

Several diverse functions have been described for KSHV vIRF-1. vIRF-1 can inhibit apoptosis by binding to and sequestering Bim (a BH3-only proapoptotic Bcl-2 family member involved in the initiation of apoptosis) in the nucleus, binding to other BH3-only proteins, and by binding to gene associated with retinoid-IFN-induced mortality 19 (GRIM19) to inhibit IFN/retinoic acidinduced cell death (466-468). KSHV can also inhibit p53 mediated cell cycle arrest and apoptosis through vIRF-1. P53 is a tumor suppressor and transcription factor for many genes involved in cell cycle arrest and apoptosis, and is normally maintained at very low levels in a cell. Another cellular protein, ubiquitin-specific protease 7 (USP7), can increase stability of p53 by deubiquitinating p53 to avoid proteasome-mediated degradation. Two separate studies have revealed that vIRF-1 binds to both p53 and USP7, inhibits USP7 deubiquitination functions, inhibits p53 acetylation as well as p53 transcriptional transactivation, and results in reduced protein levels of p53 (469, 470). The study that showed decreased p53 protein levels utilized overexpression of vIRF-1 or USP7-refractory vIRF-1 constructs transfected into U2OS osteosarcoma cells (469). A recent publication analyzing vIRF-1 and USP7 interactions did not find altered levels of p53 protein when vIRF-1 was knocked down using short hairpin (sh) RNA in KSHV infected BCBL-1 cells or using vIRF-1-null or USP7-refractory vIRF-1 mutant viruses (471). This recent study did, however, find that latently infected PEL and BCBL-1

cells displayed increased proliferation and reduced apoptosis dependent on the vIRF-1 interaction with USP7. They also found increased viral replication in lytically reactivated cells when vIRF-1 was present and able to interact with USP7. Therefore, the functions of vIRF-1 may be cell type specific with regard to effects on p53, or the endogenous levels of vIRF-1 do not result in biologically significant regulation of p53. In line with the hypothesis that endogenous levels of vIRF-1 do not result in regulation of p53, a report by Pozharskaya et al. characterized the expression of vIRF-1 during infection of BCBL-1 cells. They found only transient high levels of vIRF-1 early after reactivation, a protein halflife of 3 hours for vIRF-1, and low levels of vIRF-1 during latency and at later times during lytic replication (472). Lastly, vIRF-1 was shown to inhibit transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) signaling and Smad mediated transcription (such as inhibiting p21 transcription) as well as promoting cell growth (473). While vIRF-1 can inhibit apoptosis, the exact contribution of vIRF-1 in vivo remains to be fully defined.

Innate immune modulation by vIRF-1

Several innate immune evasion activities have been described for vIRF-1. vIRF-1 interacts with two adaptor molecules of the innate immune system, STING and IPS-1 (also known as MAVS). The interaction of vIRF-1 and STING (demonstrated by transient expression of vIRF-1 *in vitro*) inhibits the cGAS-STING pathway by preventing the phosphorylation of STING and the ability of TBK1 to bind to STING (474).

RIG-I and MDA5 are cytosolic proteins capable of binding and detecting viral dsRNA in the cytosol (475). The inhibition of KSHV infection and reactivation by the RIG-I and IPS-1 signaling pathway has been reported, however, it is currently unknown how KSHV is able to activate this pathway (476). Regardless, vIRF-1 was recently reported to inhibit IPS-1 signaling during reactivation of KSHV (477). IPS-1 is membrane bound on the surface of mitochondria and vIRF-1 was shown to localize to mitochondria in an IPS-1-dependent manner, in reactivated KSHV-infected PEL and BCBL-1 cells. Additionally, vIRF-1 was found to co-immunoprecipitate with IPS-1. vIRF-1 expression during KSHV reactivation was able to inhibit the aggregation (and activation) of IPS-1 and disrupt the antiviral activity of IPS-1 (e.g., IFNβ production and induction of apoptosis) (477).

Several studies have also confirmed that vIRF-1 interacts with or otherwise inhibits cellular IRFs, as was hypothesized due to their homology to cellular IRFs. While two reports presented conflicting data as to whether *in vitro*translated vIRF-1 was able to bind to *in vitro*-translated IRF1, both reports demonstrated that exogenous expression of vIRF-1 was able to inhibit IRF1 transactivating and antiviral functions (478, 479). In addition to IRF1, vIRF-1 also inhibits the functions of IRF3. When protein levels of vIRF-1 were reduced (using peptide-conjugate phosphorodiamidate morpholino oligomers which block translation of target RNA sequences) in KSHV-infected and TPA-induced BCBL-1 cells, protein levels of both IRF3 and STAT1 increased (480).

vIRF-1 has also been shown to interfere with the CBP/p300 transcriptional coactivator complex (481, 482). Specifically, when vIRF-1 was over-expressed in

Sendai virus-infected 293 cells and immunoprecipitated, vIRF-1 was found to bind to CBP and p300 and reduce the ability of IRF3 to bind the CBP/p300 complex. Decreased levels of IRF3, in conjunction with impaired binding to transcriptional coactivators, results in the specific block of IRF3 signaling by vIRF-1 following viral infection (482).

The overall effect of vIRF-1 modulation of cellular IRFs and transcriptional co-activators is the inhibition of the transcription of type I IFNs, as well as IFN-stimulated genes. Activation of both the IFN α and IFN β gene promoters was shown to be greatly diminished by transient transfection of vIRF-1 (477, 478). Additionally, in response to Sendai virus infection, exogenous vIRF-1 inhibited the transcription of IFN α , IFN β , and the ISGs ISG15, RANTES and IP-10 (77, 483, 484).

Aside from the inhibition of transcriptional activation, ectopically expressed vIRF-1 has also been shown to co-immunoprecipitate with HERC5, an E3 ligase responsible for conjugating the ubiquitin-like ISG15 protein onto target proteins (485). Overexpression of vIRF-1 reduced the levels of ISG15 conjugation to cellular proteins, perhaps through its interaction with HERC5. Because knockdown of ISG15 by shRNA resulted in increased KSHV reactivation, it has been suggested that vIRF-1 may play a role in the reactivation of latent KSHV infections (485).

vIRF-1 has thus evolved to antagonize multiple innate immune pathways to help the virus evade innate antiviral responses.

Adaptive immune modulation by vIRF-1

vIRF-1 expression can inhibit the adaptive as well as the innate immune response. For example, Lagos *et al.* demonstrated that overexpression of vIRF-1 results in reduced transcription and cell surface expression of MHC I, thereby preventing recognition of KSHV-infected cells by CD8⁺ T cells *in vitro*. The authors went on to show that inhibition of MHC class I expression was mediated through the interaction of vIRF-1 with the transcriptional coactivator p300, as removal of the p300 binding sequence from vIRF-1 prevented vIRF-1-mediated downregulation of MHC class I in transfected cells (486). Thus, vIRF-1 is capable of regulating the adaptive immune response, in addition to its roles in modulating the innate immune response.

1.6.1.2 vIRF-2

KSHV vIRF-2 is encoded by K11.1 and K11 and evidence for both latent and lytic expression of vIRF-2 exists (458, 487). Splicing results in a two exon, full length vIRF-2 protein while a shorter vIRF-2 protein translated from just the first exon (K11.1) is also produced (488). Functions for both forms of vIRF-2 have been demonstrated. Short form vIRF-2 (but not full length vIRF-2) can interact with the NF κ B consensus binding site while full-length vIRF-2 is able to bind DNA and function as a transcription factor for certain target genes (487, 489). One gene target of full length vIRF-2 is *PIK3C3*, the catalytic subunit of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI(3)K), and vIRF-2 was capable of up-regulating a promoter-reporter for *PIK3C3 (489)*. Another group identified that vIRF-2 activated the PI(3)K/Akt pathway resulting in the inhibition of transcription factor FOXO3A (490). FOXO3A regulates the expression of Fas ligand, which is

involved in apoptosis. Therefore, vIRF-2 transcriptionally up-regulates the catalytic subunit of PI(3)K, and activates the PI(3)K/Akt pathway to inhibit FOXO3A transcriptional activities, which results in diminished apoptosis of KSHV infected cells. Additional innate immune evasion functions for vIRF-2 have been described and are reported below.

Innate immune modulation by vIRF-2

Like vIRF-1, vIRF-2 is able to interact with cellular IRFs. One report demonstrated that vIRF-2 interacts with IRF1, IRF2, and IRF8 in *in vitro* pulldown assays, while a second report discovered an interaction between vIRF-2 and IRF3 as well (487, 491). However, only a down regulation of the IRF1- and IRF3-induced transactivation of IFN α 4 and IFN β gene promoters has been demonstrated (434, 487, 491). The vIRF-2 inhibition of IRF3 was shown to occur through the simultaneous binding of vIRF-2 to both activated IRF3 and procaspase-3 (491). Exogenous expression of vIRF-2 was able to induce the loss of IRF3 even in the presence of the proteasome inhibitor MG132, while treatment with a general caspase inhibitor was able to inhibit the vIRF-2-induced loss of IRF3 protein. This implicates caspase 3 (and perhaps other caspases) in the vIRF-2-induced degradation of IRF3. Interestingly, this same study found a caspase 3-independent mechanism for vIRF-2 inhibition of IRF3 function; however, the mechanism has not been fully elucidated (491).

Additionally, a GST-vIRF-2 fusion protein was found to bind to the transcriptional coactivator p300 as well as to the p65 component of NF κ B. In fact, His₆-vIRF-2 homodimers were found to bind to the NF κ B consensus-binding site

and exogenous expression of vIRF-2 was able to inhibit NF κ B transactivation of IFN β (487).

vIRF-2 is also able to inhibit signaling through the ISRE promoters as induced by IFN α or the IFN λ family members IFN λ 1 and IFN λ 2. vIRF-2 is able to block ISRE signaling and ISG induction by reducing protein levels of IRF9 and phosphorylated STAT1, which prevents the formation of ISGF3 (492).

Lastly, it has been demonstrated that ectopically expressed vIRF-2 can bind to and inhibit the kinase activity of PKR, resulting in the inhibition of the IFN α -induced translational block (493). PKR expression is induced upon IFN stimulation and when PKR binds to dsRNA it is activated and can phosphorylate eIF2 α leading to a block in cellular translation. This block in translation can lead to programmed cell death as a means to clear viral infection (494). The binding of vIRF-2 to PKR inhibited the phosphorylation of eIF2 α by PKR following dsRNA treatment (493). However, eIF2 α is not the only target of PKR. Under certain circumstances PKR can also phosphorylate I κ B α , the negative regulator of NF κ B resulting in degradation of I κ B α and activation of NF κ B (495). However, there is no direct evidence that vIRF-2 can inhibit the PKR-mediated activation of NF κ B.

vIRF-2 is thus able to inhibit the production of IFN by multiple mechanisms as well as inhibit type I and III IFN signaling and PKR induced translation inhibition.

1.6.1.3 vIRF-3

KSHV vIRF3 is also known as LANA2 and is expressed during latency and with late kinetics during lytic reactivation (465, 496). Several reports

determined that vIRF-3 is exclusively expressed in B cells, however vIRF-3 has now been found in PEL and MCD B cells as well as in KS spindle cells of lymphatic endothelial cell origin (497-501).

Anti-apoptotic functions of vIRF-3

Multiple mechanisms have now been described for vIRF-3 mediated inhibition of apoptosis. Similar to vIRF-2, vIRF-3 can inhibit PKR-dependent phosphorylation of eIF2 α (502). This study also demonstrated that vIRF-3 could inhibit PKR-induced activation of caspase-3, thus inhibiting the FADD/caspase 8 apoptotic pathway. Interestingly, vIRF-3 does not inhibit NFkB or caspase 9 activation by PKR. Therefore, vIRF-3 does not completely inhibit PKR activation or activities, but instead selectively inhibits the PKR/eIF2 α pathway and the extrinsic apoptotic pathway (502). Several groups have now demonstrated that vIRF-3 can also inhibit p53-induced transcription and p53 stability, resulting in inhibition of apoptosis (497, 503). Post-translational modifications can also affect the function of p53; indeed, vIRF-3 was found to inhibit the SUMOylation of p53 and this correlated with reduced cellular senescence in response to SUMO2 overexpression or IFN treatment (504). A recent publication calls into question whether endogenous vIRF-3 (or vIRF-1, as described above in section 1.6.1.1) alters p53 protein levels (471). Using knockdown of endogenous vIRF-3 in KSHV infected cells, or vIRF-3-null mutant viruses, these authors found that vIRF-3 had no effect on p53 stability. Instead, the authors showed that vIRF-3 interacts with USP7, resulting in enhanced cell viability of latently infected PEL cells and reduced virus production during reactivation (471). Thus vIRF-3 may help

maintain latency. As stated before, the authors of this study suggested that their different p53 results may have to do with the use of over-expression systems rather than endogenous levels of vIRF-3, or may be due to different cell lines used in each study. Lastly, vIRF-3 has been shown to inhibit the FOXO3A transcription factor, blocking G_2 /M cell cycle arrest (which can lead to apoptosis) (505).

Role of vIRF-3 in oncogenesis

Several studies have focused on elucidating a role for vIRF-3 in the development of KSHV driven malignancies. PEL cell survival has been shown to require vIRF-3 expression, as knockdown of vIRF-3 resulted in the activation of caspase-3 and -7, as well as reduced proliferation of the PEL cells (506). Additionally, vIRF-3 disrupts PML-NBs in PEL cells resulting in the up-regulation of the survivin gene, as PML protein is a negative transcriptional-regulator of survivin (451). Survivin is a member of the inhibitor of apoptosis (IAP) protein family and is highly expressed in many cancers (507). Another prototypical oncogene is c-Myc, which has roles in regulating cell growth and survival. Transcription mediated by c-Myc is repressed by myc modulator-1 (MM-1) (508). vIRF-3 can bind to MM-1 α (the most abundant and most repressive isoform of MM-1) and inhibit its interactions with c-Myc (509, 510). Additionally, vIRF-3 interacts with S-phase kinase-associated protein 2 (Skp2) to enhance c-Myc mediated transcription and increase the half-life of c-Myc (511). Other possible connections between vIRF-3 and malignant progression, which have not been fully elucidated, include: 1) vIRF-3 interacts with and inhibits the SUMOylation of

the pocket proteins, Rb, p107, and p130 (involved in tumor suppression), 2) vIRF-3 inhibits T-cell factor (TCF)-dependent transcriptional activities (deregulation may contribute to oncogenesis), and 3) interaction of vIRF-3 with histone deacetylase 5 (HDAC5) in lymphatic endothelial cells results in spindle cell morphology and hyper-sprouting formation (501, 512, 513).

Innate immune modulation by vIRF-3

Similar to vIRF-1 and vIRF-2, vIRF-3 is also able to interact with cellular IRFs. The outcome of these interactions, however, is not as clear as with vIRF-1 or -2. Both exogenously and endogenously expressed IRF5 protein coimmunoprecipitates with endogenous vIRF-3 protein in multiple KSHV-infected cell lines (514, 515). In reporter cell lines, exogenous vIRF-3 expression inhibits IRF5 mediated activation of IFN α and IFN β promoters. In this same system, it was found that overexpression of vIRF-3 also results in reduced type I IFN production following Newcastle disease virus infection, indicating that vIRF-3 can prevent virally-induced production of IFN (514). vIRF-3 was found to inhibit the transactivating function of IRF5 by preventing it from binding to DNA promoters (514, 515).

Additionally, vIRF-3 has been shown to modulate the activities of IRF3 and IRF7. One report demonstrated a repressive function for vIRF-3, in which cotransfection of vIRF-3 with either IRF3 or IRF7 (in mouse NIH3T3 cells) resulted in reduced activation of the IFN α 4 promoter following virus-stimulation, when compared to transfection of either IRF3 or IRF7 alone (496). However, a second report from the same group presented data that vIRF-3 enhances activation of

IFN α and IFN β promoters in human cell lines (516). The authors of this study showed that exogenous vIRF-3 complexes with endogenous IRF3 and IRF7; this interaction does not inhibit these cellular IRFs from binding to CBP/p300, and the presence of vIRF-3 increases the DNA binding affinity of this complex. When vIRF-3 was over-expressed, the transactivation of IFN α and IFN β promoters by IRF3 and IRF7 following Sendai virus infection was increased compared to IRF3 and IRF7 alone (516).

Like vIRF-2, vIRF-3 has also been found to be capable of modulating NF κ B signaling. As stated above, NF κ B must first dissociate from I κ B α before it can translocate and act in the nucleus. This dissociation is partly regulated by the I κ B Kinase (IKK) complex, of which IKK β is a member (517). Transiently expressed vIRF-3 selectively binds to and inhibits IKK β kinase activity leading to repression of the NF κ B transactivating functions (518).

Additionally, vIRF-3 is able to inhibit PKR signaling. Ectopic expression of vIRF-3 inhibited the PKR-mediated block in translation as well as apoptosis; however, no direct interaction between vIRF-3 and PKR was found (502). Therefore, vIRF-3 likely utilizes a different mechanism than vIRF-2 to inhibit PKR signaling. Interestingly, exogenous expression of vIRF-3 was not able to inhibit PKR activation of NF κ B (502).

Adaptive immune modulation by vIRF-3

In addition to its innate immune evasion functions, vIRF-3 also plays a role in the evasion of the adaptive immune response. While vIRF-1 functions to down modulate MHC class I molecules, vIRF-3 has been found to play a role in the

inhibition of MHC class II expression (519, 520). MHC class II transcription is induced by the MHC class II transactivator protein, CIITA, and CIITA transcription is induced by IFNγ (521). Overexpression of vIRF-3 inhibits the transcription of CIITA by inhibiting the production of IFNγ, which results in the reduced levels of MHC class II transcripts and protein (519, 520). Additional data also suggests a CIITA-independent mechanism for the downregulation of MHC class II transcription. While overexpression of vIRF-3 in a KSHV-negative B cell line resulted in the reduction of both CIITA and MHC class II transcripts, the knock down of vIRF-3 in a KSHV-positive B cell line resulted in a reduction in MHC class II transcripts without a change in CIITA transcript levels (520). The CIITAindependent mechanism of vIRF-3 regulation of MHC class II expression has not yet been elucidated.

To date, vIRF-3 has been demonstrated to have the most functions of all the vIRFs. vIRF-3 is an attractive therapeutic target because it is expressed during both latent and lytic infection as well as having pleitropic effects.

1.6.1.4 vIRF-4

Work on KSHV vIRF-4 has revealed an important role in reactivation and lytic replication. vIRF-4 is expressed during lytic replication and, until very recently, had no immune modulatory functions attributed to it. RTA /ORF50 is the regulator of the switch to lytic replication in KSHV infection, and vIRF-4 works with RTA to induce efficient reactivation, at least with regards to a subset of lytic viral genes (522). KSHV lytic gene expression is further enhanced by vIRF-4 mediated suppression of cellular IRF4 expression (523). Cellular IRF4 negatively

regulates B-Cell lymphoma 6 (BCL6), a gene shown to enhance the expression of lytic KSHV genes. Thus, when vIRF-4 suppresses cellular IRF4, there is an up-regulation of BCL6 and enhanced KSHV lytic gene expression. The suppression of IRF4 also results in the downregulation of c-Myc. While c-Myc is important for malignant progression and maintaining latency, efficient reactivation and lytic replication requires the loss of c-Myc expression. Therefore, multiple genes regulated by the vIRF-4 repression of cellular IRF4 may change the cellular environment to favor lytic replication. vIRF-4 can further modulate the cellular environment to favor KSHV lytic replication. First, vIRF-4 can inhibit the G1-S transition in the cell cycle, and this enhances virus replication. It is hypothesized that viruses promote inhibition of the G1-S transition so that they do not have to compete with cellular genome replication for free nucleotides during viral replication. Second, vIRF-4 can interact with murine double minute 2 (MDM2) to inhibit the degradation of MDM2 and enhance p53 degradation. An interaction with USP7 (also known as HAUSP) was also found in this study, however the vIRF-4/MDM2 interaction resulted in greater p53 degradation than the vIRF-4/USP7 interaction. The enhancement of p53 degradation inhibits apoptosis so that lytic viral replication can continue. Lastly, an interaction between vIRF-4 and IRF7 was discovered, which inhibits IRF7 dimerization and subsequent induction of type I IFN transcription (524). Innate immune evasion is critical in the early stages of lytic infection, so that robust replication can occur and additional immune-modulatory viral proteins can be synthesized. Overall, it

appears that vIRF-4 is critical for the latent to lytic switch and establishing a robust lytic reactivation.

KSHV vIRF research to date has revealed many important functions that contribute to many aspects of the viral lifecycle as well as disease progression. The ability to test the vIRF functions during *in vivo* infection would further elucidate their importance for the virus as well as provide a means to test the therapeutic targeting of these ORFs for the treatment of KSHV infection. One way to achieve this is with the use of the RRV/RM model.

1.6.2 RRV vIRFs

The eight RRV vIRFs (encoded by ORFs R6 through R13) are located in the same region of the genome as the KSHV vIRFs (137, 139). Due to the sequence identities between the first 4 RRV vIRFs (R6-R9) and the last 4 (R10-R13), it has been hypothesized that a genetic duplication event may have given rise to the 8 vIRFs encoded by RRV (137). Regardless of how the RRV vIRFs arose, mounting evidence suggests that the vIRFs have functionally diverged from each other (140, 463). Six of the RRV vIRF protein sequences share some level of identity with KSHV vIRF-1 (21%-28%) while R9 and R12 share some level of identity with KSHV vIRF-3 (25%) and vIRF-2 (23%), respectively (Table 1). Unlike KSHV, RRV displays robust lytic replication *in vitro*, allowing for the unique opportunity to study the function of vIRFs during *de novo* infection (101, 525-527). A complete analysis of the function of all 8 RRV vIRFs is still forthcoming; however, much has already been learned about the function of several of the vIRFs both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

1.6.2.1 RRV vIRF immune modulation in vitro

Analysis of individual vIRFs in vitro

Analysis of the RRV vIRF R6 has been performed using both in vitro overexpression systems and virological approaches (463). Using a luciferase reporter rhesus fibroblast cell line and transient transfection of RRV R6, it was shown that R6 could inhibit the activation of the ISRE promoter by poly(I:C). This inhibition correlated with the reverse transcription (RT)-PCR results showing that transient transfection of RRV R6 could reduce IFN β transcripts by 50% in poly(I:C)-stimulated cells compared to empty vector. Further, it was found that R6 achieves this inhibition of the IFN β response by binding to CBP and phosphorylated IRF3. Due to this interaction, R6 prevents the CBP/p300/IRF3 complex from binding to DNA, resulting in the shuttling of phosphorylated IRF3 out of the nucleus, followed by proteasomal degradation. Finally, using both exogenously expressed R6 and an infectious bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC)-derived form of RRV encoding a form of R6 tagged with an HA epitope tag, R6 was shown to act early during infection, and was also demonstrated to be packaged within the virion. As a result, this virion-associated form of R6 can function immediately upon infection to inhibit IFN β transcription (463).

Transient transfection of either R10 or R11 inhibited the poly(I:C)stimulated secretion of type I IFN, although to a lesser extent than R6 (140). Interestingly, transient transfection of R7 into a rhesus fibroblast luciferase reporter cell line, followed by transfection of poly(I:C) stimulation, revealed that

R7 does not inhibit type I IFN transcription or secretion. In fact R7 appeared to enhance the stimulation by poly(I:C) compared to empty vector (140).

Thus initial investigations into the RRV vIRFs *in vitro* have found some overlapping functions but also some distinctions that necessitate further investigation.

Analysis of the complete set of RRV vIRFs in vitro

Using an infectious BAC of RRV strain 17577, a recombinant virus was generated in which all eight vIRF-encoding ORFs were deleted from the viral genome, resulting in the production of a vIRF knockout virus (RRV_{vIRF-KO}) (140). Analysis of this recombinant RRV_{vIRF-KO} virus indicated that it displayed similar growth kinetics in rhesus fibroblasts *in vitro* when compared to wild-type BAC-derived RRV (WT-BAC RRV). However, *in vitro* infection of RM PBMCs or splenocytes with RRV_{vIRF-KO} indicated that this virus was less efficient at infecting these cells than WT-BAC RRV, implying that vIRFs help RRV establish infection.

It was suggested that this differential infection efficiency between the two viruses was due to differential inhibition of the IFN response. This was confirmed by the analysis of transcript levels in infected telomerized rhesus fibroblasts and rhesus PBMCs, where it was found that $RRV_{vIRF-KO}$ virus induced higher levels of both type I and type II IFNs compared to WT-BAC RRV between 6 and 72 hours post-infection. One cell type that was found to display similar infection efficiencies for both $RRV_{vIRF-KO}$ and WT-BAC RRV was plasmacytoid DCs. In rhesus plasmacytoid DCs, intracellular cytokine staining showed that $RRV_{vIRF-KO}$ virus infection compared to

WT-BAC RRV. These results suggest a role for the RRV vIRFs in the suppression of both the type I and type II IFN response, early during RRV infection. In addition, Western blot analysis and immunofluorescence microscopy showed that $RRV_{vIRF-KO}$ infection of rhesus fibroblasts resulted in increased levels of phosphorylated IRF3 within the nucleus compared to WT-BAC RRV infection (140). This implies that vIRF modulation of IRF3 may be one mechanism by which RRV suppresses the type I IFN response.

Taken together, these findings all clearly demonstrate that the vIRFs function in inhibiting IFN production during RRV infection.

1.6.2.2 RRV vIRF immune modulation in vivo

Analysis of the effects of vIRF deletion on *in vivo* infection and immune regulation was accomplished by infecting RMs with RRV_{vIRF-KO} virus and comparing this to RMs infected with WT-BAC RRV. In these studies, expanded specific pathogen-free RMs seronegative for RRV were infected intravenously (*iv*) with $5x10^{6}$ PFU of either WT-BAC RRV or RRV_{vIRF-KO} (464). These studies were the first to analyze the function of any viral vIRFs during *de novo* infection *in vivo*. The results of this work indicated that the RRV vIRFs aid in the initial infection, replication, and persistence of the virus. Specifically, infection of RMs with RRV_{vIRF-KO} virus resulted in lower viral DNA loads (measured in whole blood) and less viremia compared to WT-BAC RRV infection. Additionally, levels of RRV genomes were below the limit of detection by qPCR in CD20⁺ B cells isolated from RRV_{vIRF-KO} -infected RMs at 3, 6, and 9 months post infection (and could

only be detected by the more sensitive nested PCR) compared to WT-BAC RRVinfected RMs where RRV genomes were detectable by qPCR (464).

Innate immune modulation in vivo

Following experimental IV infection of RMs with either WT-BAC RRV or RRV_{vIRF-KO}, the plasma from each RM was incubated with type I IFN reporter cells to quantify the amount of type I IFN in the plasma. This sensitive assay revealed that the vIRFs are important for inhibiting the type I IFN response early during infection (within the first two weeks). Specifically, 75% of RRV_{vIRF-KO} - infected RMs had measurable levels of type I IFN in their plasma at one day post-infection, and all animals displayed sustained type I IFN levels in their plasma within the first two weeks of infection (464). In comparison, only 50% of the WT-BAC RRV-infected RMs had any measurable type I IFN in their plasma during the first two weeks, and only 33% of RMs had sustained type I IFN levels in their suggest the RRV vIRFs play a role in the suppression of the type I IFN response at early time-points during *in vivo* infection.

Adaptive immune modulation in vivo

In addition to their effects on innate immune responses *in vivo*, the RRV vIRFs were also found to inhibit the development of RRV-specific T cell responses, especially within the first two weeks of infection. $RRV_{vIRF-KO}$ infection of RMs resulted in the detection of RRV-specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells 7 to 14 days earlier than with WT-BAC RRV-infected RMs, perhaps due to the increased type I IFN response within the RRV_{vIRF-KO} infected RMs (464). In line with these

differences in T cell responses, IFN γ and IL-12p40 (two cytokines important for development of a T_{H1} response) were detected in plasma of RRV_{vIRF-KO} -infected RMs at elevated levels throughout the first week of infection (IFN γ), or became detectable two weeks earlier (IL-12p40) than in WT-BAC RRV-infected RMs (464). IFN γ was detected in the plasma of RRV_{VIRF-KO} -infected RMs during the first 7 days post-infection, while WT-BAC RRV-infected RMs only displayed detectable levels of IFN γ in plasma at day 1 post-infection. IL-12p40 was detected in plasma of RRV_{VIRF-KO} -infected RMs one day after infection, but was not detected at similar levels in the plasma of WT-BAC RRV-infected RMs until day 14 post-infection (464). Thus, the RRV vIRFs also affect the development of adaptive immune responses. This could be the result of the vIRF suppression of type I IFN responses, or direct effects on adaptive immune pathways. Detailed in vitro characterization of each RRV vIRF would no doubt elucidate the mechanism of adaptive immune suppression. A summary of the KSHV and RRV vIRF roles in immune evasion are depicted in Figure 1.7 and Table 2 below.



Figure 1.7 Immune Evasion Functions of KSHV and RRV vIRFs

	In Vitro	In Vivo		
Innate Immune Evasion	vIRFs reduce transcript levels of type I and type II IFNs between 6-72 hpi in telo-RhFs and PBMCs	vIRFs reduce IFNa levels in plasma during the first two weeks of infection	Innate Immune Evasion	
	vIRFs inhibit the production of IFNa by plasmacytoid DCs	vIRFs inhibit sustained production of IFN gamma in plasma during the first two weeks of infection	Adap	
	R6 binds CBP and phosphorylated IRF3, prevents complex binding and inhibits IFN beta production	vIRFs inhibit the appearance of IL-12p40 in plasma during the first two weeks of infection	otive Imm Evasion	
	R10 and R11 both inhibit poly(I:C) stimulated secretion of type I IFN in HEK293 cells	vIRFs delay the RRV-specific CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T cell response	nune	

	Table 2.	Effects	of RRV	vIRFs	in vitro	and i	n vivo
--	----------	---------	--------	-------	----------	-------	--------

1.7 Concluding remarks

Analysis of the vIRFs encoded by KSHV and RRV has shown that these viral proteins act in multiple ways to affect the immune response to viral infection (Figure 1.7). Data obtained thus far on the RRV vIRFs suggests similar roles, and perhaps mechanisms, for immune evasion as compared with the proposed functions of the KSHV vIRFs (Table 2). RRV *in vivo* studies have also demonstrated that vIRFs have a functional consequence on *de novo* viral infection, aiding in the establishment of infection in the host by suppressing both the innate and adaptive immune responses. This thesis addresses the role of RRV vIRFs and one in particular, R12, in the evasion of type I IFN signaling. *In vivo*, RRV will undoubtedly encounter type I IFNs produced by infected cells or neighboring uninfected cells. The ability of the virus to dampen or turn off type I IFN signaling to prevent ISG induction would subvert the expression of antiviral effectors and enable replicating virus to more efficiently spread throughout the host even in the presence of type I IFN.

In chapter 2, I demonstrate that the RRV vIRFs aid the disruption of PML-NBs during infection, reduce ISG transcription, and enhance viral replication in the presence of type I IFN signaling. I further characterize the specific vIRF R12, as having a crucial role in this evasion of type I IFN signaling through its interaction with PML-NBs. This work demonstrates for the first time that a RRV vIRF plays a role in the disruption of PML-NBs and can modulate the signaling cascade downstream of type I IFN binding to receptors.

CHAPTER 2

Rhesus Macaque Rhadinovirus Encodes a Viral Interferon Regulatory Factor to Disrupt Promyelocytic Leukemia Nuclear Bodies and Antagonize Type I Interferon Signaling.

Laura K. Springgay^{a,b}, Kristin Fitzpatrick^b, Ryan D. Estep^{b,}, Scott W. Wong^{a,b,c,#}

^aDepartment of Molecular Microbiology and Immunology, Oregon Health &

Science University, Portland, Oregon, USA

^b Vaccine & Gene Therapy Institute, Beaverton, Oregon, USA

^c Division of Pathobiology and Immunology, Oregon National Primate Research

Center, Beaverton, Oregon, USA

Running Title: Viral IRF of RRV disrupts PML nuclear bodies

- Manuscript was written by Laura Springgay.
- All experiments were performed by Laura Springgay except:
 - Cell sorting by flow cytometry was performed by Eric McDonald with the help of Kristin Fitzpatrick.
 - The WT RRV₁₇₅₇₇ BAC used in the construction of the RRV R12 mutants was originally constructed by Ryan Estep.
 - The RRV_{vIRF-KO} virus was constructed by Bridget Robinson.

2.1 Abstract

Interferon (IFN) production and the subsequent induction of IFN stimulated genes (ISGs) are highly effective strategies utilized by cells to protect against invading pathogens, including viruses. Promyelocytic Leukemia Nuclear Bodies (PML-NBs) are sub-nuclear structures that are critical for the development of a robust IFN response. As such, PML-NBs serve as an important hurdle for viruses to overcome to successfully establish an infection. Both Kaposi sarcoma Herpesvirus (KSHV) and the closely related rhesus macaque rhadinovirus (RRV) are unique for encoding viral homologues to IFN regulatory factors (termed vIRFs) that can manipulate the host immune response by multiple mechanisms. In our current study we demonstrate that the RRV vIRF R12 aids viral replication in the presence of the type I IFN response. This is achieved in part through the disruption of PML-NBs and the inhibition of robust ISG transcription.

2.2 Importance

KSHV and RRV encode a unique set of homologs to cellular IFN regulatory factors, termed vIRFs, which are hypothesized to help these viruses evade the innate immune response and establish infections in their respective hosts. Our work elucidates the role of one RRV vIRF, R12, and demonstrates that RRV can dampen the type I IFN response downstream of IFN signaling, which would be important for establishing a successful infection *in vivo*.

2.3 Introduction

All viruses must employ tactics to evade or counteract the host immune response, if they are to successfully establish an infection. The cell's first line of
defense against infection is the innate immune system. Recent studies have found that viruses can antagonize the innate immune system by disrupting Promyelocytic Leukemia Nuclear Bodies (PML-NBs) (208, 232, 528). PML-NBs are constitutively expressed, multi-protein punctate structure located within the nucleus of most cell types (196). Proteins found in PML-NB are either permanent residents (PML, SP100, Daxx) or transiently present (CBP, P300, p53) (196, 214, 232, 528-531). The PML proteins are absolutely required to form PML-NBs and evidence suggests that SUMOylation of PML and some of the other PMLresident proteins is important to form these structures (211, 221). Multiple functions have been attributed to PML-NBs including cell-cycle regulation, antiviral defense, as sites where proteins are SUMO modified, and transcriptional regulation (208, 232, 528). The anti-viral functions of PML-NBs have been shown to restrict herpesvirus infections. PML-NBs can epigenetically silence herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) and human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) viral genomes once they enter the nucleus and PML-NBs composed of PML isoform IV can trap varicella zoster virus (VZV) nucleocapsids to prevent nuclear egress (166, 204, 239, 532). More generally, PML-NBs enhance the induction of interferon (IFN)stimulated genes (ISGs) aiding the establishment of an anti-viral state within the cell (246). While PML and SP100 are constitutively expressed, type I IFN does upregulate their protein expression (243, 244). Several viruses, including human herpesviruses, have been shown to modulate or disperse PML-NBs in order to evade antiviral defenses, regulate viral gene transcription, and replicate (232, 440, 441, 450, 451, 457, 533, 534). For example, HSV-1 encodes ICP0 which

disrupts PML-NBs by degrading SUMO-1 modified forms of PML and SP100 proteins (437). HCMV encodes pp71 and IE1 which both aid in the dispersal of PML-NBs (166, 440). Gamma-herpesviruses have also been reported to antagonize PML-NBs. Kaposi sarcoma herpesvirus (KSHV), a human gamma-2 herpesvirus (γ2HV) encodes ORF75 and viral IFN regulatory factor 3 (vIRF3) to mediate displacement of hDaxx from PML-NBs and induce degradation of PML protein respectively (450, 451). ORF75 homologs of other gamma-herpesviruses [murine gamma-herpesvirus 68 (MHV-68), Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), Herpesvirus Saimiri (HVS), and RRV] have also been implicated in the disruption of PML-NBs (448, 453, 456, 457, 535).

KSHV infection is generally asymptomatic in healthy individuals; however, the virus can promote the development of Kaposi sarcoma (KS), primary effusion lymphoma (PEL), multi-centric Castleman's disease (MCD), and some non-Hodgkin lymphomas (NHL) in immune-compromised individuals, including AIDS patients (103, 536-538). Unfortunately, establishing animal models for KSHV has proven difficult due to species-specific tropism displayed by KSHV. Infection of rhesus macaques (RMs) with KSHV proved ineffective, with no KSHV transcripts or pathologies being detected in infected animals (128). Several mouse models have also been explored with limited success (124, 539, 540). *In vitro*, KSHV produces a predominantly latent infection in cell culture, making the study of virus replication and expression of viral genes difficult (526, 527). A viable alternative is to study an animal virus that can induce similar disease manifestations in its natural host, such as the γ 2HV rhesus macaque rhadinovirus (RRV), which

naturally infects RMs (135, 137). RRV provides a powerful animal model with which to study infection and KSHV-like disease development, as experimental RRV infection of SIV-infected RMs can lead to the development of MCD, NHL and retroperitoneal fibromatosis (a mesenchymal proliferative lesion that possesses cellular features that resembles KS) (134, 152). In vitro, RRV establishes a robust lytic infection in primary RM fibroblast cells, facilitating the growth and propagation of the virus as well as the study of the lytic infection cycle (135, 525, 541, 542). Importantly, the genomes of KSHV and RRV are essentially collinear with both viruses encoding vIRFs. KSHV encodes four vIRF ORFs (vIRF-1 through vIRF-4) and RRV encodes eight (R6 through R13). The vIRFs display as much as 21% identity to cellular IRFs, which are transcription factors involved in regulating IFN and ISG expression (137, 140, 459, 461, 463, 464, 543). Research on the KSHV vIRFs, which has typically involved overexpression systems or chemically induced reactivation of KSHV from latentlyinfected cells *in vitro*, has revealed multiple functions of these molecules, including an ability to antagonize both the innate and adaptive immune responses, and the inhibition of apoptosis (459, 544). RRV provides the opportunity to investigate the function of vIRFs not only during *in vitro* infection, but also during infection *in vivo* in an established non-human primate (NHP) model system. Previously, an RRV bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) system was used to investigate the vIRF ORFs in the context of *de novo* lytic infection both in vitro and in vivo (140, 464). It was shown that while WT RRV and an RRV BAC-derived mutant lacking all 8 vIRF ORFs (RRV_{vIRF-KO}) grew similarly in vitro,

there was a significant growth defect observed *in vivo* with RRV_{vIRF-KO} early during infection, indicating that the type I IFN response is overcome more efficiently when the vIRF ORFs are expressed during viral infection *in vivo* (140, 464). In this current study we show that the RRV vIRFs help to establish a more efficient infection in the presence of type I IFN through the disruption of PML-NBs. Further, we show that the vIRF R12 is necessary but not sufficient for RRV disruption of PML-NBs.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 RRV vIRFs enhance infection in the presence of IFN and are required for the dispersal of PML-NBs.

To determine whether the difference in viral growth between WT RRV and RRV_{VIRF-KO} observed *in vivo* is due to the type I IFN response, a single-step growth curve was performed using primary rhesus fibroblast (RhF) cells that were treated with RhIFN α 2 for 18 hours prior to infection (Fig. 2.1A). In the presence of RhIFN α 2, an almost one-log growth reduction was measured during RRV_{VIRF-KO} infection as compared to WT RRV infections at 12, 24, and 48 hours post infection (hpi). This indicated that vIRFs are capable of inhibiting the negative effects of IFN on viral lytic replication *in vitro*, but did not restore viral growth to levels attained in the absence of IFN. Concentrations of IFN that carried over to the plaque assay plates were confirmed to be insufficient to affect the viral growth assays.

Since PML-NBs enhance the type I IFN response, we investigated whether RRV infection affected the functions of PML-NBs in order to evade the

type I IFN response. Telomerized rhesus fibroblast (Telo-RhFs) cells were infected at an MOI of 2 and infected cells were analyzed over a time-course from 6 to 48 hpi by immunofluorescence analysis (IFA) for PML and RRV-gB protein (Fig. 2.1B). We observed that by 18 hpi the punctate PML-NB staining pattern present in uninfected cells was no longer detectable in WT RRV-infected cells while cells infected with RRV_{VIRF-KO} retained PML-NB staining even by 48 hpi. These results demonstrate that WT RRV can disrupt PML-NBs and suggest that one or more of the RRV vIRFs are necessary for this disruption. We next investigated whether RhIFNa2 treatment affected the kinetics of the loss of PML-NB and found that RhIFN α 2 treatment delayed the loss of PML-NBs during WT RRV infection by 6 hours (PML-NB loss observed at 24 hpi), while PML-NBs remained intact throughout the RRV_{vIRF-KO} infection. Additionally, we investigated whether SP100 and Daxx, two PML-NB resident proteins, remain associated with PML-NBs. Following 24 hours of WT RRV or RRV_{VIRF-KO} infection at an MOI of 2, infected cells were analyzed for SP100 and Daxx by IFA. As expected, the punctate PML staining was absent within the WT RRV infected cells, but was still present in the RRV_{VIRF-KO} infected cells. However, both SP100 and Daxx were absent in the WT RRV and RRV_{vIRF-KO} infected cells, indicating an RRV protein other than the vIRFs is responsible for the loss of SP100 and Daxx (Fig. 2.1C). Interestingly, the staining pattern for Daxx changed in the bystander (RRV-gB negative) cells as well. In the uninfected samples, Daxx displayed punctate structures in the nucleus along with some diffuse nuclear staining. However, in WT RRV and RRV_{vIRF-KO} infected samples, the bystander cells only displayed a

diffuse nuclear staining pattern (right panel, Fig. 2.1C). This could be due to abortive replication occurring within the "bystander" cells, cells that are infected with RRV but the gB protein is not expressed, or a factor secreted by the infected cells may affect the localization of Daxx within the bystander cells. To quantify the loss of PML-NBs observed by IFA, the number of gB positive cells with and without PML-NBs was counted at 36 hpi (several hours after the PML-NB disruption by WT RRV had begun but before cytopathic effects of viral infection could obscure results) with either WT RRV or RRV_{vIRF-KO} (Fig. 2.1D). Following WT RRV infection 11% of the gB positive cells still contained PML-NBs. However, following RRV_{VIRF-KO} infection 90% of gB positive cells retained PML-NBs. The difference in gB positive cells containing PML-NBs between WT RRV and RRV_{vIRF-KO} infections was statistically significant (p<0.0001). RhIFN α 2 treatment did not alter this phenotype as 21% of WT RRV infected cells had PML-NBs while 96% of RRV_{vIRF-KO} infected cells contained PML-NBs. In addition, the number of PML-NBs within nuclei of gB-positive cells in the same 36 hpi samples was also counted and revealed a statistically significant (p < 0.01) difference between the two virus infected cultures in the absence or presence of RhIFN α 2. Specifically, there were less PML-NB punctate structures per nucleus in WT RRV-infected cells (average of 2 PML-NBs per nuclei of RhIFN α 2 treated cells and an average of 7 PML-NBs per nucleus in the absence of RhIFN α 2) as compared to samples infected with $RRV_{VIRF-KO}$ (averages of 16 or 21, with or without RhIFN α 2, respectively) (Fig. 2.1E).

To determine whether the loss of PML-NBs observed by IFA was due to a

loss of PML proteins or to dispersal of PML-NBs, telo-RhFs were infected with a GFP expressing WT RRV (WT RRV-GFP) or RRV_{vIRF-KO} (RRV_{vIRF-KO}-GFP) at an MOI of 5 for 24 hours, followed by sorting the infected cells based on GFP expression. The MOI was increased to 5 in order to attain a greater percentage of RRV infected cells as the infection of Telo-RhF cells by RRV is not efficient. Nuclear and cytoplasmic protein extracts were prepared from the GFP+ cells and resolved by SDS-PAGE for Western blot analysis (Fig. 2.1F). This revealed that 24 hpi with WT RRV-GFP, there was a reduction in PML isoforms I and II protein level by approximately 75% compared to mock infected cells. This differed from RRV_{vIRF-KO}-GFP infection where an increase in the levels of PML protein isoforms I and II was detected compared to mock infected cells. This suggests that expression of one or more of the vIRFs induces the degradation of PML proteins.





Figure 2.1. RRV vIRFs increase viral titers in the presence of IFN and are

necessary for PML-NB disruption. A) Primary RhFs were infected with WT RRV or RRV_{VIRF-KO} at an MOI of 2.5 in the presence or absence of 100U/ml RhIFN α 2. Viral titers were measured at the indicated times post infection (pi) by plaque assay and presented as plaque forming units (PFU) per milliliter (mL). Assays were performed in duplicate, replicates averaged, and data were analyzed by unpaired student t test. P values of less than 0.05 were considered significant and asterisks denote the following significant p values: * (p≤0.05) and ** (p≤0.01). B) Telo-RhFs were infected with WT RRV or RRV_{vIRF}. _{KO} at an MOI of 2 in the presence or absence of 100U/ml RhIFN α 2. At the indicated times pi, cells were fixed with methanol and stained with PML (red) and RRV-gB (green) specific antibodies while nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue). White arrows indicate infected cells that have lost PML-NB structures. C) Telo-RhFs were mock infected or infected with WT RRV or RRV_{VIRE-KO} at an MOI of 2 for 24 hours. Cells were fixed with methanol and stained with PML (red), SP100 (red), Daxx (red), and RRV-gB (green) specific antibodies. Nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue). White arrows indicate infected cells that have lost PML, SP100, or Daxx punctate structures. Red arrows indicate infected cells that still contain PML-NB structures. (B-C) Experiments were performed twice in duplicate and representative images are shown. D) PML/RRV-gB double positive cells (grey) as well as RRV-gB positive/PML negative cells (black) were counted at 36hpi from cells treated as in part (B). Data were analyzed by two-tailed Fisher's exact test and p values of less than 0.05 were considered significant. E) Of the RRV-gB positive cells that were positive for PML-NBs in part (D), the number of PML-NBs was counted within the nuclei of each cell. Data were analyzed by unpaired student t test with p values less than 0.05 considered significant. (D-E) Experiments were performed twice

and one representative experiment is shown. F) Telo-RhFs were infected with WT RRV-GFP or RRV_{vIRF-KO}-GFP at an MOI of 5 for 24 hours, before sorting the GFP positive cells by flow cytometry. Proteins from sorted infected cells, untreated cells, and cells treated with 100U/ml RhIFN α 2 for 18 hours, were harvested. Cytoplasmic and nuclear proteins were separated before analysis by SDS-PAGE and probed with PML, lamin A/C, RRV-ORF52, and GAPDH specific antibodies. Densitometry on the PML isoform I/II band was preformed and normalized to the lamin A/C loading control. Experiment was performed three times and one representative experiment is shown.

2.4.2 The RRV vIRF R12 co-localizes with PML-NBs.

Previous unpublished work from our laboratory showed that during transient transfection assays, R12 localized to the nucleus in punctate structures (data not shown) while the other seven vIRFs were localized diffusely throughout the nucleus and/or cytoplasm. Thus, we first investigated R12 as a potential vIRF involved in the disruption of PML-NBs. A doxycycline (dox)-inducible telo-RhF cell line that expressed R12 tagged with a C-terminal FLAG-epitope was constructed to assess R12 involvement in PML-NB disruption. After 18 hours of dox treatment, IFA and z-stack analysis revealed that R12-FLAG protein is expressed, co-localizes with PML-NBs, and appears to be encased in PML protein (Fig. 2.2A). The optimal dox concentration was determined to be 2ug/ml and was used for all experiments with the R12-inducible cell line, and R12 protein was expressed as early as 4 hours post treatment (Fig. 2.2 B and C). While R12 localizes to PML-NBs, the expression of R12 alone (in the presence or absence of RhIFNα2) does not lead to the disappearance of PML

immunoreactivity, even up to 72 hours post dox treatment (Fig. 2.2D). However, there was a statistically significant change in the number of PML-NBs, as untreated cells had an average of 16 PML-NBs per nuclei while the cells expressing R12-FLAG averaged 7.5 PML-NBs (Fig. 2.2E). A reduction in the number of PML-NBs following R12 expression was also observed in the presence of RhIFN α 2 treatment with an average of 19.5 PML-NBs in RhIFN α 2 treated cells and 13 PML-NBs in R12-FLAG and RhIFN α 2 treated cells (p<0.0001). While the number of PML-NBs per nucleus declined in the presence of R12 protein expression, the size of the PML-NBs appeared to increase, suggesting that R12 may promote the re-organization of these sub-nuclear structures (Fig. 2.2D). Western blot analysis of R12-FLAG-inducible cells showed that un-SUMOylated PML isoforms I and II decreased when R12 was expressed (Fig. 2.2F, first 4 lanes from the left). RhIFN α 2 treatment further revealed that while R12 expression decreased the un-SUMOylatd PML I/II isoforms, there was also an increase in SUMOylated versions of PML (Fig. 2.2F, last 6 lanes). The anti-FLAG western blot revealed that in addition to the presence of a protein of the predicted size of R12 (37kDa), additional larger protein species were also observed at around 45kDa and 75kDa (Fig. 2.2F). While this may be a nonspecific cross-reaction with the FLAG antibody, it is also conceivable that R12 protein is post-translationally modified. Analysis of the R12 protein sequence reveals possible SUMOylation, farnesylation, and palmitoylation sites.



Figure 2.2 Exogenously expressed vIRF R12 co-localizes with PML-NBs. A) R12-FLAG inducible telo-RhF cells were treated with 2ug/ml dox for 18 hours and then fixed with methanol and stained with FLAG (green) and PML (red) specific antibodies. Images

at 40X magnification are presented along with a 63X magnification and cut view of the cell highlighted by the white box. White arrows indicate R12 protein surrounded by PML protein. B) Indicated concentrations of dox were added to telo-RhF cells for 18 hours before protein lysates were harvested and analyzed by SDS-PAGE and probed with anti-FLAG and anti-GAPDH specific antibodies. C) Telo-RhF cells were treated with 2ug/ml dox for the indicated hours before protein lysates were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and probed with anti-FLAG and anti-GAPDH specific antibodies. D) Telo-RhFs that were dox inducible for R12-FLAG expression were left untreated, treated with 100U/ml RhIFN α 2 for 18 hours, or treated with 2ug/ml dox and 100U/ml RhIFN α 2 for the indicated hours before fixation with methanol. Fixed cells were stained with FLAG (green) and PML (red) specific antibodies while nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue). White arrows indicate examples of cells with large PML-NB structures. Images at 40X magnification are presented. (A and D) Experiments performed three times and representative images are shown. E) Number of PML-NBs within nuclei of untreated cells or cells treated with 2ug/ml dox, 100U/ml RhIFN α 2, or both dox and RhIFN α 2 for 18 hours is presented in the graph. Data were analyzed by unpaired student t test with p values less than 0.05 considered significant. Experiments were performed twice and representative experiment is shown. F) R12-FLAG inducible telo-RhF cells was left untreated, treated with 2ug/ml dox, 100U/ml RhIFN α 2, or dox and RhIFN α 2 for the indicated times, or pretreated with dox for 18 hours before 10 hours of RhIFN α 2 treatment. Nuclear protein lysates were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and probed with PML, FLAG, and lamin A/C specific antibodies. Densitometry on the PML isoform I/II band was performed and normalized to the lamin A/C loading control (D=dox and I=RhIFNa2). Experiments were performed three times and representative experiments are presented.

2.4.3 R12 co-immunoprecipitates with PML protein.

To determine whether the localization of R12 with PML-NBs was due to an interaction between PML protein and R12 protein, we performed coimmunoprecipitation (co-IP) assays. Using the dox-inducible R12 cell line, cells were treated with or without dox to induce R12 expression and with or without RhIFNα2 to up-regulate PML protein expression. Following separation of cytoplasmic and nuclear lysates, PML protein was immunoprecipitated from the nuclear lysates, resolved by SDS-PAGE, and then analyzed by Western blot analysis for R12 protein. By this analysis, we observed FLAG-tagged R12 protein co-immunoprecipitated with PML protein only after dox induction, plus or minus RhIFN α 2 (Fig. 2.3A). The immunoprecipitation of FLAG-tagged R12 also resulted in the detection of high molecular weight PML protein (possibly SUMOylated PML) by western blot analysis (Fig. 2.3B). Importantly, the interaction of R12 with PML protein appears to be specific, as R12-FLAG does not co-purify with SP100 or Daxx (Fig. 2.3B). To further investigate the high molecular weight PML bands that co-purify with R12-FLAG protein, we harvested R12-FLAG cells treated with dox and immediately boiled the cell lysates. We immunoprecipitated PML proteins and performed Western blot analysis with SUMO-1 and SUMO-2/3 specific antibodies. High molecular weight protein bands (the same size as was observed in figure 2.3B) were detectable by anti-SUMO-1 and anti-SUMO-2/3 antibodies (Fig. 2.3C). This is consistent with previous publications that have shown that SUMOylation of PML is necessary for PML to interact with other proteins and to form PML-NBs (219). Additional studies have also found that a

SUMO-interacting motif (SIM) contained within the PML protein may be necessary for the interaction of PML with other SUMOylated proteins (545). While prediction software identified four possible SIMs in the R12 protein sequence, our analysis of immunoprecipitated R12-FLAG protein found that R12 protein was SUMO-1 modified (data not shown and Fig. 2.3C). Western blot analysis of total nuclear lysates, to control for total protein input levels, revealed that SP100 protein levels were not altered by the expression of R12-FLAG while Daxx protein levels may be slightly increased following R12-FLAG expression and RhIFN α 2 treatment (Fig. 2.3D).



Figure 2.3. Ectopically expressed R12 protein co-immunoprecipitates with PML protein.

A) R12-FLAG inducible telo-RhF cells was untreated or treated for 18 hours with 100U/ml RhIFN α 2, 2ug/ml dox, or both RhIFN α 2 and dox. Nuclear protein lysates were immunoprecipitated (IP) with a PML specific antibody before resolving proteins on SDS-PAGE. Western blots were probed with PML and FLAG specific antibodies. B) R12-FLAG inducible cell line was treated for 18 hours with 2ug/ml dox or for 18 hours with 100U/ml RhIFNα2 and 2ug/ml dox. Nuclear protein lysates were IP with a FLAG specific antibody before resolving the proteins on SDS-PAGE. Western blots were probed with PML, SP100, Daxx, and FLAG specific antibodies. (*) denotes high molecular weight R12-FLAG protein. C) R12-FLAG inducible cell line was treated for 18 hours with 2ug/ml dox or for 18 hours with 100U/ml RhIFN α 2 and 2ug/ml dox. Cells were lysed in RIPA buffer with 1% SDS and boiled for 5 minutes before IP with PML or FLAG specific antibodies. IP lysates were resolved on SDS-PAGE and Western blots were probed with PML, SUMO-1, SUMO-2/3, and FLAG specific antibodies. D) R12-FLAG inducible cell line was treated for 18 hours with 100U/ml RhIFN α 2, 2ug/ml dox, RhIFN α 2 and dox, or left untreated. Protein input control from total nuclear lysates were also subjected to SDS-PAGE and Western blots were probed with SP100, Daxx, PML, FLAG, and Lamin A/C specific antibodies. Experiments were performed at least twice and representative Western blots are shown.

2.4.4 Ectopic R12 protein expression during RRV_{VIRF-KO} infection results in the loss of PML-NBs.

Because $RRV_{VIRF-KO}$ infection did not result in the loss of PML-NBs and R12 appears to interact with PML-NBs, we next asked whether exogenous expression

of R12 could rescue the WT RRV phenotype during infection with RRV_{vIRF-KO}. To test this, the dox-inducible R12 cell line was infected with RRV_{vIRF-KO} in the presence or absence of dox (Fig. 2.4). We found that only when R12-FLAG expression was induced by dox treatment did the RRV_{vIRF-KO} infection result in a loss of PML-NBs, similar to what is observed during WT RRV infection, demonstrating R12 is sufficient for this phenotype.



Figure 2.4. Exogenous expression of R12 protein during RRV_{vIRF-KO} **infection results in a loss of PML-NB structures.** R12-FLAG inducible cell line was treated with dox for 18 hours, or left untreated, before infection with RRV_{vIRF-KO} at an MOI of 2 for 24 hours (dox was kept on through out the infection). Cells were fixed with methanol and stained with antibodies specific for PML (red), FLAG (green), RRV-gB (purple) and nuclei stained with DAPI (blue). Boxes indicate the infected cells. 63x magnification images were obtained by confocal microscopy. The experiment was performed four times and representative images are shown.

2.4.5 Construction of recombinant R12 mutant RRV.

In order to examine the contribution of R12 towards the disruption of PML-

NBs within the context of RRV infection, we constructed two recombinant viruses using the RRV₁₇₅₇₇ BAC (RRV BAC) system. An R12 mutant RRV (RRV_{R12ns}) converting the start codon into a stop codon in the R12 ORF and encoding a FLAG epitope tag at the C-terminus of the R12 ORF was constructed. Additionally, an R12 rescue mutant RRV (RRV_{R12FLAG}) encoding FLAG tagged R12 but lacking any other mutations was constructed so that endogenous R12 could be detected following infection (Fig. 2.5A). Following the construction of the mutant RRV-BAC DNA clones using recombination to insert the mutated R12 sequences, the clones were screened by restriction digestion and Southern blot analysis (Fig. 2.5B-C). Clones were also screened by PCR and sequencing to confirm the correct insertion into the RRV BAC, and the resulting clones were used to generate infectious recombinant virus by transfection into RhF cells. The BAC cassette was removed from the recombinant viruses using CRErecombinase and the loxP sites flanking the BAC cassette. After growth and purification of recombinant viruses, Western blot analysis was performed on nuclear lysates from telo-RhFs infected with both recombinant viruses, which indicated that RRV_{R12FLAG} expresses an R12 FLAG-tagged protein, and that the RRV_{R12ns} virus lacks this R12 protein expression (Fig. 2.5E). Furthermore, RT-PCR analysis of RNA from cells infected with RRV_{R12FLAG} or RRV_{R12ns} indicates that the ORFs immediately upstream and downstream of R12 (R11 and R13) are expressed, and that the altered R12 sequence in both viruses does not affect transcription of neighboring genes (Fig. 2.5D). Lastly, one-step and multi-step growth curve analysis of WT RRV, RRV_{vIRF-KO}, RRV_{R12ns}, and RRV_{R12FLAG}

revealed that all four viruses display the same growth kinetics *in vitro*, indicating the mutations do not affect growth of virus *in vitro* (Fig. 2.5F).



Figure 2.5. RRV_{R12FLAG} and RRV_{R12ns} virus construction and characterization. A)

Schematic of the mutations introduced into the RRV genome to generate RRV_{R12ns} and RRV_{R12FLAG} viruses. B) BamHI restriction digests of WT RRV-BAC, RRV-R12-GalK-KO BAC, RRV_{R12ns}-BAC, and RRV_{R12FLAG}-BAC DNA clones. (*) denotes location of the digest band containing R12 sequence and (<) denotes the increased digest band size that contains the GalK cassette. C) The BamHI digested BAC DNA clones from part (A) were subjected to Southern blot analysis and probed with GalK and R12 specific probes. D) RNA from telo-RhF cells infected with WT RRV, RRV_{R12ns}, or RRV_{R12FLAG} at an MOI of 2.5 for 24 hours was purified. RT-PCR was performed with or without reverse transcriptase enzyme using R11, R13, and GAPDH specific primers and PCR products were subjected to agarose gel electrophoresis. E) Telo-RhFs were left untreated, treated with 100U/ml RhIFNα2 for 18 hours, or infected with WT RRV, RRV_{vIRF-KO}, RRV_{R12ns}, RRV_{R12FLAG} at an MOI of 2.5 for 24 hours. Nuclear and cytoplasmic protein lysates were separated, analyzed by SDS-PAGE, and probed with FLAG, lamin A/C, RRV-ORF52, and GAPDH specific antibodies. F) Primary RhF cells were infected with WT RRV, RRV_{vIRF-KO}, RRV_{R12ns}, or RRV_{R12FLAG} at an MOI of 2.5 (one-step growth curve) or 0.1 (multi-step growth curve) for the indicated times. Viral titers at each time point were determined by plaque assay and presented as plaque forming unit (PFU) per milliliter. Experiments were performed twice and representative experiments are shown except for panel (F) where the average titer from both experiments is graphed.

2.4.6 Endogenous R12 localizes to PML-NBs and is necessary for PML-NB disruption during viral infection.

To characterize the kinetics of endogenous R12 expression during RRV infection we infected telo-RhFs with $RRV_{R12FLAG}$ virus at an MOI of 2.5 and harvested RNA and protein from infected cells every two hours during the first 24

hours of infection. RT-PCR revealed R12 transcripts at every time point tested, even as early as 2 hpi (Fig. 2.6A). To determine if R12 transcripts could be packaged within RRV virions, RNA was purified from WT RRV, RRV_{R12FLAG}, RRV_{R12ns}, or RRV_{vIRF-KO} virions, that were initially treated with micrococcal nuclease to eliminate contaminating infected cell RNA that co-purifies with virus. Purified virion-associated RNA was isolated and subjected to RT-PCR for R12 transcripts. This analysis revealed that RRV RNA specific for R12 is packaged within R12-encoding RRV virions, and that the RRV_{VIRF-KO} negative control did not contain R12 transcripts (Fig. 2.6B). Analysis of R12 protein expression by Western blot revealed that endogenous R12 protein ranges in size from the predicted 37 kDa to above 80 kDa, and displays a laddering effect indicative of post-translational modifications (such as SUMOylation). R12 protein expression within the nucleus was first detected at 8hpi and peaked 16-20 hpi, while R12 protein expression within the cytoplasm was first detected 10 hpi (Fig. 2.6C). It should be noted that ectopic R12 expression within the dox-inducible R12 cell line was strictly nuclear. Interestingly, endogenous R12 protein (produced during RRV infection) levels within the nucleus appeared to oscillate while R12 protein levels within the cytoplasm remained constant (Fig. 2.6C). Using IFA we found endogenous R12 located in both the cytoplasm and the nucleus, and observed that R12 could co-localize with PML-NBs (Fig. 2.6D).

To determine whether endogenous R12 protein produced during RRV infection interacts with PML protein, co-IP assays were performed in $RRV_{R12FLAG}$ infected cells. We found that when PML was immunoprecipitated using a PML-

specific antibody, R12 protein could be detected in the immunoprecipitation lysates (Fig. 2.6E). The R12 protein that co-purifies with PML displays a laddering pattern of different molecular weights. Again, a high molecular weight R12 protein (150-200kDa) was undetectable at 14 hpi in the total nuclear lysates (input controls), but was observed again at 16 hpi (Fig. 2.6E). This may suggest that certain forms of R12 protein can shuttle between the nucleus and cytoplasm.

To investigate whether endogenous R12 is necessary for PML-NB disruption by RRV, we infected telo-RhFs with the RRV_{R12ns} virus for 24 hours followed by IFA. We observed that the RRV_{R12ns} virus was unable to disrupt the PML-NB protein punctate structures similar to the RRV_{vIRF-KO} virus (Fig. 2.6F). RRV_{R12ns} infection did result in a loss of SP100 and Daxx punctate structures with in the nucleus of infected cells (Fig. 2.6F). This result supports our observations in figure 2.1 and suggests that a viral gene product other than a vIRF is responsible for the loss of SP100 and Daxx localization to PML-NB structures.





Figure 2.6. Endogenous R12 can colocalize with PML-NBs, co-immunoprecipitates with PML protein, and is required for RRV disruption of PML-NBs. A) RNA was purified from telo-RhFs mock infected, infected with WT RRV for 24 hours, or RRV_{R12FLAG} for the indicated hours at an MOI of 2.5. RT-PCR was performed with or without reverse transcriptase enzyme using R12 and GAPDH specific primers and PCR products were subjected to agarose gel electrophoresis. B) RNA was purified from viral stocks of RRV_{vIRF-KO}, WT RRV, RRV_{R12FLAG}, and RRV_{R12ns}. As a positive control, a sample of RRV_{vIRF-KO} virions treated with micrococcal nuclease had purified total cellular RNA from a WT RRV infected cell culture spiked into the sample after inactivation of the nuclease (by EGTA) but before virion lysis and RNA purification of virion packaged RNA. 40ng of RNA from each sample was reverse transcribed and PCR amplified using R12 specific primers in the presence or absence of reverse transcriptase. Resulting amplified DNA was resolved on a 1% agarose gel. C) Telo-RhF cells were mock infected or infected with RRV_{R12FLAG} at an MOI of 2.5 for the indicated hours. Nuclear and cytoplasmic protein lysates were separated, resolved by SDS-PAGE, and probed with FLAG, lamin A/C, RRV-ORF52, and GAPDH specific antibodies. Asterisk (*) indicates the predicted size of R12 protein. D) Telo-RhF cells were infected with RRV_{R12FLAG} at an MOI of 2.5 for 12, 14, or 16 hours. Cells fixed with methanol and stained with FLAG (green), RRV-gB (red), and PML (purple) specific antibodies while nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue). White arrows indicate R12 co-localization with PML-NBs. 63x magnification images were obtained by confocal microscopy E) Telo-RhF cells were mock infected or infected with RRV_{R12FLAG} at an MOI of 2.5 for 10, 14, 16, 18, and 24 hours. Protein lysates were immunoprecipitated with a PML specific antibody, resolved by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by Western blot using FLAG specific antibodies. Input controls were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and Western blot using total nuclear and total cytoplasmic lysates and staining with FLAG, PML, lamin A/C, RRV-ORF52, and GAPDH specific antibodies. F) Telo-RhF

cells were infected with RRV_{R12ns} at an MOI of 2.5 for 24 hours before fixation with methanol. Fixed cells were stained with RRV-gB (green) and either PML (red), SP100 (red), or Daxx (red) specific antibodies while nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue). Red boxes indicate infected cells with PML-NB staining pattern in nuclei, white boxes indicate infected cells that lack SP100 or Daxx staining. Experiments in part (A) were performed twice, and experiments in parts (B-E) were performed at least three times. Representative experiments and images are shown.

2.4.7 Disruption of PML-NBs during RRV infection inhibits ISG induction and aids viral infection.

As our data suggests that PML isoform II is decreased following WT RRV infection, we wanted to define the downstream effects on the cell. Previous reports state that PML isoform II is necessary for efficient ISG transcription, in particular targets of the ISGF3 transcription complex (246). As such, we analyzed ISG induction following infection with WT RRV, RRV_{vIRF-KO}, RRV_{R12FLAG}, and RRV_{R12ns}. First we infected cells with WT RRV-GFP or RRV_{vIRF-KO}-GFP at an MOI of 5 for 24 hours and then sorted for the GFP positive-infected cells. Total RNA was purified from the sorted cells and transcripts of four ISGs known to be targeted by ISGF3 and reliant on PML isoform II (IRF-7, Mx1, IP-10, and ISG54) were measured by qPCR (Fig. 2.7A). We found that RRV_{vIRF-KO} infection failed to suppress ISG transcription for all four compared to WT RRV infection. Induction of Mx1 transcripts was two-fold while IP-10 was over 100 times greater in RRV_{vIRF-KO} infected cells than in WT RRV infected cells (Fig. 2.7A).

Inhibition of ISG transcription can occur by blocking IFN production and/or

blocking the signaling cascade induced when IFN binds the IFN receptor. To test if the block in ISG induction was downstream of IFN binding to the IFN receptor, we infected telo-RhFs with WT RRV, RRV_{R12FLAG}, RRV_{vIRF-KO}, or RRV_{R12ns} for 18 hours at an MOI of 5. At 18 hpi, 100U/ml of RhIFNa2 was added to the culture media and the infection was continued for an additional 8 hours before harvesting total RNA to determine the induction of a prototypical ISG, IP-10 (Fig. 2.7B). WT RRV and RRV_{R12FLAG} viruses were able to suppress the induction of IP-10 following the addition of type I IFN to the infected cells with only 5- and 6fold induction (respectively) over mock-infected cells (Fig. 2.7B light grey and dark grey bars). However, both RRV_{vIRF-KO} and RRV_{R12ns} infections were unable to suppress the induction of IP-10 following IFN treatment with 41- and 39-fold induction (respectively) over mock-infected cells (Fig. 2.7B vertical and horizontal striped bars). This revealed that the block in ISG induction that we observed for WT RRV but not for RRV_{VIRF-KO} infection can occur after IFN α signals through the IFN α/β receptor. Moreover, this block is downstream of IFN signaling and was dependent on R12 expression as the RRV_{R12ns} infection displayed similar results to the RRV_{VIRF-KO} infection (Fig. 2.7B).

Because R12 was able to inhibit the IFN signaling cascade to result in reduced ISG transcription in the context of RRV infection, we next wanted to determine if R12 could function similarly in the absence of viral infection. To test this, we utilized our dox-inducible R12 cell line. Cells were treated with dox for 12 hours, RhIFN α 2 for 6 hours, or treated with dox for 6 hours followed by 6 hours of dox and RhIFN α 2, before purifying total cellular RNA. Transcript levels of IP-

10 were again analyzed, using quantitative RT-PCR. Following RhIFNα2 treatment, R12 expression alone was able to inhibit ISG induction as compared to the positive control (RhIFNα2 treatment without dox treatment) (Fig. 2.7C). This experiment was repeated in the telo-RhF parental cell line and confirmed that dox treatment (without R12 expression) does not affect ISG transcript levels (Fig. 2.7D). Thus, our results from the R12 cell line were due to R12 expression. These results suggest that R12 protein is able to antagonize the type I IFN signaling pathway (downstream of IFN receptor binding) without the aid of any other RRV viral factors to inhibit ISG transcription.

Lastly, we wanted to know whether the expression of R12 would aid viral replication in the presence of IFN. Thus, we performed one-step growth curve analysis in the presence RhIFN α 2 with WT RRV, RRV_{vIRF-KO}, RRV_{R12ns}, and RRV_{R12FLAG} (Fig. 2.7E). Both RRV_{vIRF-KO} and RRV_{R12ns} growth curves had significantly lower viral titers (1/2 to 1 log less) at 12, 24, and 48 hpi compared to the WT RRV and RRV_{R12FLAG} growth curves.



Figure 2.7. R12 expression inhibits ISG induction downstream of IFN signaling and aids viral replication in the presence of type I IFN. A) Telo-RhF cells were

infected with WT RRV-GFP or RRV_{VIRF-KO}-GFP at an MOI of 5 for 24 hours, treated with 100U/ml RhIFN α 2 for 18 hours, or left untreated. Infected cells were sorted for GFP signal by flow cytometry. RNA was purified and cDNA was synthesized before the indicated transcripts were measured by qPCR. Data were presented as fold change over mock-infected samples normalized to GAPDH transcript levels and were analyzed by unpaired student t test. P values less than 0.05 were considered significant and asterisks denote the following significant p values: * ($p \le 0.05$), ** ($p \le 0.01$), *** ($p \le 0.001$), and **** (p≤0.0001). B) Telo-RhF cells were infected with WT RRV, RRV_{vIRF-KO}, $RRV_{R12FLAG}$, or RRV_{R12ns} at an MOI of 5 for 18 hours before 100U/ml RhIFN α 2 was added to the infected cell culture media for an additional 8 hours. As a negative control, cells were left untreated, and as a positive control cells were treated with 100U/ml RhIFN α 2 for 8 hours. RNA was purified and cDNA was synthesized before IP-10 transcripts were measured by qPCR (cells were not sorted prior to RNA purification). IP-10 transcript levels were normalized to GAPDH transcript levels and presented as fold change over mock. Data were analyzed by unpaired student t test. P values less than 0.05 were considered significant and asterisks denote the following significant p values: * (p≤0.05), ** (p≤0.01), *** (p≤0.001), and **** (p≤0.0001). C) Telo-RhF-R12FLAG inducible cell line was treated with 2ug/ml dox for 12 hours, treated with 100 units/ml RhIFN α 2 for 6 hours, or treated with 2ug/ml dox for 6 hours followed by 6 hours of dox and RhIFN α 2 treatment. Total RNA was harvested, purified, and converted to cDNA. Quantitative real-time PCR was performed for IP-10 transcripts and normalized to GAPDH transcript levels. Assay was performed in triplicate and a representative experiment is shown. Data is presented as fold change over mock treated cells. Data were analyzed by unpaired student t-test. P values of less than 0.05 were considered significant. D) Telo-RhF (parental) cells were treated and analyzed as in part (C). Data is

presented as fold change over mock treated cells. Data were analyzed by unpaired student t-test. P values of less than 0.05 were considered significant. E) Primary RhFs were infected with WT RRV, RRV_{vIRF-KO}, RRV_{R12FLAG}, or RRV_{R12ns} at an MOI of 2.5 in the presence of 100U/ml RhIFN α 2. Viral titers were measured at the indicated times post infection by plaque assay and presented as plaque forming units (PFU) per milliliter (mL). Data were analyzed by unpaired student t test. P values less than 0.05 were considered significant and asterisks denote the following significant p values: * (p<0.05), ** (p<0.01), *** (p<0.001), and **** (p<0.0001). (1) WT RRV vs RRV_{vIRF-KO}, WT RRV vs RRV_{R12ns}, RRV_{R12ns} vs RRV_{R12FLAG}, and RRV_{R12FLAG} vs RRV_{vIRF-KO}. (2) WT RRV vs RRV_{vIRF-KO}, WT RRV vs RRV_{R12ns}, RRV_{R12ns} vs RRV_{R12FLAG}. (3) RRV_{R12FLAG} vs RRV_{vIRF-KO}. (4) WT RRV vs RRV_{vIRF-KO}. Experiments were performed twice and representative experiments for parts (A-B) are shown, the average of both experiments for part (C) is graphed.

2.5 Discussion

Viruses that are able to establish a lifelong infection within a host must first be able to circumvent the intrinsic and innate immune defenses. Important for the efficient and robust induction of the innate immune response upon viral infection are the constitutively expressed PML-NBs. It was previously reported that the recombinant mutant RRV_{vIRF-KO} virus displayed reduced viral titers in whole blood and an increased type I IFN response in serum of infected RMs compared to WT RRV infected RMs (464). However, *in vitro* growth curve analysis of WT RRV and RRV_{vIRF-KO} viruses showed similar growth kinetics for the two viruses (140). We decided to investigate the role that type I IFN and PML-NBs played in restricting RRV growth and how the vIRFs, specifically the vIRF R12,

counteracted this host defense. We found that R12 is both necessary and sufficient for the RRV-induced disruption of PML-NBs during *de novo* lytic infection. This is important because in the natural host-infection setting, RRV will not only encounter the viral restriction capacity of PML-NBs, but also type I IFN signaling from the type I IFN produced from neighboring uninfected cells. The capacity of RRV to disrupt PML-NBs could have a two-fold effect: (1) overcomes the viral genetic silencing exerted by PML-NB resident proteins and (2) inhibits the type I IFN signaling cascade to prevent ISGs (with their own anti-viral effects) from getting expressed. This second effect, inhibiting type I IFN signaling, would explain why WT RRV could grow to significantly higher titers in the presence of RhIFNα2 compared to RRV_{vIRF-KO} and RRV_{R12ns} viruses.

While we found that R12 is necessary and sufficient for the disruption of PML-NBs during RRV infection, R12 expression outside the context of RRV infection did not result in the complete loss of PML-NBs. Ectopic R12 protein expression did appear to affect PML-NB organization as there were fewer but larger PML-NBs. Furthermore, ectopic R12 expression resulted in reduction of PML isoform I and II protein levels. R12 may specifically target PML isoforms I/II, preventing the antiviral functions of and nuclear body formation by these two isoforms. A previous publication on PML-NB disruption by RRV implicated the RRV tegument protein encoded by ORF75 and found that while RRV infection of RhF cells resulted in a loss of SP100 protein by 8 hpi, PML protein was not lost until 24 hpi and this could be rescued with cyclohexamide treatment (457). Thus, the inhibition of R12 expression by cyclohexamide treatment could explain why

PML protein levels were rescued. We did observe a loss of SP100 punctate staining pattern with all the viruses we tested. All of our WT and mutant RRVs encode ORF75 and this would explain our SP100 results. The previous publication on RRV ORF75 and PML-NBs did not find ORF75 to affect Daxx protein levels by western blot analysis, however, the authors did not perform IFA to investigate Daxx protein localization. Thus, it remains unknown why Daxx disperses from punctate structures during RRV infection, but the vIRFs do not appear to be involved. The involvement of both ORF75 and a vIRF in the disruption of PML-NBs by RRV is similar to what is observed for KSHV disruption of PML-NBs. KSHV ORF75 induces the loss of ATRX protein and causes the dispersal of Daxx protein from PML-NBs (450). KSHV vIRF3 increases SUMOmodified PML protein levels leading to SUMO-dependent ubiquitination and eventually degradation of all isoforms of PML protein (451). Our data from the dox-inducible R12 stable cell line revealed a possible increase in SUMOylated PML proteins only in the context of RhIFN α 2 treatment, but only PML isoforms I/II showed reduced protein levels. Therefore, while RRV may be similar to KSHV in utilizing at least two viral proteins to disrupt PML-NBs, the mechanisms may have diverged. We were able to confirm that transcription of ORF75 occurs during infection with RRV_{vIRF-KO} and RRV_{R12ns} (data not shown). Thus, hypotheses to explain the involvement of both R12 and ORF75 in PML-NB disruption by RRV include: R12 interacts with ORF75 and this interaction is required for ORF75 to disrupt PML-NBs or induce degradation of PML proteins; the increased SUMOylation of PML (observed during exogenous R12 expression

in Fig. 2.2F) is necessary for ORF75 to disrupt PML-NBs; R12-mediated inhibition of ISG induction is necessary for endogenous levels of ORF75 to disrupt PML-NBs. All of these possibilities are currently being explored.

Our data provides evidence that RRV utilizes R12 to reduce protein levels of PML isoforms I and II. PML isoform II has been implicated in the efficient induction of ISGs that are transcriptionally regulated by the ISGF3 transcription complex. When PML isoform II is absent from cells, ISGF3 targets are not as strongly induced following stimulation with IFN α or poly(I:C) (246). In line with these PML isoform II findings, we discovered that only WT RRV and RRV_{R12FLAG} were able to inhibit IP-10 induction following addition of RhIFN α 2 to the infected cell culture media (Fig. 2.7B). Inhibiting ISG induction when faced with type I IFN would maintain a cellular environment more conducive for viral infection and replication. We were able to demonstrate this using viral growth curve analysis in the presence of type I IFN. The viruses which were able to disrupt PML-NBs and inhibit ISG transcription (WT RRV and RRV_{R12FLAG}) displayed significantly increased viral titers between 12 and 48 hpi compared to those viruses which were unable to disrupt PML-NBs (RRV_{vIRF-KO} and RRV_{R12ns}) (Fig. 2.7E). Taken together, we conclude that R12 expression during *de novo* lytic infection reduces protein levels of PML isoforms I/II aiding the disruption of PML-NBs, which prevents the induction of ISGs regulated by the ISGF3 transcription complex even in the presence of type I IFN signaling. This allows RRV to effectively establish infection when the type I IFN response is activated, such as we would expect during in vivo infection (Fig. 2.8).


Figure 2.8. Model of R12 involvement in the RRV induced disruption of PML-NB. Following de novo lytic infection with RRV, R12 protein is expressed early and localizes to PML-NBs. 18 to 24 hpi, WT RRV is able to disrupt PML-NBs (dispersing PML, SP100, and Daxx from PML-NBs) so that even in the presence of type I IFN signaling, ISG transcription is inhibited allowing the virus to establish infection and replicate. However, following RRV_{VIRF-KO} or RRV_{R12ns} infection R12 protein is not expressed, these viruses are unable to disperse PML protein from PML-NBs (although SP100 and Daxx are gone from the PML-NBs), and in the presence of type I IFN signaling these mutant viruses are unable to inhibit ISG transcription leading to an antiviral state within the cell and decreased infection and replication efficiency.

2.6 Materials and Methods

Cells, virus, drugs, and cytokines. Primary rhesus fibroblasts (RhFs) and telomerized RhFs (telo-RhFs) (32) were grown in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) (Mediatech, Manassas, VA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (HyClone, Ogden, UT). Telo-RhF-rtTA-R12FLAG inducible cells were grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% tetracycline-free FBS, 3ug/ml puromycin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), and 300ug/ml hygromycin B

(Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Human BJAB cells were grown in RPMI 1640 (Mediatech) supplemented with 10% FBS. RRV infections were preformed in complete DMEM or RPMI media with 5ug/ml polybrene, following a 2-hour adsorption period cells were washed twice with Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline (DPBS) (Mediatech) to remove unbound virus and fresh medium was added. These studies utilized plaque-purified isolates of bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC)-derived RRV₁₇₅₇₇ (WT_{BAC} RRV) (16), WT RRV-GFP, RRV_{vIRF-KO}, and RRV_{vIRF-KO}-GFP. RRV_{vIRF-KO}, WT RRV-GFP and RRV_{vIRF-KO}-GFP viruses were previously reported (140). All RRV stocks were purified through a 30% sorbitol cushion and resuspended in PBS, and viral titers were determined by using a serial dilution plaque assay with RhFs.

Doxycyline hydrochloride (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) was resuspended in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (ThermoFisher Scientific) and added to cell culture media at 2ug/ml every 24 hours. Rhesus interferon alpha2 (RhIFNα2) (PBL Assay Science, Piscataway, NJ) was used at a final concentration of 100U/ml.

Construction of RRV_{R12ns} and **RRV**_{R12FLAG}. The RRV₁₇₅₇₇BAC *galK* positive/negative selection system was utilized to create two mutant RRVs; the first was engineered to replace the start codon of R12 with a stop codon to create a non-sense (ns) mutation to prevent the expression of R12 (RRV_{R12ns}). A C terminal FLAG epitope tag was also introduced just before the native termination codon of R12 to ensure no read through expression. The second recombinant replaced the ns mutation with a start codon, to essentially create a revertant of

the RRV_{R12ns} virus. The revertant harbors the C terminal FLAG epitope tag to follow the R12 protein, and we termed this virus RRV_{R12FLAG}. This system of generating mutant RRVs was previously described (546). Briefly, R12 and R13 ORFs (nucleotides 87625-90478) in the RRV₁₇₅₇₇BAC were replaced with *galK*, as described before (R12 5'-flanking primer sequence, 5'-

TTTATTGCAGGGACAGGGCAAAAGCAAGCTGTGCACGGTAACAGTATGTGT CAGCACTGTCCTGCTCCT-3'; R13 3' flanking sequence, 5'-

TAGGGGAGTGGTGAGGGCTTTTGAGTTAGTTTTCGTGGACCAAGTTCACA<u>C</u> <u>CTGTTGACAATTAATCATCGGCA</u>-3'; sequences homologous to the *galK* cassette are underlined). Next we cloned the R12 and R13 ORFs with 250 base pairs of flanking regions into the psP73 vector using EcoRI and HindIII restriction sites engineered into the primers (250bp upstream of R12 primer, 5'-

CG<u>GAATTC</u>GCCTAACTATATACGCCCACGGG-3', 250bp downstream of R13 primer, 5'- CG<u>AAGCTT</u>GCTTGGTGCCCTTTAAATTGAACG-3', restriction sites are underlined). Using Quikchange II XL site-directed mutagenesis (Agilent Technologies, La Jolla, CA) according to manufacturers specifications, we inserted a FLAG epitope just before the stop codon of R12 using the following primers: Forward primer 5'-

GTATGTGTCA<u>CTTGTCATCGTCATCCTTGTAGTC</u>CTGGGCCGCATCC-3' and reverse primer 5'-

GGATGCGGCCCAG<u>GACTACAAGGATGACGATGACAAG</u>TGACACATAC-3'. FLAG epitope sequence is underlined. The ns mutation to the R12 ORF was accomplished using the following primers once the R12-FLAG tagged plasmid was obtained. Forward primer 5'-

GCCCGTCCTTCCGCTCACTCTGAGGGTCCGCTCGC-3' and reverse primer 5'-GCGAGCGGACCCTCAGAGTGAGCGGAAGGACGGGC-3'. Mutated start codon is underlined. Finally the R12-mutated R12-R13 repair cassette with flanking regions was digested out of the psP73 plasmid and used to repair the *galK* R12-R13 knock-out RRV₁₇₅₇₇BAC as described previously (164). After identification of repaired BAC clones by southern blot, PCR, and sequencing, a clone was used to transfect RhFs to make virus and the BAC cassette was removed by CRE recombination as described previously (164). Each virus was plaque purified twice before viral stocks were grown and purified over a 30% sorbitol cushion and resuspended in PBS. Insertion junctions and the R12 ORF were PCR amplified and sequenced from each virus to identify the correct mutations were present and confirm no other alterations to viral genome in these locations.

In vitro growth curves. One-step (MOI = 2.5) and multistep (MOI = 0.1) growth curve analyses were carried out with RhFs, essentially as described previously(140) For growth curves in the presence of RhIFN α 2, cells were seeded in culture tubes in the presence of 100U/ml of RhIFN α 2, which was kept on the cells throughout the infection time course. Every 24 hours an additional 50U/ml RhIFN α 2 was added to the culture tubes to ensure active IFN signaling throughout. Concentrations of type I IFN carried over from the viral growth tubes to the plaque assay plates was undetectable using a pan IFN α ELISA kit (3425-1H-6, Mabtech, Cincinnati, OH), as well as an IFN β ELISA kit (LumiKine hIFN-

beta, Invivogen, San Diego, CA) according to manufacturers protocols.

Additionally, an IFN bioassay to detect biologically active IFN in the viral growth tubes was performed by adding growth curve supernatants to cells harboring a luciferase reporter gene driven by the ISRE promoter. Universal type I IFN dilution series was used as a standard curve. The IFN bioassay measured 2.7 units/ml of type I IFN as the highest concentration (found in only one viral growth curve tube). WT RRV and RRV_{VIRF-KO} growth was not affected by this concentration IFN (data not shown).

RNA isolation, RT-PCR, and real-time RT-PCR. RNA was isolated from uninfected or infected telo-RhF cells using the Quick-RNA Mini-prep kit and the RNA Clean & Concentrator-5 kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA). DNA was removed following an in column DNase I enzyme treatment followed by a second out of column DNase I treatment per the protocol included in the kits. Reverse transcription-PCR (RT-PCR) was performed by using Superscript III one-step RT-PCR with Platinum *Tag* (Invitrogen). Transcripts were detected with the following specific oligonucleotide pairs. ORF R13 forward primer: 5'-GGCGGCCCTGGCATATACGG-3'; ORF R13 reverse primer: 5'-CCGAGGTATGAGTGGCATGCAACC-3'. ORF R11 forward primer: 5"-AACCGGTGCACCGACAGTCGC-3'; ORF R11 reverse primer: 5'-CCGTGTCCTCTCGAAAACATC-3'. ORF R12 forward primer: 5'-ATTGTTGCGATAATGATAAGC-3'; ORF R12 reverse primer: 5'-CCGGTGGCATCCGCTTCGTTA-3'. ORF75 forward primer: 5'-GCGGACATGACAGTTTCCCCGTGGG-3'; ORF75 reverse primer: 5'-

TTACTGTCTGTTTCTTATGC-3'.

First-strand cDNA synthesis was carried out using superscript III reverse transcriptase for qRT-PCR (Invitrogen), and cDNA was subsequently amplified using Power SYBR Green master mix (Applied Biosystems, Waltham, MA). Concentrations of target transcripts were determined using a standard curve included on each plate consisting of serial dilutions of cDNA obtained from RhIFNα2-stimulated telo-RhFs. All data were normalized to the levels of GAPDH in each sample, and normalized levels of target transcripts were presented as fold change over mock treated cells.

Virion RNA RT-PCR Assay Purified stocks of RRV_{vIRF-KO}, WT RRV, RRV_{R12FLAG}, and RRV_{R12ns} were treated with micrococcal nuclease before purifying RNA that is packaged in the virions. As a positive control, a sample of RRV_{vIRF-KO} virions treated with micrococcal nuclease had purified total cellular RNA from a WT RRV infected cell culture spiked into the sample after inactivation of the nuclease (by EGTA) but before virion lysis and RNA purification of virion packaged RNA. 40ng of RNA from each sample was reverse transcribed and PCR amplified using R12 specific primers in the presence or absence of reverse transcriptase. Resulting amplified DNA was resolved on a 1% agarose gel.

Immunoprecipitation (IP), PAGE analysis, and immunoblotting. Nuclear and cytoplasmic cell lysates were separated according to kit protocols (NE-PER; ThermoFisher Scientific). Nuclear lysates were immunoprecipitated with an anti-FLAG M2 monoclonal antibody (mAb) (F3165, Sigma-Aldrich) or an anti-PML (H238) polyclonal antibody (pAb) (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX) in native lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-CI [pH 8.0], 1% NP-40, and 150 mM NaCl

supplemented with protease inhibitors [100X cocktail; Sigma-Aldrich]), followed by incubation with protein A/G Plus-agarose (Santa Cruz Biotechnology), and lysates were finally collected in radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer (native lysis buffer with 0.1% SDS and 0.5% sodium deoxycholate). Immunoprecipitation assays to analyze SUMO modifications on PML and R12 proteins were performed by harvesting whole cell lysates in RIPA buffer with 1% SDS and immediately boiling the samples for 5 minutes. RIPA buffer with no SDS was added to the protein lysates to bring the final SDS concentration to 0.1% before PML and R12-FLAG proteins were immunoprecipitated with A/G Plus-agarose. Whole-cell extracts were also collected in RIPA buffer, nuclear and cytoplasmic lysates were collected according to kit protocols (NE-PER; ThermoFisher Scientific), and all samples were analyzed on BOLT 4-12% gradient Bis-Tris Plus protein gels (Invitrogen). Proteins were then transferred onto a polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA) via semidry transfer (60 minutes at 15 volts at room temperature). Membranes were probed with anti-human PML mAb (PG-M3, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) anti-FLAG M2 mAb (F3165, Sigma-Aldrich), anti-FLAG M2 (HRP) mAb (A8592, Sigma-Aldrich) anti-human GADPH mAb (51906, Santa Cruz Biotechnology), anti-RRV glycoprotein B mAb (gB, clone 10B5.2, VGTI Monoclonal Antibody Core), anti-RRV ORF52 mAb (clone 3G9.2, VGTI Monoclonal Antibody Core), anti-human SP100 pAb (43151, Abcam, Cambridge, UK), anti-human Daxx pAb (105173, Abcam), anti-laminA/C mAb (E-1) (376248, Santa Cruz Biotechnology), anti-SUMO-1 (Y299) mAb (32058, Abcam), and anti-

SUMO-2/3 (18H8) (Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA). Densitometry was performed using ImageJ software.

Immunofluorescence Analysis (IFA). Cells were grown on glass coverslips in 12-well plates and fixed with methanol (20 minutes at -20°C). Cells were then blocked in 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in tris-buffered saline (TBS) (1 hour at room temperature) prior to staining, and all subsequent steps were performed with 1% BSA-TBS. Cells on coverslips were stained with rabbit anti-PML (H238) (Santa Cruz Biotechnology), goat anti-FLAG pAb (1257, Abcam), mouse anti-RRV gB mAb (clone 10B5.2, VGTI Monoclonal Antibody Core), rabbit anti-SP100 (Abcam), or rabbit anti-Daxx (07-471, MilliporeSigma, Burlington, MA) overnight at 4°C and subsequently stained with AlexaFluor-594 anti-mouse IgG (A11020, Invitrogn), AlexaFluor-633 anti-rabbit IgG (A21071, Invitrogen), and AlexaFluor-488 anti-goat IgG (A11055, Invitrogen) (1 hour at room temperature), and nuclei were stained with DAPI. Cells on coverslips were mounted onto slides by using Vectashield (Vector Labs) and examined on a Zeiss Axio Imager.M1 microscope (Zeiss Imaging Solutions, Thornwood, NY) or Leica SP5 AOBS spectral confocal microscope (Leica microsystems, Buffalo Grove, IL). Images were acquired by using a Zeiss Axiocam camera (MRm) with Axiovision software (version 4.6) and subsequently processed by using Adobe Photoshop (Adobe Systems, San Jose, CA).

Generation of a doxycycline (dox)-inducible stable cell line. The pLVX lentiviral vector system (Clontech, Mountain View, CA) was utilized for constructing a stable doxycycline (dox)-inducible cell line as described previously

(463). Briefly, the pLVX-R12FLAG plasmid was constructed by subcloning fulllength FLAG-tagged R12 from WT_{BAC} RRV DNA into the pLVX-Tight-Puro retroviral vector. Replication-defective recombinant retrovirus was produced in HEK 293T/17 cells and used to transduce the target cells (telo-RhFs containing a dox- responsive transactivator [tRF-rtTAs]). The dox-inducible R12FLAG cells were maintained in DMEM plus 10% Tet-free FBS containing 3ug/ml puromycin and 300 ug/ml hygromycin B. In order to determine the optimal concentration of dox and duration of dox treatment, cells were experimentally treated with dox at various concentrations and for various lengths of time. We found that 2 ug/ml of dox yielded half-maximal R12FLAG expression at 18 hours post treatment. **Statistical analysis.** Data were analyzed by using GraphPad Instat (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA), and significant differences were determined by unpaired student *t* test or two-tailed Fisher's exact test, with *P* values of 0.05 being

considered significant.

CHAPTER 3

Discussion and Future Directions

Because of the homology of the vIRFs to cellular IRFs it was initially assumed that these viral homologs would have inhibitory functions against the IRFs and IFN pathway. Studies on the vIRFs encoded by KSHV have revealed that these ORFs do inhibit IRFs and the IFN pathway, but have evolved multiple other functions as well. Although some functional redundancy exists between the KSHV vIRFs, it is also evident that these ORFs have diverged to acquire unique functions. Much less is known about the RRV vIRFs. The RRV/RM model affords us the opportunity to investigate the role of specific viral factors in disease progression in vivo, as well as perform detailed mechanistic studies in vitro. Initial investigations into the functions of the RRV vIRFs compared WT RRV to a mutant RRV lacking all eight vIRFs. Data from these studies showed that while WT RRV and RRV_{VIRF-KO} displayed similar growth kinetics in vitro, RRV_{VIRF-KO} infection in vivo was restricted compared to WT RRV infection. This led us to investigate whether the type I IFN response could account for this discrepancy and whether the RRV vIRFs had a role in inhibiting the IFN/IFN receptor signaling cascade. The focus of this dissertation was to investigate the evasion of type I IFN signaling by RRV vIRFs, and to characterize the specific vIRF(s) responsible for and mechanisms of this evasion.

3.1 RRV disruption of PML-NBs enhances viral infection in the presence of type I IFN.

As a part of cellular intrinsic immunity, PML-NBs present an obstacle to any nuclear replicating virus. Most herpesviruses have now been shown to inhibit the antiviral functions of PML-NBs, albeit by different mechanisms. Importantly, members of the gamma-2 herpesvirus subfamily utilize ORF75 (vFGARAT) and in the case of KSHV, vIRF-3, to inhibit PML-NBs. Chapter 2 of this dissertation characterized the function of the RRV vIRFs during de novo lytic infection in the presence of type I IFN signaling. PML-NBs are involved in the robust induction of IFNs and ISGs, and the loss of PML-NBs during RRV infection was found to be dependent on the expression of the vIRFs. Furthermore, of the eight vIRFs missing in the RRV_{VIRF-KO} virus, we determined that R12 is the vIRF that contributes to the disruption of PML-NBs during *de novo* lytic infection using a recombinant RRV that does not express R12 (RRV_{R12ns}). We showed that R12 expression inhibits ISG induction following RhIFN α 2 treatment, both within and outside the context of viral infection. Finally, we demonstrated that R12 enhances viral replication in the presence of type I IFN signaling.

ORF75 of RRV has also been implicated in the disruption of PML-NBs (457). The authors of that study found PML protein levels decreased after 24 hours of RRV infection, even though ORF75 is a tegument protein and can reduce protein levels of SP100 by 8 hours post infection. They also observed two contradictory results: 1) inhibition of protein translation did not rescue PML protein levels in infected human iSLK cells consistent with a virion associated

protein affecting PML, and 2) inhibition of protein translation did rescue PML protein levels in infected rhesus fibroblasts, implying that a tegument protein is not sufficient for PML loss in rhesus fibroblasts. Therefore, the mechanism of PML-NB antagonization during RRV infection may be cell-type specific. We performed our experiments in rhesus fibroblasts and also found reduction in PML protein levels at 24 hours post infection. Our results may be compatible with the fibroblast data in the previous ORF75 study, as the translation of R12 could be required for PML protein loss. Presently, it is not known whether R12 protein is incorporated into RRV virions, or whether virion-associated R12 could affect PML levels. We are currently exploring these possibilities, however, results were not definitive at the time that this thesis was written.

We have also shown that ectopic expression of R12, in the presence of type I IFN signaling but absence of viral infection, results in reduced protein levels of PML isoforms I and II but did not appear to affect the other PML isoforms. Interestingly, ICP27 of HSV-2 alters the mRNA splicing of PML transcripts and switches PML isoform II to PML isoform V, HSV-1 ICP0 null virus replication is inhibited by PML isoforms I and II, and ORF3 of adenovirus type 5 E4 specifically targets PML isoform II (547-550). Therefore, viral targeting of PML isoform II has precedent and due to the role that PML II plays in enhancing ISG induction, may serve as an IFN evasion mechanism. We were able to show that the ectopic expression of RRV R12 could inhibit ISG transcription following RhIFN α 2 treatment, supporting the theory that RRV specifically targets PML isoform II to evade the IFN response (Fig. 2.7C).

As stated previously, KSHV vIRF-3 is also able to disrupt PML-NBs (451). Further, an oncogenic downstream effect for PML-NB disruption was investigated and it was demonstrated that knock down of vIRF-3 in KSHV positive PEL cells resulted in reduced proliferation and increased activation of caspase-3 and caspase-7 (506). PML-NBs have many functions and, presumably, all of these functions can be impacted when the PML-NBs are disrupted. While we investigated the impact on IFN signaling, a consequence of the RRV disruption of PML-NBs may also include the development of malignancies or dysregulation of the cell cycle. Importantly, KSHV vIRF-3 is expressed during both lytic and latent infections. As PEL and KS are predominantly composed of latently infected cells, the functions of latently expressed genes (including vIRF-3) could provide insights into the mechanisms of pathogenesis and might also shed light on possible therapeutic targets. Studies on the RRV vIRFs have only characterized expression during lytic infection, and whether any of the RRV vIRFs are expressed during latency remains unknown. One study that examined the transcriptional profile of RRV during latency in HEK293 cells in vitro (542, 551). They analyzed RRV ORF transcript levels before and after TPA treatment (to reactivate RRV) and showed moderate-to-low transcript levels of R12 prior to TPA treatment, followed by intermediate transcript levels after TPA treatment. R12 transcript levels mirrored what was observed for ORF73/LANA, suggesting R12 may be capable of being expressed during latency. However, ORF50/RTA (the lytic switch protein) transcript expression followed the same pattern and thus puts into question whether latency was actually achieved in this cell culture (542).

Additionally, the complete characterization of the structure of R12 transcripts has not been performed in any system, and the presence of variably spliced R12 transcripts with unique functions cannot be ruled out.

3.2 Future Directions

Two reports have now implicated RRV ORF75 and R12 in the disruption of PML-NBs during *de novo* lytic infection. It remains to be investigated if ORF75 and R12 work together or interact at all. It is curious that the cellular localization of ORF75 is diffuse throughout the cytoplasm and nucleus while R12 is localized with PML-NBs in the nucleus. One theory is that R12 could physically interact with both ORF75 and PML to bring the effector function of ORF75 to PML-NBs. Co-immunoprecipitation assays would determine whether ORF75 also complexes with PML and R12. An ORF75 over-expression stable cell line displaying abundant ORF75 expression was able to reduce the levels of PML protein in the absence of R12. Whether more physiological levels of ORF75, such as the amount brought in with an infecting virion, would have the same effect is not known. We plan to answer this question by titrating in an ORF75 expression plasmid into the inducible R12 stable cell line to see if low levels of ORF75 require R12 expression to disrupt PML-NBs.

To further confirm the link between IFN signaling, PML-NBs, and virus growth restriction, a PML knockout cell line should be constructed. If ISG induction and PML-NBs are connected, there should be the same lack of (PML isoform II enhanced) ISG induction following infection with WT RRV and RRV_{VIRF-KO} in the PML knockout cell line. Additionally, we would expect WT RRV and

RRV_{vIRF-KO} viruses to grow to similar titers in the presence of type I IFN in these PML knockout cell lines. Ectopic expression of individual PML isoforms within the PML knockout cell line could also help determine specific functions of each PML isoform with regard to RRV infection.

Analysis of R12 expression kinetics following RRV infection revealed the unexpected detection of R12 transcripts as early as 2 hours post infection. To follow up on this very rapid appearance of R12 transcripts we investigated whether R12 transcripts were packaged in RRV virions. Surprisingly, R12 transcripts were detected in the WT RRV, RRV_{R12FLAG}, and RRV_{R12ns} virions (Fig. 2.6B). The lack of R12 transcript in the RRV_{vIRF-KO} virions suggests that the RT-PCR primers are specific for R12. RNA packaged inside KSHV virions has been described (552). Some RNA was proposed to be incorporated non-specifically due to the high abundance of those transcripts at the time of capsid formation and virion egress. While at least one transcript, ORF17, was determined to be specifically incorporated into KSHV virions, KSHV vIRF transcripts were not examined in this study. However, DNA array data also obtained in this study examining virion RNA expression across the KSHV genome showed a hit just before ORF58, perhaps in the region of the vIRFs (which sit between ORF57 and ORF58). The authors did not comment on this particular array hit/peak, but this data does suggest that further investigation of KSHV vIRF transcript incorporation into virions may be warranted. At the time of the preparation of this dissertation, no RRV virion-associated RNAs have yet been identified, and RT-PCR can only confirm the short section of R12 transcript that is amplified by the

primers. In order to determine whether full-length R12 transcripts are incorporated into RRV virions, northern blot analysis will need to be performed on RNA purified from virions. Functional assays, such as RRV infection in the presence of transcription inhibitors, to determine whether virion incorporated R12 transcripts could be translated and produce innate immune evasion functions would also be necessary. Additionally, investigation of whether other transcripts or RNAs are packaged inside RRV virions (including the other vIRFs) could be informative. The implications of R12 transcript incorporation into RRV virions are that it would provide a more rapid synthesis of R12 protein following entry into a cell, and would also mean that *de novo* transcription does not need to occur in order for R12 protein expression to occur after infection. Many viruses utilize tegument proteins to disrupt PML-NBs because PML-NBs are present at the moment of infection and could inhibit transcription of viral genes if not dealt with immediately. Adenovirus capsid protein VI targets PML-NBs to counteract Daxx, human papillomavirus (HPV) capsid protein L2 localizes to PML-NBs and is necessary for efficient HPV infection, and several herpesviruses have been shown to utilize tegument proteins to disrupt PML-NBs (ICP0 of HSV-1, pp71 of HCMV, vFGARATs of gamma-2 herpesviruses) (440, 548, 553-555). If R12 transcripts are brought in with the infecting virions, this would effectively result in a similar outcome as a tegument protein, as only translation needs to occur to gain the viral effector necessary for PML-NB disruption.

Another question that remains with regard to R12 is whether it is expressed during latency, as has been found for KSHV vIRF-3 and KSHV vIRF-

Latent expression is of interest because RRV does establish latency within infected RMs, and any investigation into the role of R12 in pathogenesis will need to account for the fact that the virus would be mostly latent in the animal. The RM model also affords the ability to investigate in vivo expression of R12. While some attempts have been made to establish latent RRV infections in vitro in BJAB and HEK293 cells, some amount of lytic replication still occurs, obscuring the results. Ex vivo analysis of cells isolated from long-term RRV-infected RMs may provide another model to determine which RRV transcripts are expressed during latency. RRV latency may be better established in vivo compared to in *vitro*. T cells, B cells, and other subsets of cells could be separated and analyzed for RRV transcript levels. Because B cells are the major latency reservoir, and engagement of the B cell receptor can reactivate latent virus, a negative selection for B cells should be performed to preserve latency in these cells. Analysis of RRV transcript levels within these sorted cells, before and after TPA or sodium butyrate treatment, would help delineate lytic from latent genes. Before chemically induced reactivation, lack of lytic transcripts such as RTA and ORF52, along with the presence of latent transcripts such as LANA, vCyclin, and vFLIP would confirm the latent infection. Following reactivation, we would expect a large induction of lytic gene transcripts. Meanwhile, latent genes should display no induction, low induction, or decreased transcript levels following reactivation. Deciphering the expression pattern of the vIRFs, including R12, using this method could finally reveal if any of the vIRFs are latently expressed. Latent expression of R12 is not necessarily required for a role of R12 and PML-NB

disruption in the development of pathogenesis. Even PEL and KS tumors, which are predominated by latent infections, still display low levels of lytic infections (556, 557). Additionally, MCD is characterized by lytic infection and while a connection between PML-NBs and MCD has not been made, it may play a role in this malignancy as well. Along this line of thought, the infection of RMs with the RRV_{R12ns} virus (with and without SIV co-infection) and monitoring for malignant progression, compared to WT RRV infection, may be informative. These studies would require a large cohort of RMs and observation for many months or years, and thus these studies may be cost prohibitive. However, *in vivo* studies would help define the specific role for R12 (or other vIRFs) in pathogenesis of RRV and provide insight into the role of KSHV vIRFs in human pathologies.

RRV, like KSHV, has encoded two ORFs (vFGARAT and vIRF) to antagonize PML-NBs, supporting the use of RRV as a model to study KSHV manipulations of these structures. Because PML-NBs have many different functions, the disruption of these sub-nuclear structures by gamma-2 herpersviruses could have far-reaching effects. One such effect is the downmodulation of the type I IFN response, which could further affect adaptive responses. The RRV/RM model provides a means to investigate the effect of PML-NB disruption on pathological outcomes of gamma-2 herpesvirus infections and test therapeutic interventions that could one day treat KSHV infections in humans.

- 1. **Davison AJ, Eberle R, Ehlers B, Hayward GS, McGeoch DJ, Minson AC, Pellett PE, Roizman B, Studdert MJ, Thiry E.** 2009. The order Herpesvirales. Arch Virol **154:**171-177.
- 2. **Davison AJ.** 2007. Overview of classification. *In* Arvin A, Campadelli-Fiume G, Mocarski E, Moore PS, Roizman B, Whitley R, Yamanishi K (ed), Human Herpesviruses: Biology, Therapy, and Immunoprophylaxis, Cambridge.
- 3. **Burrell CJ, Howard CR, Murphy FA.** 2017. Fenner and White's Medical Virology, 5 ed. Academic Press, London, United Kingdom.
- 4. **Zerboni L, Sen N, Oliver SL, Arvin AM.** 2014. Molecular mechanisms of varicella zoster virus pathogenesis. Nat Rev Microbiol **12**:197-210.
- 5. **Davison AJ, Bhella D.** 2007. Comparative genome and virion structure. *In* Arvin A, Campadelli-Fiume G, Mocarski E, Moore PS, Roizman B, Whitley R, Yamanishi K (ed), Human Herpesviruses: Biology, Therapy, and Immunoprophylaxis, Cambridge.
- 6. **Brown JC, Newcomb WW.** 2011. Herpesvirus capsid assembly: insights from structural analysis. Curr Opin Virol **1**:142-149.
- 7. **Liu F, Zhou ZH.** 2007. Comparative virion structures of human herpesviruses. *In* Arvin A, Campadelli-Fiume G, Mocarski E, Moore PS, Roizman B, Whitley R, Yamanishi K (ed), Human Herpesviruses: Biology, Therapy, and Immunoprophylaxis, Cambridge.
- 8. **Mettenleiter TC.** 2002. Herpesvirus assembly and egress. J Virol **76:**1537-1547.
- 9. **Mocarski Jr ES.** 2007. Comparative analysis of herpesvirus-common proteins. *In* Arvin A, Campadelli-Fiume G, Mocarski E, Moore PS, Roizman B, Whitley R, Yamanishi K (ed), Human Herpesviruses: Biology, Therapy, and Immunoprophylaxis, Cambridge.
- 10. **Everett RD.** 1987. The regulation of transcription of viral and cellular genes by herpesvirus immediate-early gene products (review). Anticancer Res **7:**589-604.
- 11. **Zeev-Ben-Mordehai T, Hagen C, Grunewald K.** 2014. A cool hybrid approach to the herpesvirus 'life' cycle. Curr Opin Virol **5:**42-49.
- 12. **Kollias CM, Huneke RB, Wigdahl B, Jennings SR.** 2015. Animal models of herpes simplex virus immunity and pathogenesis. J Neurovirol **21:**8-23.
- 13. **Steiner I, Spivack JG, Deshmane SL, Ace CI, Preston CM, Fraser NW.** 1990. A herpes simplex virus type 1 mutant containing a nontransinducing Vmw65 protein establishes latent infection in vivo in the absence of viral replication and reactivates efficiently from explanted trigeminal ganglia. J Virol 64:1630-1638.
- 14. **Ku CC, Besser J, Abendroth A, Grose C, Arvin AM.** 2005. Varicella-Zoster virus pathogenesis and immunobiology: new concepts emerging from investigations with the SCIDhu mouse model. J Virol **79:**2651-2658.
- 15. **Moffat J, Ku CC, Zerboni L, Sommer M, Arvin A.** 2007. VZV: pathogenesis and the disease consequences of primary infection. *In* Arvin A, Campadelli-

Fiume G, Mocarski E, Moore PS, Roizman B, Whitley R, Yamanishi K (ed), Human Herpesviruses: Biology, Therapy, and Immunoprophylaxis, Cambridge.

- 16. **Kinchington PR, Leger AJ, Guedon JM, Hendricks RL.** 2012. Herpes simplex virus and varicella zoster virus, the house guests who never leave. Herpesviridae **3:**5.
- 17. **Saguil A, Kane S, Mercado M, Lauters R.** 2017. Herpes Zoster and Postherpetic Neuralgia: Prevention and Management. Am Fam Physician **96:**656-663.
- 18. **Myers MG, Duer HL, Hausler CK.** 1980. Experimental infection of guinea pigs with varicella-zoster virus. J Infect Dis **142**:414-420.
- 19. **Haberthur K, Messaoudi I.** 2013. Animal models of varicella zoster virus infection. Pathogens **2:**364-382.
- 20. **Zerboni L, Ku CC, Jones CD, Zehnder JL, Arvin AM.** 2005. Varicella-zoster virus infection of human dorsal root ganglia in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **102:**6490-6495.
- 21. **Gray WL, Oakes JE.** 1984. Simian varicella virus DNA shares homology with human varicella-zoster virus DNA. Virology **136**:241-246.
- 22. **Gray WL.** 2008. Simian varicella in old world monkeys. Comp Med **58:**22-30.
- 23. Wolf RH, Smetana HF, Allen WP, Felsenfeld AD. 1974. Pathology and clinical history of Delta herpesvirus infection in patas monkeys. Lab Anim Sci 24:218-221.
- 24. **Allen WP, Felsenfeld AD, Wolf RH, Smetana HF.** 1974. Recent studies on the isolation and characterization of Delta herpesvirus. Lab Anim Sci **24**:222-228.
- 25. **Messaoudi I, Barron A, Wellish M, Engelmann F, Legasse A, Planer S, Gilden D, Nikolich-Zugich J, Mahalingam R.** 2009. Simian varicella virus infection of rhesus macaques recapitulates essential features of varicella zoster virus infection in humans. PLoS Pathog **5:**e1000657.
- 26. **Crawford LB, Streblow DN, Hakki M, Nelson JA, Caposio P.** 2015. Humanized mouse models of human cytomegalovirus infection. Curr Opin Virol **13:**86-92.
- 27. **Dupont L, Reeves MB.** 2016. Cytomegalovirus latency and reactivation: recent insights into an age old problem. Rev Med Virol **26**:75-89.
- Zedtwitz-Liebenstein K, Diab-Elschahaw M, Frass M. 2016. Human Cytomegalovirus Infection in Nonimmunocompromised Patients: A Retrospective Analysis and Review of the Literature. Intervirology 59:159-162.
- 29. **Ginocchio CC.** 2000. Laboratory diagnosis of human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) central nervous system disease in AIDS patients. Int J Antimicrob Agents **16**:447-453.
- 30. **Emery VC.** 2001. Investigation of CMV disease in immunocompromised patients. J Clin Pathol **54**:84-88.
- 31. Azevedo LS, Pierrotti LC, Abdala E, Costa SF, Strabelli TM, Campos SV, Ramos JF, Latif AZ, Litvinov N, Maluf NZ, Caiaffa Filho HH, Pannuti CS, Lopes MH, Santos VA, Linardi Cda C, Yasuda MA, Marques HH. 2015.

Cytomegalovirus infection in transplant recipients. Clinics (Sao Paulo) **70:**515-523.

- 32. **Ramanan P, Razonable RR.** 2013. Cytomegalovirus infections in solid organ transplantation: a review. Infect Chemother **45:**260-271.
- 33. Witters I, Van Ranst M, Fryns JP. 2000. Cytomegalovirus reactivation in pregnancy and subsequent isolated bilateral hearing loss in the infant. Genet Couns **11**:375-378.
- 34. **Henrich W, Meckies J, Dudenhausen JW, Vogel M, Enders G.** 2002. Recurrent cytomegalovirus infection during pregnancy: ultrasonographic diagnosis and fetal outcome. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol **19:**608-611.
- 35. **Mocarski ES, Bonyhadi M, Salimi S, McCune JM, Kaneshima H.** 1993. Human cytomegalovirus in a SCID-hu mouse: thymic epithelial cells are prominent targets of viral replication. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **90**:104-108.
- 36. **Brehm MA, Wiles MV, Greiner DL, Shultz LD.** 2014. Generation of improved humanized mouse models for human infectious diseases. J Immunol Methods **410**:3-17.
- 37. **Dogra P, Sparer TE.** 2014. What we have learned from animal models of HCMV. Methods Mol Biol **1119:**267-288.
- 38. **Powers C, Fruh K.** 2008. Rhesus CMV: an emerging animal model for human CMV. Med Microbiol Immunol **197:**109-115.
- 39. **Deere JD, Barry PA.** 2014. Using the nonhuman primate model of HCMV to guide vaccine development. Viruses **6**:1483-1501.
- 40. **Itell HL, Kaur A, Deere JD, Barry PA, Permar SR.** 2017. Rhesus monkeys for a nonhuman primate model of cytomegalovirus infections. Curr Opin Virol **25:**126-133.
- 41. **McGregor A.** 2010. Current and new cytomegalovirus antivirals and novel animal model strategies. Inflamm Allergy Drug Targets **9:**286-299.
- 42. **Agut H, Bonnafous P, Gautheret-Dejean A.** 2017. Update on infections with human herpesviruses 6A, 6B, and 7. Med Mal Infect **47:**83-91.
- 43. **Agut H, Bonnafous P, Gautheret-Dejean A.** 2016. Human Herpesviruses 6A, 6B, and 7. Microbiol Spectr **4**.
- 44. **Kondo K, Yamanishi K.** 2007. HHV-6A, 6B, and 7: molecular basis of latency and reactivation. *In* Arvin A, Campadelli-Fiume G, Mocarski E, Moore PS, Roizman B, Whitley R, Yamanishi K (ed), Human Herpesviruses: Biology, Therapy, and Immunoprophylaxis, Cambridge.
- 45. Pellett PE, Ablashi DV, Ambros PF, Agut H, Caserta MT, Descamps V, Flamand L, Gautheret-Dejean A, Hall CB, Kamble RT, Kuehl U, Lassner D, Lautenschlager I, Loomis KS, Luppi M, Lusso P, Medveczky PG, Montoya JG, Mori Y, Ogata M, Pritchett JC, Rogez S, Seto E, Ward KN, Yoshikawa T, Razonable RR. 2012. Chromosomally integrated human herpesvirus 6: questions and answers. Rev Med Virol 22:144-155.
- 46. Endo A, Watanabe K, Ohye T, Suzuki K, Matsubara T, Shimizu N, Kurahashi H, Yoshikawa T, Katano H, Inoue N, Imai K, Takagi M, Morio T, Mizutani S. 2014. Molecular and virological evidence of viral activation from chromosomally integrated human herpesvirus 6A in a patient with Xlinked severe combined immunodeficiency. Clin Infect Dis **59:**545-548.

- 47. **Reynaud JM, Horvat B.** 2013. Animal models for human herpesvirus 6 infection. Front Microbiol **4:**174.
- 48. **Horvat B, Berges BK, Lusso P.** 2014. Recent developments in animal models for human herpesvirus 6A and 6B. Curr Opin Virol **9:**97-103.
- 49. **Staheli JP, Dyen MR, Lewis P, Barcy S.** 2014. Discovery and biological characterization of two novel pig-tailed macaque homologs of HHV-6 and HHV-7. Virology **471-473:**126-140.
- 50. **Patel SJ, Zhao G, Penna VR, Park E, Lauron EJ, Harvey IB, Beatty WL, Plougastel-Douglas B, Poursine-Laurent J, Fremont DH, Wang D, Yokoyama WM.** 2017. A Murine Herpesvirus Closely Related to Ubiquitous Human Herpesviruses Causes T-Cell Depletion. J Virol **91**.
- 51. **Stanfield BA, Luftig MA.** 2017. Recent advances in understanding Epstein-Barr virus. F1000Res **6:**386.
- 52. **Tangye SG, Palendira U, Edwards ES.** 2017. Human immunity against EBV-lessons from the clinic. J Exp Med **214**:269-283.
- 53. **Young LS, Yap LF, Murray PG.** 2016. Epstein-Barr virus: more than 50 years old and still providing surprises. Nat Rev Cancer **16**:789-802.
- 54. **Shannon-Lowe C, Rickinson AB, Bell AI.** 2017. Epstein-Barr virusassociated lymphomas. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci **372**.
- 55. **Gujer C, Chatterjee B, Landtwing V, Raykova A, McHugh D, Munz C.** 2015. Animal models of Epstein Barr virus infection. Curr Opin Virol **13:**6-10.
- 56. **Dong S, Forrest JC, Liang X.** 2017. Murine Gammaherpesvirus 68: A Small Animal Model for Gammaherpesvirus-Associated Diseases. Adv Exp Med Biol **1018**:225-236.
- 57. **Muhe J, Wang F.** 2015. Non-human Primate Lymphocryptoviruses: Past, Present, and Future. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol **391:**385-405.
- 58. **Chang Y, Cesarman E, Pessin MS, Lee F, Culpepper J, Knowles DM, Moore PS.** 1994. Identification of herpesvirus-like DNA sequences in AIDSassociated Kaposi's sarcoma. Science **266**:1865-1869.
- 59. **Martin JN.** 2007. The epidemiology of KSHV and its association with malignant disease. *In* Arvin A, Campadelli-Fiume G, Mocarski E, Moore PS, Roizman B, Whitley R, Yamanishi K (ed), Human Herpesviruses: Biology, Therapy, and Immunoprophylaxis, Cambridge.
- 60. **Zheng J, Yang Y, Cui M, Shu ZJ, Han LL, Liu ZQ, Wood C, Zhang T, Zeng Y.** 2017. Prevalence of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus in Uygur and Han populations from the Urumqi and Kashgar regions of Xinjiang, China. Virol Sin **32:**396-403.
- 61. **Greene W, Kuhne K, Ye F, Chen J, Zhou F, Lei X, Gao SJ.** 2007. Molecular biology of KSHV in relation to AIDS-associated oncogenesis. Cancer Treat Res **133:**69-127.
- 62. **Purushothaman P, Dabral P, Gupta N, Sarkar R, Verma SC.** 2016. KSHV Genome Replication and Maintenance. Front Microbiol **7:**54.
- 63. **Russo JJ, Bohenzky RA, Chien MC, Chen J, Yan M, Maddalena D, Parry JP, Peruzzi D, Edelman IS, Chang Y, Moore PS.** 1996. Nucleotide sequence of the Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (HHV8). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **93:**14862-14867.

- 64. **Bai Z, Huang Y, Li W, Zhu Y, Jung JU, Lu C, Gao SJ.** 2014. Genomewide mapping and screening of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV) 3' untranslated regions identify bicistronic and polycistronic viral transcripts as frequent targets of KSHV microRNAs. J Virol **88**:377-392.
- 65. **Gottwein E.** 2012. Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus microRNAs. Front Microbiol **3:**165.
- 66. **Neipel F, Albrecht JC, Fleckenstein B.** 1998. Human herpesvirus 8--the first human Rhadinovirus. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr:**73**-77.
- 67. **Chakraborty S, Veettil MV, Chandran B.** 2012. Kaposi's Sarcoma Associated Herpesvirus Entry into Target Cells. Front Microbiol **3:**6.
- 68. **Minhas V, Wood C.** 2014. Epidemiology and transmission of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. Viruses **6**:4178-4194.
- 69. **Akula SM, Pramod NP, Wang FZ, Chandran B.** 2001. Human herpesvirus 8 envelope-associated glycoprotein B interacts with heparan sulfate-like moieties. Virology **284**:235-249.
- 70. **Veettil MV, Bandyopadhyay C, Dutta D, Chandran B.** 2014. Interaction of KSHV with host cell surface receptors and cell entry. Viruses **6:**4024-4046.
- 71. **Akula SM, Pramod NP, Wang FZ, Chandran B.** 2002. Integrin alpha3beta1 (CD 49c/29) is a cellular receptor for Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV/HHV-8) entry into the target cells. Cell **108**:407-419.
- 72. **Kumar B, Chandran B.** 2016. KSHV Entry and Trafficking in Target Cells-Hijacking of Cell Signal Pathways, Actin and Membrane Dynamics. Viruses **8**.
- 73. **Kaleeba JA, Berger EA.** 2006. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus fusion-entry receptor: cystine transporter xCT. Science **311**:1921-1924.
- 74. Veettil MV, Sadagopan S, Sharma-Walia N, Wang FZ, Raghu H, Varga L, Chandran B. 2008. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus forms a multimolecular complex of integrins (alphaVbeta5, alphaVbeta3, and alpha3beta1) and CD98-xCT during infection of human dermal microvascular endothelial cells, and CD98-xCT is essential for the postentry stage of infection. J Virol 82:12126-12144.
- 75. **Hensler HR, Tomaszewski MJ, Rappocciolo G, Rinaldo CR, Jenkins FJ.** 2014. Human herpesvirus 8 glycoprotein B binds the entry receptor DC-SIGN. Virus Res **190**:97-103.
- 76. Hahn AS, Kaufmann JK, Wies E, Naschberger E, Panteleev-Ivlev J, Schmidt K, Holzer A, Schmidt M, Chen J, Konig S, Ensser A, Myoung J, Brockmeyer NH, Sturzl M, Fleckenstein B, Neipel F. 2012. The ephrin receptor tyrosine kinase A2 is a cellular receptor for Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus. Nat Med 18:961-966.
- 77. Lin CL, Li H, Wang Y, Zhu FX, Kudchodkar S, Yuan Y. 2003. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus lytic origin (ori-Lyt)-dependent DNA replication: identification of the ori-Lyt and association of K8 bZip protein with the origin. J Virol **77:**5578-5588.
- 78. **Wang Y, Tang Q, Maul GG, Yuan Y.** 2006. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus ori-Lyt-dependent DNA replication: dual role of replication and transcription activator. J Virol **80**:12171-12186.

- 79. **Lieberman PM.** 2013. Keeping it quiet: chromatin control of gammaherpesvirus latency. Nat Rev Microbiol **11**:863-875.
- 80. **Verma SC, Lan K, Choudhuri T, Cotter MA, Robertson ES.** 2007. An autonomous replicating element within the KSHV genome. Cell Host Microbe **2:**106-118.
- 81. **Ballestas ME, Kaye KM.** 2011. The latency-associated nuclear antigen, a multifunctional protein central to Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus latency. Future Microbiol **6:**1399-1413.
- 83. Van Dross R, Yao S, Asad S, Westlake G, Mays DJ, Barquero L, Duell S, Pietenpol JA, Browning PJ. 2005. Constitutively active K-cyclin/cdk6 kinase in Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-infected cells. J Natl Cancer Inst 97:656-666.
- 84. **Ye FC, Zhou FC, Xie JP, Kang T, Greene W, Kuhne K, Lei XF, Li QH, Gao SJ.** 2008. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus latent gene vFLIP inhibits viral lytic replication through NF-kappaB-mediated suppression of the AP-1 pathway: a novel mechanism of virus control of latency. J Virol **82:**4235-4249.
- 85. **Guasparri I, Keller SA, Cesarman E.** 2004. KSHV vFLIP is essential for the survival of infected lymphoma cells. J Exp Med **199:**993-1003.
- 86. **Chang HC, Hsieh TH, Lee YW, Tsai CF, Tsai YN, Cheng CC, Wang HW.** 2016. c-Myc and viral cofactor Kaposin B co-operate to elicit angiogenesis through modulating miRNome traits of endothelial cells. BMC Syst Biol **10 Suppl 1:**1.
- 87. **Chen X, Cheng L, Jia X, Zeng Y, Yao S, Lv Z, Qin D, Fang X, Lei Y, Lu C.** 2009. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Tat accelerates Kaposi sarcomaassociated herpesvirus Kaposin A-mediated tumorigenesis of transformed fibroblasts in vitro as well as in nude and immunocompetent mice. Neoplasia **11**:1272-1284.
- 88. **Qin J, Li W, Gao SJ, Lu C.** 2017. KSHV microRNAs: Tricks of the Devil. Trends Microbiol **25**:648-661.
- 89. **Gottwein E, Cai X, Cullen BR.** 2006. Expression and function of microRNAs encoded by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol **71**:357-364.
- 90. **Samols MA, Hu J, Skalsky RL, Renne R.** 2005. Cloning and identification of a microRNA cluster within the latency-associated region of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. J Virol **79**:9301-9305.
- 91. Lin YT, Kincaid RP, Arasappan D, Dowd SE, Hunicke-Smith SP, Sullivan CS. 2010. Small RNA profiling reveals antisense transcription throughout the KSHV genome and novel small RNAs. RNA **16**:1540-1558.
- 92. Lu F, Stedman W, Yousef M, Renne R, Lieberman PM. 2010. Epigenetic regulation of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus latency by virus-encoded microRNAs that target Rta and the cellular Rbl2-DNMT pathway. J Virol 84:2697-2706.

- 93. **Bellare P, Ganem D.** 2009. Regulation of KSHV lytic switch protein expression by a virus-encoded microRNA: an evolutionary adaptation that fine-tunes lytic reactivation. Cell Host Microbe **6**:570-575.
- 94. **Lin X, Liang D, He Z, Deng Q, Robertson ES, Lan K.** 2011. miR-K12-7-5p encoded by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus stabilizes the latent state by targeting viral ORF50/RTA. PLoS One **6**:e16224.
- 95. **Nachmani D, Stern-Ginossar N, Sarid R, Mandelboim O.** 2009. Diverse herpesvirus microRNAs target the stress-induced immune ligand MICB to escape recognition by natural killer cells. Cell Host Microbe **5**:376-385.
- 96. **Liang D, Gao Y, Lin X, He Z, Zhao Q, Deng Q, Lan K.** 2011. A human herpesvirus miRNA attenuates interferon signaling and contributes to maintenance of viral latency by targeting IKKepsilon. Cell Res **21**:793-806.
- 97. Samols MA, Skalsky RL, Maldonado AM, Riva A, Lopez MC, Baker HV, Renne R. 2007. Identification of cellular genes targeted by KSHV-encoded microRNAs. PLoS Pathog **3:**e65.
- 98. **Suffert G, Malterer G, Hausser J, Viiliainen J, Fender A, Contrant M, Ivacevic T, Benes V, Gros F, Voinnet O, Zavolan M, Ojala PM, Haas JG, Pfeffer S.** 2011. Kaposi's sarcoma herpesvirus microRNAs target caspase 3 and regulate apoptosis. PLoS Pathog **7:**e1002405.
- 99. **Moore PS, Chang Y.** 2009. Introduction to Diseases Associated with Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus, p 441-468. *In* Damania B, Pipas JM (ed), DNA Tumor Viruses doi:10.1007/978-0-387-68945-6. Springer Science + Business Media, LLC, NY, New York.
- 100. **Bubman D, Cesarman E.** 2003. Pathogenesis of Kaposi's sarcoma. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am **17:**717-745.
- 101. **Renne R, Lagunoff M, Zhong W, Ganem D.** 1996. The size and conformation of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8) DNA in infected cells and virions. J Virol **70**:8151-8154.
- 102. **El-Fattah MA.** 2017. Clinical characteristics and survival outcome of primary effusion lymphoma: A review of 105 patients. Hematol Oncol **35**:878-883.
- 103. Soulier J, Grollet L, Oksenhendler E, Cacoub P, Cazals-Hatem D, Babinet P, d'Agay MF, Clauvel JP, Raphael M, Degos L, et al. 1995. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-like DNA sequences in multicentric Castleman's disease. Blood **86**:1276-1280.
- 104. **Dupin N, Diss TL, Kellam P, Tulliez M, Du MQ, Sicard D, Weiss RA, Isaacson PG, Boshoff C.** 2000. HHV-8 is associated with a plasmablastic variant of Castleman disease that is linked to HHV-8-positive plasmablastic lymphoma. Blood **95:**1406-1412.
- 105. **Ganem D.** 2007. KSHV-induced oncogenesis. *In* Arvin A, Campadelli-Fiume G, Mocarski E, Moore PS, Roizman B, Whitley R, Yamanishi K (ed), Human Herpesviruses: Biology, Therapy, and Immunoprophylaxis, Cambridge.
- 106. **Frizzera G, Peterson BA, Bayrd ED, Goldman A.** 1985. A systemic lymphoproliferative disorder with morphologic features of Castleman's disease: clinical findings and clinicopathologic correlations in 15 patients. J Clin Oncol **3:**1202-1216.

- 107. Polizzotto MN, Uldrick TS, Wyvill KM, Aleman K, Marshall V, Wang V, Whitby D, Pittaluga S, Jaffe ES, Millo C, Tosato G, Little RF, Steinberg SM, Sereti I, Yarchoan R. 2016. Clinical Features and Outcomes of Patients With Symptomatic Kaposi Sarcoma Herpesvirus (KSHV)-associated Inflammation: Prospective Characterization of KSHV Inflammatory Cytokine Syndrome (KICS). Clin Infect Dis 62:730-738.
- 108. **Speicher DJ, Sehu MM, Johnson NW, Shaw DR.** 2013. Successful treatment of an HIV-positive patient with unmasking Kaposi's sarcoma immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome. J Clin Virol **57:**282-285.
- 109. **Siegel MO, Ghafouri S, Ajmera R, Simon GL.** 2016. Immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome, human herpesvirus 8 viremia, and HIV-associated multicentric Castleman disease. Int J Infect Dis **48**:49-51.
- 110. **Cattelan AM, Mattiolo A, Grassi A, Piano MA, Sasset L, Trevenzoli M, Zanovello P, Calabro ML.** 2016. Predictors of immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome associated with Kaposi's sarcoma: a case report. Infect Agent Cancer **11**:5.
- 111. **Connick E, Kane MA, White IE, Ryder J, Campbell TB.** 2004. Immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome associated with Kaposi sarcoma during potent antiretroviral therapy. Clin Infect Dis **39**:1852-1855.
- 112. **Shepherd FA, Maher E, Cardella C, Cole E, Greig P, Wade JA, Levy G.** 1997. Treatment of Kaposi's sarcoma after solid organ transplantation. J Clin Oncol **15**:2371-2377.
- 113. **Heyrman B, De Becker A, Schots R.** 2016. A case report of immunosuppression-related Kaposi's sarcoma after autologous stem cell transplantation. BMC Res Notes **9:**188.
- 114. Little RF, Pluda JM, Wyvill KM, Rodriguez-Chavez IR, Tosato G, Catanzaro AT, Steinberg SM, Yarchoan R. 2006. Activity of subcutaneous interleukin-12 in AIDS-related Kaposi sarcoma. Blood **107:**4650-4657.
- 115. Koon HB, Krown SE, Lee JY, Honda K, Rapisuwon S, Wang Z, Aboulafia D, Reid EG, Rudek MA, Dezube BJ, Noy A. 2014. Phase II trial of imatinib in AIDS-associated Kaposi's sarcoma: AIDS Malignancy Consortium Protocol 042. J Clin Oncol **32:**402-408.
- 116. **Diaz-Ley B, Grillo E, Rios-Buceta L, Paoli J, Moreno C, Vano-Galvan S, Jaen-Olasolo P.** 2015. Classic Kaposi's sarcoma treated with topical rapamycin. Dermatol Ther **28:**40-43.
- 117. Yaich S, Charfeddine K, Zaghdane S, El Aoud N, Jarraya F, Kharrat M, Hachicha J. 2012. Sirolimus for the treatment of Kaposi sarcoma after renal transplantation: a series of 10 cases. Transplant Proc **44**:2824-2826.
- 118. Lurain K, Yarchoan R, Uldrick TS. 2018. Treatment of Kaposi Sarcoma Herpesvirus-Associated Multicentric Castleman Disease. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am **32**:75-88.
- 119. **Perier A, Savey L, Marcelin AG, Serve P, Saadoun D, Barete S.** 2017. De Novo Human Herpesvirus 8 Tumors Induced by Rituximab in Autoimmune or Inflammatory Systemic Diseases. Arthritis Rheumatol **69**:2241-2246.
- 120. **Hashmi H, Murray D, Al-Quran S, Tse W.** 2018. Primary Effusion Lymphoma without an Effusion: A Rare Case of Solid Extracavitary Variant of

Primary Effusion Lymphoma in an HIV-Positive Patient. Case Rep Hematol **2018:**9368451.

- 121. **Picchio GR, Sabbe RE, Gulizia RJ, McGrath M, Herndier BG, Mosier DE.** 1997. The KSHV/HHV8-infected BCBL-1 lymphoma line causes tumors in SCID mice but fails to transmit virus to a human peripheral blood mononuclear cell graft. Virology **238**:22-29.
- 122. Wu W, Vieira J, Fiore N, Banerjee P, Sieburg M, Rochford R, Harrington W, Jr., Feuer G. 2006. KSHV/HHV-8 infection of human hematopoietic progenitor (CD34+) cells: persistence of infection during hematopoiesis in vitro and in vivo. Blood **108:**141-151.
- 123. **Parsons CH, Adang LA, Overdevest J, O'Connor CM, Taylor JR, Jr., Camerini D, Kedes DH.** 2006. KSHV targets multiple leukocyte lineages during long-term productive infection in NOD/SCID mice. J Clin Invest **116**:1963-1973.
- 124. **Wang LX, Kang G, Kumar P, Lu W, Li Y, Zhou Y, Li Q, Wood C.** 2014. Humanized-BLT mouse model of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **111**:3146-3151.
- 125. **Dittmer DP, Damania B, Sin SH.** 2015. Animal models of tumorigenic herpesviruses--an update. Curr Opin Virol **14:**145-150.
- 126. Virgin HWt, Latreille P, Wamsley P, Hallsworth K, Weck KE, Dal Canto AJ, Speck SH. 1997. Complete sequence and genomic analysis of murine gammaherpesvirus 68. J Virol **71**:5894-5904.
- 127. **Barton E, Mandal P, Speck SH.** 2011. Pathogenesis and host control of gammaherpesviruses: lessons from the mouse. Annu Rev Immunol **29:**351-397.
- 128. **Renne R, Dittmer D, Kedes D, Schmidt K, Desrosiers RC, Luciw PA, Ganem D.** 2004. Experimental transmission of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV/HHV-8) to SIV-positive and SIV-negative rhesus macaques. J Med Primatol **33:**1-9.
- 129. **Chang H, Wachtman LM, Pearson CB, Lee JS, Lee HR, Lee SH, Vieira J, Mansfield KG, Jung JU.** 2009. Non-human primate model of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus infection. PLoS Pathog **5:**e1000606.
- 130. Rose TM, Strand KB, Schultz ER, Schaefer G, Rankin GW, Jr., Thouless ME, Tsai CC, Bosch ML. 1997. Identification of two homologs of the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8) in retroperitoneal fibromatosis of different macaque species. J Virol **71:**4138-4144.
- 131. Giddens WE, Jr., Tsai CC, Morton WR, Ochs HD, Knitter GH, Blakley GA. 1985. Retroperitoneal fibromatosis and acquired immunodeficiency syndrome in macaques. Pathologic observations and transmission studies. Am J Pathol 119:253-263.
- 132. Schultz ER, Rankin GW, Jr., Blanc MP, Raden BW, Tsai CC, Rose TM. 2000. Characterization of two divergent lineages of macaque rhadinoviruses related to Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. J Virol **74:**4919-4928.
- 133. **Harris S, Lang SM, Means RE.** 2010. Characterization of the rhesus fibromatosis herpesvirus MARCH family member rfK3. Virology **398:**214-223.

- 134. Wong SW, Bergquam EP, Swanson RM, Lee FW, Shiigi SM, Avery NA, Fanton JW, Axthelm MK. 1999. Induction of B cell hyperplasia in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected rhesus macaques with the simian homologue of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. J Exp Med **190:**827-840.
- 135. **Desrosiers RC, Sasseville VG, Czajak SC, Zhang X, Mansfield KG, Kaur A, Johnson RP, Lackner AA, Jung JU.** 1997. A herpesvirus of rhesus monkeys related to the human Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. J Virol **71:**9764-9769.
- 136. **Estep RD, Hansen SG, Rogers KS, Axthelm MK, Wong SW.** 2013. Genomic characterization of Japanese macaque rhadinovirus, a novel herpesvirus isolated from a nonhuman primate with a spontaneous inflammatory demyelinating disease. J Virol **87:**512-523.
- 137. Searles RP, Bergquam EP, Axthelm MK, Wong SW. 1999. Sequence and genomic analysis of a Rhesus macaque rhadinovirus with similarity to Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus/human herpesvirus 8. J Virol **73:**3040-3053.
- 138. **Damania B, Desrosiers RC.** 2001. Simian homologues of human herpesvirus 8. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci **356:**535-543.
- 139. Alexander L, Denekamp L, Knapp A, Auerbach MR, Damania B, Desrosiers RC. 2000. The primary sequence of rhesus monkey rhadinovirus isolate 26-95: sequence similarities to Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus and rhesus monkey rhadinovirus isolate 17577. J Virol **74:**3388-3398.
- 140. **Robinson BA, Estep RD, Messaoudi I, Rogers KS, Wong SW.** 2012. Viral interferon regulatory factors decrease the induction of type I and type II interferon during rhesus macaque rhadinovirus infection. J Virol **86:**2197-2211.
- 141. **Hahn AS, Desrosiers RC.** 2013. Rhesus monkey rhadinovirus uses eph family receptors for entry into B cells and endothelial cells but not fibroblasts. PLoS Pathog **9:**e1003360.
- 142. **Grosskopf AK, Ensser A, Neipel F, Jungnickl D, Schlagowski S, Desrosiers RC, Hahn AS.** 2018. A conserved Eph family receptor-binding motif on the gH/gL complex of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus and rhesus monkey rhadinovirus. PLoS Pathog **14:**e1006912.
- 143. **Kirchoff V, Wong S, St JS, Pari GS.** 2002. Generation of a life-expanded rhesus monkey fibroblast cell line for the growth of rhesus rhadinovirus (RRV). Arch Virol **147:**321-333.
- 144. **Bergquam EP, Avery N, Shiigi SM, Axthelm MK, Wong SW.** 1999. Rhesus rhadinovirus establishes a latent infection in B lymphocytes in vivo. J Virol **73:**7874-7876.
- 145. **Garrigues HJ, Rubinchikova YE, Dipersio CM, Rose TM.** 2008. Integrin alphaVbeta3 Binds to the RGD motif of glycoprotein B of Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus and functions as an RGD-dependent entry receptor. J Virol **82:**1570-1580.

- 146. **Zhang W, Zhou F, Greene W, Gao SJ.** 2010. Rhesus rhadinovirus infection of rhesus fibroblasts occurs through clathrin-mediated endocytosis. J Virol **84**:11709-11717.
- 147. **Zhang W, Greene W, Gao SJ.** 2012. Microtubule- and dynein-dependent nuclear trafficking of rhesus rhadinovirus in rhesus fibroblasts. J Virol **86:**599-604.
- 148. **Yu XK, O'Connor CM, Atanasov I, Damania B, Kedes DH, Zhou ZH.** 2003. Three-dimensional structures of the A, B, and C capsids of rhesus monkey rhadinovirus: insights into gammaherpesvirus capsid assembly, maturation, and DNA packaging. J Virol **77:**13182-13193.
- 149. **O'Connor CM, Kedes DH.** 2006. Mass spectrometric analyses of purified rhesus monkey rhadinovirus reveal 33 virion-associated proteins. J Virol **80:**1574-1583.
- 150. **Anderson MS, Loftus MS, Kedes DH.** 2014. Maturation and vesiclemediated egress of primate gammaherpesvirus rhesus monkey rhadinovirus require inner tegument protein ORF52. J Virol **88**:9111-9128.
- 151. **Orzechowska BU, Manoharan M, Sprague J, Estep RD, Axthelm MK, Wong SW.** 2009. Viral interleukin-6 encoded by rhesus macaque rhadinovirus is associated with lymphoproliferative disorder (LPD). J Med Primatol **38 Suppl 1:**2-7.
- 152. **Orzechowska BU, Powers MF, Sprague J, Li H, Yen B, Searles RP, Axthelm MK, Wong SW.** 2008. Rhesus macaque rhadinovirus-associated non-Hodgkin lymphoma: animal model for KSHV-associated malignancies. Blood **112:**4227-4234.
- 153. **Wang SE, Wu FY, Chen H, Shamay M, Zheng Q, Hayward GS.** 2004. Early activation of the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus RTA, RAP, and MTA promoters by the tetradecanoyl phorbol acetate-induced AP1 pathway. J Virol **78:**4248-4267.
- 154. **Lu F, Day L, Lieberman PM.** 2005. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus virion-induced transcription activation of the ORF50 immediate-early promoter. J Virol **79:**13180-13185.
- 155. **Lukac DM, Renne R, Kirshner JR, Ganem D.** 1998. Reactivation of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus infection from latency by expression of the ORF 50 transactivator, a homolog of the EBV R protein. Virology **252:**304-312.
- 156. **Gradoville L, Gerlach J, Grogan E, Shedd D, Nikiforow S, Metroka C, Miller G.** 2000. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus open reading frame 50/Rta protein activates the entire viral lytic cycle in the HH-B2 primary effusion lymphoma cell line. J Virol **74:**6207-6212.
- 157. **Moses AV, Fish KN, Ruhl R, Smith PP, Strussenberg JG, Zhu L, Chandran B, Nelson JA.** 1999. Long-term infection and transformation of dermal microvascular endothelial cells by human herpesvirus 8. J Virol **73:**6892-6902.
- 158. Lagunoff M, Bechtel J, Venetsanakos E, Roy AM, Abbey N, Herndier B, McMahon M, Ganem D. 2002. De novo infection and serial transmission of

Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus in cultured endothelial cells. J Virol **76:**2440-2448.

- 159. **Pyakurel P, Pak F, Mwakigonja AR, Kaaya E, Heiden T, Biberfeld P.** 2006. Lymphatic and vascular origin of Kaposi's sarcoma spindle cells during tumor development. Int J Cancer **119:**1262-1267.
- 160. **Rappocciolo G, Hensler HR, Jais M, Reinhart TA, Pegu A, Jenkins FJ, Rinaldo CR.** 2008. Human herpesvirus 8 infects and replicates in primary cultures of activated B lymphocytes through DC-SIGN. J Virol **82:**4793-4806.
- 161. **Myoung J, Ganem D.** 2011. Infection of lymphoblastoid cell lines by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus: critical role of cell-associated virus. J Virol **85**:9767-9777.
- 162. **Nicol SM, Sabbah S, Brulois KF, Jung JU, Bell AI, Hislop AD.** 2016. Primary B Lymphocytes Infected with Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus Can Be Expanded In Vitro and Are Recognized by LANA-Specific CD4+ T Cells. J Virol **90**:3849-3859.
- 163. **DeWire SM, Money ES, Krall SP, Damania B.** 2003. Rhesus monkey rhadinovirus (RRV): construction of a RRV-GFP recombinant virus and development of assays to assess viral replication. Virology **312**:122-134.
- 164. **Estep RD, Powers MF, Yen BK, Li H, Wong SW.** 2007. Construction of an infectious rhesus rhadinovirus bacterial artificial chromosome for the analysis of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-related disease development. J Virol **81:**2957-2969.
- 165. **Yan N, Chen ZJ.** 2012. Intrinsic antiviral immunity. Nat Immunol **13**:214-222.
- 166. **Landolfo S, De Andrea M, Dell'Oste V, Gugliesi F.** 2016. Intrinsic host restriction factors of human cytomegalovirus replication and mechanisms of viral escape. World J Virol **5:**87-96.
- 167. **Tang D, Kang R, Coyne CB, Zeh HJ, Lotze MT.** 2012. PAMPs and DAMPs: signal 0s that spur autophagy and immunity. Immunol Rev **249**:158-175.
- 168. **Mossman KL, Ashkar AA.** 2005. Herpesviruses and the innate immune response. Viral Immunol **18:**267-281.
- 169. **Zhao GN, Jiang DS, Li H.** 2015. Interferon regulatory factors: at the crossroads of immunity, metabolism, and disease. Biochim Biophys Acta **1852:**365-378.
- 170. **Ma Z, Damania B.** 2016. The cGAS-STING Defense Pathway and Its Counteraction by Viruses. Cell Host Microbe **19:**150-158.
- 171. **Unterholzner L.** 2013. The interferon response to intracellular DNA: why so many receptors? Immunobiology **218:**1312-1321.
- 172. **Sparrer KM, Gack MU.** 2015. Intracellular detection of viral nucleic acids. Curr Opin Microbiol **26:**1-9.
- 173. **Lester SN, Li K.** 2014. Toll-like receptors in antiviral innate immunity. J Mol Biol **426**:1246-1264.
- 174. **Boehme KW, Guerrero M, Compton T.** 2006. Human cytomegalovirus envelope glycoproteins B and H are necessary for TLR2 activation in permissive cells. J Immunol **177:**7094-7102.

- 175. **Ariza ME, Glaser R, Kaumaya PT, Jones C, Williams MV.** 2009. The EBVencoded dUTPase activates NF-kappa B through the TLR2 and MyD88dependent signaling pathway. J Immunol **182**:851-859.
- 176. **Alexopoulou L, Holt AC, Medzhitov R, Flavell RA.** 2001. Recognition of double-stranded RNA and activation of NF-kappaB by Toll-like receptor 3. Nature **413**:732-738.
- 177. Lund JM, Alexopoulou L, Sato A, Karow M, Adams NC, Gale NW, Iwasaki A, Flavell RA. 2004. Recognition of single-stranded RNA viruses by Toll-like receptor 7. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **101**:5598-5603.
- 178. **Heil F, Hemmi H, Hochrein H, Ampenberger F, Kirschning C, Akira S, Lipford G, Wagner H, Bauer S.** 2004. Species-specific recognition of singlestranded RNA via toll-like receptor 7 and 8. Science **303**:1526-1529.
- 179. **Lund J, Sato A, Akira S, Medzhitov R, Iwasaki A.** 2003. Toll-like receptor 9mediated recognition of Herpes simplex virus-2 by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J Exp Med **198:**513-520.
- 180. Akira S, Uematsu S, Takeuchi O. 2006. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. Cell **124:**783-801.
- 181. **Yoneyama M, Kikuchi M, Natsukawa T, Shinobu N, Imaizumi T, Miyagishi M, Taira K, Akira S, Fujita T.** 2004. The RNA helicase RIG-I has an essential function in double-stranded RNA-induced innate antiviral responses. Nat Immunol **5**:730-737.
- 182. **Pichlmair A, Schulz O, Tan CP, Naslund TI, Liljestrom P, Weber F, Reis e Sousa C.** 2006. RIG-I-mediated antiviral responses to single-stranded RNA bearing 5'-phosphates. Science **314**:997-1001.
- 183. Kato H, Takeuchi O, Mikamo-Satoh E, Hirai R, Kawai T, Matsushita K, Hiiragi A, Dermody TS, Fujita T, Akira S. 2008. Length-dependent recognition of double-stranded ribonucleic acids by retinoic acid-inducible gene-I and melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5. J Exp Med **205:**1601-1610.
- 184. **Merrick WC.** 1992. Mechanism and regulation of eukaryotic protein synthesis. Microbiol Rev **56**:291-315.
- 185. **Sadler AJ, Williams BR.** 2007. Structure and function of the protein kinase R. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol **316**:253-292.
- 186. **Jacobs SR, Damania B.** 2012. NLRs, inflammasomes, and viral infection. J Leukoc Biol **92:**469-477.
- 187. **Pang IK, Iwasaki A.** 2011. Inflammasomes as mediators of immunity against influenza virus. Trends Immunol **32:**34-41.
- 188. Shrivastava G, Leon-Juarez M, Garcia-Cordero J, Meza-Sanchez DE, Cedillo-Barron L. 2016. Inflammasomes and its importance in viral infections. Immunol Res 64:1101-1117.
- 189. Takaoka A, Wang Z, Choi MK, Yanai H, Negishi H, Ban T, Lu Y, Miyagishi M, Kodama T, Honda K, Ohba Y, Taniguchi T. 2007. DAI (DLM-1/ZBP1) is a cytosolic DNA sensor and an activator of innate immune response. Nature 448:501-505.
- 190. Ansari MA, Singh VV, Dutta S, Veettil MV, Dutta D, Chikoti L, Lu J, Everly D, Chandran B. 2013. Constitutive interferon-inducible protein 16-

inflammasome activation during Epstein-Barr virus latency I, II, and III in B and epithelial cells. J Virol **87:**8606-8623.

- 191. Gariano GR, Dell'Oste V, Bronzini M, Gatti D, Luganini A, De Andrea M, Gribaudo G, Gariglio M, Landolfo S. 2012. The intracellular DNA sensor IFI16 gene acts as restriction factor for human cytomegalovirus replication. PLoS Pathog 8:e1002498.
- 192. **Gugliesi F, De Andrea M, Mondini M, Cappello P, Giovarelli M, Shoenfeld Y, Meroni P, Gariglio M, Landolfo S.** 2010. The proapoptotic activity of the Interferon-inducible gene IFI16 provides new insights into its etiopathogenetic role in autoimmunity. J Autoimmun **35**:114-123.
- 193. Almine JF, O'Hare CA, Dunphy G, Haga IR, Naik RJ, Atrih A, Connolly DJ, Taylor J, Kelsall IR, Bowie AG, Beard PM, Unterholzner L. 2017. IFI16 and cGAS cooperate in the activation of STING during DNA sensing in human keratinocytes. Nat Commun 8:14392.
- 194. **Kato K, Omura H, Ishitani R, Nureki O.** 2017. Cyclic GMP-AMP as an Endogenous Second Messenger in Innate Immune Signaling by Cytosolic DNA. Annu Rev Biochem **86:**541-566.
- 195. Lio CW, McDonald B, Takahashi M, Dhanwani R, Sharma N, Huang J, Pham E, Benedict CA, Sharma S. 2016. cGAS-STING Signaling Regulates Initial Innate Control of Cytomegalovirus Infection. J Virol **90:**7789-7797.
- 196. Lallemand-Breitenbach V, de The H. 2010. PML nuclear bodies. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol **2**:a000661.
- 197. **Szostecki C, Guldner HH, Netter HJ, Will H.** 1990. Isolation and characterization of cDNA encoding a human nuclear antigen predominantly recognized by autoantibodies from patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. J Immunol **145**:4338-4347.
- 198. **Rowley JD, Golomb HM, Dougherty C.** 1977. 15/17 translocation, a consistent chromosomal change in acute promyelocytic leukaemia. Lancet **1:**549-550.
- 199. Daniel MT, Koken M, Romagne O, Barbey S, Bazarbachi A, Stadler M, Guillemin MC, Degos L, Chomienne C, de The H. 1993. PML protein expression in hematopoietic and acute promyelocytic leukemia cells. Blood 82:1858-1867.
- 200. **Strudwick S, Borden KL.** 2002. Finding a role for PML in APL pathogenesis: a critical assessment of potential PML activities. Leukemia **16**:1906-1917.
- 201. **Terris B, Baldin V, Dubois S, Degott C, Flejou JF, Henin D, Dejean A.** 1995. PML nuclear bodies are general targets for inflammation and cell proliferation. Cancer Res **55**:1590-1597.
- 202. **Lusic M, Marini B, Ali H, Lucic B, Luzzati R, Giacca M.** 2013. Proximity to PML nuclear bodies regulates HIV-1 latency in CD4+ T cells. Cell Host Microbe **13**:665-677.
- 203. **Tashiro S, Muto A, Tanimoto K, Tsuchiya H, Suzuki H, Hoshino H, Yoshida M, Walter J, Igarashi K.** 2004. Repression of PML nuclear bodyassociated transcription by oxidative stress-activated Bach2. Mol Cell Biol **24**:3473-3484.

- 204. **Scherer M, Stamminger T.** 2016. Emerging Role of PML Nuclear Bodies in Innate Immune Signaling. J Virol **90:**5850-5854.
- 205. Kastner P, Perez A, Lutz Y, Rochette-Egly C, Gaub MP, Durand B, Lanotte M, Berger R, Chambon P. 1992. Structure, localization and transcriptional properties of two classes of retinoic acid receptor alpha fusion proteins in acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL): structural similarities with a new family of oncoproteins. EMBO J **11**:629-642.
- 206. **Cheng X, Kao HY.** 2012. Post-translational modifications of PML: consequences and implications. Front Oncol **2:**210.
- 207. **Hsu KS, Kao HY.** 2018. PML: Regulation and multifaceted function beyond tumor suppression. Cell Biosci **8**:5.
- 208. **Everett RD, Chelbi-Alix MK.** 2007. PML and PML nuclear bodies: implications in antiviral defence. Biochimie **89:**819-830.
- 209. **Maroui MA, Kheddache-Atmane S, El Asmi F, Dianoux L, Aubry M, Chelbi-Alix MK.** 2012. Requirement of PML SUMO interacting motif for RNF4- or arsenic trioxide-induced degradation of nuclear PML isoforms. PLoS One **7:**e44949.
- 210. **Sahin U, Lallemand-Breitenbach V, de The H.** 2014. PML nuclear bodies: regulation, function and therapeutic perspectives. J Pathol **234:**289-291.
- 211. **Kamitani T, Kito K, Nguyen HP, Wada H, Fukuda-Kamitani T, Yeh ET.** 1998. Identification of three major sentrinization sites in PML. J Biol Chem **273:**26675-26682.
- 212. **Hayakawa F, Privalsky ML.** 2004. Phosphorylation of PML by mitogenactivated protein kinases plays a key role in arsenic trioxide-mediated apoptosis. Cancer Cell **5**:389-401.
- 213. Scaglioni PP, Yung TM, Cai LF, Erdjument-Bromage H, Kaufman AJ, Singh B, Teruya-Feldstein J, Tempst P, Pandolfi PP. 2006. A CK2-dependent mechanism for degradation of the PML tumor suppressor. Cell **126**:269-283.
- 214. **Shen TH, Lin HK, Scaglioni PP, Yung TM, Pandolfi PP.** 2006. The mechanisms of PML-nuclear body formation. Mol Cell **24**:331-339.
- 215. **Fu C, Ahmed K, Ding H, Ding X, Lan J, Yang Z, Miao Y, Zhu Y, Shi Y, Zhu J, Huang H, Yao X.** 2005. Stabilization of PML nuclear localization by conjugation and oligomerization of SUMO-3. Oncogene **24:**5401-5413.
- 216. Jeanne M, Lallemand-Breitenbach V, Ferhi O, Koken M, Le Bras M, Duffort S, Peres L, Berthier C, Soilihi H, Raught B, de The H. 2010. PML/RARA oxidation and arsenic binding initiate the antileukemia response of As2O3. Cancer Cell 18:88-98.
- 217. Sahin U, Ferhi O, Jeanne M, Benhenda S, Berthier C, Jollivet F, Niwa-Kawakita M, Faklaris O, Setterblad N, de The H, Lallemand-Breitenbach V. 2014. Oxidative stress-induced assembly of PML nuclear bodies controls sumoylation of partner proteins. J Cell Biol 204:931-945.
- 218. **Jensen K, Shiels C, Freemont PS.** 2001. PML protein isoforms and the RBCC/TRIM motif. Oncogene **20**:7223-7233.
- 219. **Sahin U, de The H, Lallemand-Breitenbach V.** 2014. PML nuclear bodies: assembly and oxidative stress-sensitive sumoylation. Nucleus **5:**499-507.

- 220. **Gartner A, Muller S.** 2014. PML, SUMO, and RNF4: guardians of nuclear protein quality. Mol Cell **55:**1-3.
- 221. **Bernardi R, Pandolfi PP.** 2007. Structure, dynamics and functions of promyelocytic leukaemia nuclear bodies. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol **8**:1006-1016.
- 222. **Zhong S, Salomoni P, Pandolfi PP.** 2000. The transcriptional role of PML and the nuclear body. Nat Cell Biol **2**:E85-90.
- 223. **Geoffroy MC, Chelbi-Alix MK.** 2011. Role of promyelocytic leukemia protein in host antiviral defense. J Interferon Cytokine Res **31:**145-158.
- 224. **Bernardi R, Pandolfi PP.** 2003. Role of PML and the PML-nuclear body in the control of programmed cell death. Oncogene **22**:9048-9057.
- 225. **Takahashi Y, Lallemand-Breitenbach V, Zhu J, de The H.** 2004. PML nuclear bodies and apoptosis. Oncogene **23**:2819-2824.
- 226. **Dellaire G, Bazett-Jones DP.** 2004. PML nuclear bodies: dynamic sensors of DNA damage and cellular stress. Bioessays **26**:963-977.
- 227. **Talluri S, Dick FA.** 2014. The retinoblastoma protein and PML collaborate to organize heterochromatin and silence E2F-responsive genes during senescence. Cell Cycle **13**:641-651.
- 228. **Trotman LC, Alimonti A, Scaglioni PP, Koutcher JA, Cordon-Cardo C, Pandolfi PP.** 2006. Identification of a tumour suppressor network opposing nuclear Akt function. Nature **441:**523-527.
- 229. Bernardi R, Guernah I, Jin D, Grisendi S, Alimonti A, Teruya-Feldstein J, Cordon-Cardo C, Simon MC, Rafii S, Pandolfi PP. 2006. PML inhibits HIF-1alpha translation and neoangiogenesis through repression of mTOR. Nature 442:779-785.
- 230. **Gurrieri C, Capodieci P, Bernardi R, Scaglioni PP, Nafa K, Rush LJ, Verbel DA, Cordon-Cardo C, Pandolfi PP.** 2004. Loss of the tumor suppressor PML in human cancers of multiple histologic origins. J Natl Cancer Inst **96:**269-279.
- 231. Carracedo A, Weiss D, Leliaert AK, Bhasin M, de Boer VC, Laurent G, Adams AC, Sundvall M, Song SJ, Ito K, Finley LS, Egia A, Libermann T, Gerhart-Hines Z, Puigserver P, Haigis MC, Maratos-Flier E, Richardson AL, Schafer ZT, Pandolfi PP. 2012. A metabolic prosurvival role for PML in breast cancer. J Clin Invest **122**:3088-3100.
- 232. **Tavalai N, Stamminger T.** 2008. New insights into the role of the subnuclear structure ND10 for viral infection. Biochim Biophys Acta **1783**:2207-2221.
- 233. **Everett RD, Rechter S, Papior P, Tavalai N, Stamminger T, Orr A.** 2006. PML contributes to a cellular mechanism of repression of herpes simplex virus type 1 infection that is inactivated by ICP0. J Virol **80**:7995-8005.
- 234. **Tavalai N, Papior P, Rechter S, Leis M, Stamminger T.** 2006. Evidence for a role of the cellular ND10 protein PML in mediating intrinsic immunity against human cytomegalovirus infections. J Virol **80**:8006-8018.
- 235. **Ullman AJ, Hearing P.** 2008. Cellular proteins PML and Daxx mediate an innate antiviral defense antagonized by the adenovirus E4 ORF3 protein. J Virol **82:**7325-7335.
- 236. **Poleshko A, Palagin I, Zhang R, Boimel P, Castagna C, Adams PD, Skalka AM, Katz RA.** 2008. Identification of cellular proteins that maintain

retroviral epigenetic silencing: evidence for an antiviral response. J Virol **82:**2313-2323.

- 237. **Djavani M, Rodas J, Lukashevich IS, Horejsh D, Pandolfi PP, Borden KL, Salvato MS.** 2001. Role of the promyelocytic leukemia protein PML in the interferon sensitivity of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. J Virol **75:**6204-6208.
- 238. Iki S, Yokota S, Okabayashi T, Yokosawa N, Nagata K, Fujii N. 2005. Serum-dependent expression of promyelocytic leukemia protein suppresses propagation of influenza virus. Virology **343**:106-115.
- 239. Reichelt M, Wang L, Sommer M, Perrino J, Nour AM, Sen N, Baiker A, Zerboni L, Arvin AM. 2011. Entrapment of viral capsids in nuclear PML cages is an intrinsic antiviral host defense against varicella-zoster virus. PLoS Pathog 7:e1001266.
- 240. Lunardi A, Gaboli M, Giorgio M, Rivi R, Bygrave A, Antoniou M, Drabek D, Dzierzak E, Fagioli M, Salmena L, Botto M, Cordon-Cardo C, Luzzatto L, Pelicci PG, Grosveld F, Pandolfi PP. 2011. A Role for PML in Innate Immunity. Genes Cancer 2:10-19.
- 241. **Ribet D, Lallemand-Breitenbach V, Ferhi O, Nahori MA, Varet H, de The H, Cossart P.** 2017. Promyelocytic Leukemia Protein (PML) Controls Listeria monocytogenes Infection. MBio 8.
- 242. Sidik SM, Salsman J, Dellaire G, Rohde JR. 2015. Shigella infection interferes with SUMOylation and increases PML-NB number. PLoS One 10:e0122585.
- 243. **Regad T, Chelbi-Alix MK.** 2001. Role and fate of PML nuclear bodies in response to interferon and viral infections. Oncogene **20:**7274-7286.
- 244. **Stadler M, Chelbi-Alix MK, Koken MH, Venturini L, Lee C, Saib A, Quignon F, Pelicano L, Guillemin MC, Schindler C, et al.** 1995. Transcriptional induction of the PML growth suppressor gene by interferons is mediated through an ISRE and a GAS element. Oncogene **11**:2565-2573.
- 245. **Grotzinger T, Jensen K, Will H.** 1996. The interferon (IFN)-stimulated gene Sp100 promoter contains an IFN-gamma activation site and an imperfect IFN-stimulated response element which mediate type I IFN inducibility. J Biol Chem **271:**25253-25260.
- 246. **Chen Y, Wright J, Meng X, Leppard KN.** 2015. Promyelocytic Leukemia Protein Isoform II Promotes Transcription Factor Recruitment To Activate Interferon Beta and Interferon-Responsive Gene Expression. Mol Cell Biol **35:**1660-1672.
- 247. **El Asmi F, Maroui MA, Dutrieux J, Blondel D, Nisole S, Chelbi-Alix MK.** 2014. Implication of PMLIV in both intrinsic and innate immunity. PLoS Pathog **10:**e1003975.
- 248. **Bonilla WV, Pinschewer DD, Klenerman P, Rousson V, Gaboli M, Pandolfi PP, Zinkernagel RM, Salvato MS, Hengartner H.** 2002. Effects of promyelocytic leukemia protein on virus-host balance. J Virol **76:**3810-3818.
- 249. Mazza M, Pelicci PG. 2013. Is PML a Tumor Suppressor? Front Oncol 3:174.
- 250. **Fensterl V, Sen GC.** 2009. Interferons and viral infections. Biofactors **35**:14-20.

- 251. Prokunina-Olsson L, Muchmore B, Tang W, Pfeiffer RM, Park H, Dickensheets H, Hergott D, Porter-Gill P, Mumy A, Kohaar I, Chen S, Brand N, Tarway M, Liu L, Sheikh F, Astemborski J, Bonkovsky HL, Edlin BR, Howell CD, Morgan TR, Thomas DL, Rehermann B, Donnelly RP, O'Brien TR. 2013. A variant upstream of IFNL3 (IL28B) creating a new interferon gene IFNL4 is associated with impaired clearance of hepatitis C virus. Nat Genet **45**:164-171.
- 252. **McNab F, Mayer-Barber K, Sher A, Wack A, O'Garra A.** 2015. Type I interferons in infectious disease. Nat Rev Immunol **15:**87-103.
- 253. Wang J, Basagoudanavar SH, Wang X, Hopewell E, Albrecht R, Garcia-Sastre A, Balachandran S, Beg AA. 2010. NF-kappa B RelA subunit is crucial for early IFN-beta expression and resistance to RNA virus replication. J Immunol 185:1720-1729.
- 254. **Zhang XJ, Zhang P, Li H.** 2015. Interferon regulatory factor signalings in cardiometabolic diseases. Hypertension **66**:222-247.
- 255. **Porritt RA, Hertzog PJ.** 2015. Dynamic control of type I IFN signalling by an integrated network of negative regulators. Trends Immunol **36:**150-160.
- 256. **Ivashkiv LB, Donlin LT.** 2014. Regulation of type I interferon responses. Nat Rev Immunol **14**:36-49.
- 257. Nazarov PV, Reinsbach SE, Muller A, Nicot N, Philippidou D, Vallar L, Kreis S. 2013. Interplay of microRNAs, transcription factors and target genes: linking dynamic expression changes to function. Nucleic Acids Res 41:2817-2831.
- 258. **de Weerd NA, Nguyen T.** 2012. The interferons and their receptors--distribution and regulation. Immunol Cell Biol **90**:483-491.
- 259. Smith S, Fernando T, Wu PW, Seo J, Ni Gabhann J, Piskareva O, McCarthy E, Howard D, O'Connell P, Conway R, Gallagher P, Molloy E, Stallings RL, Kearns G, Forbess L, Ishimori M, Venuturupalli S, Wallace D, Weisman M, Jefferies CA. 2017. MicroRNA-302d targets IRF9 to regulate the IFN-induced gene expression in SLE. J Autoimmun **79**:105-111.
- 260. **Forster SC, Tate MD, Hertzog PJ.** 2015. MicroRNA as Type I Interferon-Regulated Transcripts and Modulators of the Innate Immune Response. Front Immunol **6**:334.
- 261. Kotenko SV, Gallagher G, Baurin VV, Lewis-Antes A, Shen M, Shah NK, Langer JA, Sheikh F, Dickensheets H, Donnelly RP. 2003. IFN-lambdas mediate antiviral protection through a distinct class II cytokine receptor complex. Nat Immunol 4:69-77.
- 262. **Zanoni I, Granucci F, Broggi A.** 2017. Interferon (IFN)-lambda Takes the Helm: Immunomodulatory Roles of Type III IFNs. Front Immunol **8**:1661.
- 263. **Gough DJ, Levy DE, Johnstone RW, Clarke CJ.** 2008. IFNgamma signalingdoes it mean JAK-STAT? Cytokine Growth Factor Rev **19**:383-394.
- 264. **Green DS, Young HA, Valencia JC.** 2017. Current prospects of type II interferon gamma signaling and autoimmunity. J Biol Chem **292:**13925-13933.
- 265. **Schroder K, Hertzog PJ, Ravasi T, Hume DA.** 2004. Interferon-gamma: an overview of signals, mechanisms and functions. J Leukoc Biol **75**:163-189.
- 266. **Violeta Rus CSV.** 2007. Cytokines in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *In* George C. Tsokos CG, Josef S. Smolen (ed), Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: A Companion to Rheumatology. Elsevier.
- 267. **Savitsky D, Tamura T, Yanai H, Taniguchi T.** 2010. Regulation of immunity and oncogenesis by the IRF transcription factor family. Cancer Immunol Immunother **59**:489-510.
- 268. **Yang J, Tian B, Sun H, Garofalo RP, Brasier AR.** 2017. Epigenetic silencing of IRF1 dysregulates type III interferon responses to respiratory virus infection in epithelial to mesenchymal transition. Nat Microbiol **2:**17086.
- 269. **Pamment J, Ramsay E, Kelleher M, Dornan D, Ball KL.** 2002. Regulation of the IRF-1 tumour modifier during the response to genotoxic stress involves an ATM-dependent signalling pathway. Oncogene **21:**7776-7785.
- 270. Negishi H, Fujita Y, Yanai H, Sakaguchi S, Ouyang X, Shinohara M, Takayanagi H, Ohba Y, Taniguchi T, Honda K. 2006. Evidence for licensing of IFN-gamma-induced IFN regulatory factor 1 transcription factor by MyD88 in Toll-like receptor-dependent gene induction program. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:15136-15141.
- 271. **Siegel R, Eskdale J, Gallagher G.** 2011. Regulation of IFN-lambda1 promoter activity (IFN-lambda1/IL-29) in human airway epithelial cells. J Immunol **187:**5636-5644.
- 272. **Ueki IF, Min-Oo G, Kalinowski A, Ballon-Landa E, Lanier LL, Nadel JA, Koff JL.** 2013. Respiratory virus-induced EGFR activation suppresses IRF1dependent interferon lambda and antiviral defense in airway epithelium. J Exp Med **210**:1929-1936.
- 273. Buccione C, Fragale A, Polverino F, Ziccheddu G, Arico E, Belardelli F, Proietti E, Battistini A, Moschella F. 2018. Role of interferon regulatory factor 1 in governing Treg depletion, Th1 polarization, inflammasome activation and antitumor efficacy of cyclophosphamide. Int J Cancer **142**:976-987.
- 274. **Mboko WP, Olteanu H, Ray A, Xin G, Darrah EJ, Kumar SN, Kulinski JM, Cui W, Dittel BN, Gauld SB, Tarakanova VL.** 2015. Tumor Suppressor Interferon-Regulatory Factor 1 Counteracts the Germinal Center Reaction Driven by a Cancer-Associated Gammaherpesvirus. J Virol **90:**2818-2829.
- 275. **Harada H, Fujita T, Miyamoto M, Kimura Y, Maruyama M, Furia A, Miyata T, Taniguchi T.** 1989. Structurally similar but functionally distinct factors, IRF-1 and IRF-2, bind to the same regulatory elements of IFN and IFN-inducible genes. Cell **58**:729-739.
- 276. **Blanco JC, Contursi C, Salkowski CA, DeWitt DL, Ozato K, Vogel SN.** 2000. Interferon regulatory factor (IRF)-1 and IRF-2 regulate interferon gammadependent cyclooxygenase 2 expression. J Exp Med **191:**2131-2144.
- 277. Salkowski CA, Kopydlowski K, Blanco J, Cody MJ, McNally R, Vogel SN. 1999. IL-12 is dysregulated in macrophages from IRF-1 and IRF-2 knockout mice. J Immunol **163**:1529-1536.
- 278. Li MM, Bozzacco L, Hoffmann HH, Breton G, Loschko J, Xiao JW, Monette S, Rice CM, MacDonald MR. 2016. Interferon regulatory factor 2 protects mice from lethal viral neuroinvasion. J Exp Med **213**:2931-2947.

- 279. **Matsuyama T, Kimura T, Kitagawa M, Pfeffer K, Kawakami T, Watanabe N, Kundig TM, Amakawa R, Kishihara K, Wakeham A, et al.** 1993. Targeted disruption of IRF-1 or IRF-2 results in abnormal type I IFN gene induction and aberrant lymphocyte development. Cell **75:**83-97.
- 280. **Tamura T, Yanai H, Savitsky D, Taniguchi T.** 2008. The IRF family transcription factors in immunity and oncogenesis. Annu Rev Immunol **26:**535-584.
- 281. Elser B, Lohoff M, Kock S, Giaisi M, Kirchhoff S, Krammer PH, Li-Weber M. 2002. IFN-gamma represses IL-4 expression via IRF-1 and IRF-2. Immunity 17:703-712.
- 282. **Nguyen H, Mustafa A, Hiscott J, Lin R.** 1995. Transcription factor IRF-2 exerts its oncogenic phenotype through the DNA binding/transcription repression domain. Oncogene **11**:537-544.
- 283. Vaughan PS, Aziz F, van Wijnen AJ, Wu S, Harada H, Taniguchi T, Soprano KJ, Stein JL, Stein GS. 1995. Activation of a cell-cycle-regulated histone gene by the oncogenic transcription factor IRF-2. Nature **377:**362-365.
- 284. **Vaughan PS, van der Meijden CM, Aziz F, Harada H, Taniguchi T, van Wijnen AJ, Stein JL, Stein GS.** 1998. Cell cycle regulation of histone H4 gene transcription requires the oncogenic factor IRF-2. J Biol Chem **273:**194-199.
- 285. **Honda K, Takaoka A, Taniguchi T.** 2006. Type I interferon [corrected] gene induction by the interferon regulatory factor family of transcription factors. Immunity **25:**349-360.
- 286. **Fitzgerald KA, McWhirter SM, Faia KL, Rowe DC, Latz E, Golenbock DT, Coyle AJ, Liao SM, Maniatis T.** 2003. IKKepsilon and TBK1 are essential components of the IRF3 signaling pathway. Nat Immunol **4**:491-496.
- 287. Lin R, Genin P, Mamane Y, Hiscott J. 2000. Selective DNA binding and association with the CREB binding protein coactivator contribute to differential activation of alpha/beta interferon genes by interferon regulatory factors 3 and 7. Mol Cell Biol **20**:6342-6353.
- 288. **Kirshner JR, Karpova AY, Kops M, Howley PM.** 2005. Identification of TRAIL as an interferon regulatory factor 3 transcriptional target. J Virol **79:**9320-9324.
- 289. **Wang S, El-Deiry WS.** 2003. TRAIL and apoptosis induction by TNF-family death receptors. Oncogene **22**:8628-8633.
- 290. **Chattopadhyay S, Sen GC.** 2017. RIG-I-like receptor-induced IRF3 mediated pathway of apoptosis (RIPA): a new antiviral pathway. Protein Cell **8**:165-168.
- 291. **Negishi H, Ohba Y, Yanai H, Takaoka A, Honma K, Yui K, Matsuyama T, Taniguchi T, Honda K.** 2005. Negative regulation of Toll-like-receptor signaling by IRF-4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **102**:15989-15994.
- 292. Suzuki S, Honma K, Matsuyama T, Suzuki K, Toriyama K, Akitoyo I, Yamamoto K, Suematsu T, Nakamura M, Yui K, Kumatori A. 2004. Critical roles of interferon regulatory factor 4 in CD11bhighCD8alpha- dendritic cell development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **101**:8981-8986.

- 293. Lohoff M, Mittrucker HW, Prechtl S, Bischof S, Sommer F, Kock S, Ferrick DA, Duncan GS, Gessner A, Mak TW. 2002. Dysregulated T helper cell differentiation in the absence of interferon regulatory factor 4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:11808-11812.
- 294. **Mittrucker HW, Matsuyama T, Grossman A, Kundig TM, Potter J, Shahinian A, Wakeham A, Patterson B, Ohashi PS, Mak TW.** 1997. Requirement for the transcription factor LSIRF/IRF4 for mature B and T lymphocyte function. Science **275:**540-543.
- 295. Klein U, Casola S, Cattoretti G, Shen Q, Lia M, Mo T, Ludwig T, Rajewsky K, Dalla-Favera R. 2006. Transcription factor IRF4 controls plasma cell differentiation and class-switch recombination. Nat Immunol **7**:773-782.
- 296. **Heng TS, Painter MW, Immunological Genome Project C.** 2008. The Immunological Genome Project: networks of gene expression in immune cells. Nat Immunol **9**:1091-1094.
- 297. **Ryzhakov G, Eames HL, Udalova IA.** 2015. Activation and function of interferon regulatory factor 5. J Interferon Cytokine Res **35**:71-78.
- 298. **Barnes BJ, Richards J, Mancl M, Hanash S, Beretta L, Pitha PM.** 2004. Global and distinct targets of IRF-5 and IRF-7 during innate response to viral infection. J Biol Chem **279:**45194-45207.
- 299. Lazear HM, Lancaster A, Wilkins C, Suthar MS, Huang A, Vick SC, Clepper L, Thackray L, Brassil MM, Virgin HW, Nikolich-Zugich J, Moses AV, Gale M, Jr., Fruh K, Diamond MS. 2013. IRF-3, IRF-5, and IRF-7 coordinately regulate the type I IFN response in myeloid dendritic cells downstream of MAVS signaling. PLoS Pathog **9**:e1003118.
- 300. **Barnes BJ, Kellum MJ, Pinder KE, Frisancho JA, Pitha PM.** 2003. Interferon regulatory factor 5, a novel mediator of cell cycle arrest and cell death. Cancer Res **63**:6424-6431.
- 301. Korczeniewska J, Barnes BJ. 2018. Corrected and Republished from: The COP9 Signalosome Interacts with and Regulates Interferon Regulatory Factor 5 Protein Stability. Mol Cell Biol 38.
- 302. **Bailey CM, Hendrix MJ.** 2008. IRF6 in development and disease: a mediator of quiescence and differentiation. Cell Cycle **7:**1925-1930.
- 303. **Joly S, Rhea L, Volk P, Moreland JG, Dunnwald M.** 2016. Interferon Regulatory Factor 6 Has a Protective Role in the Host Response to Endotoxic Shock. PLoS One **11**:e0152385.
- 304. **Hiscott J.** 2007. Triggering the innate antiviral response through IRF-3 activation. J Biol Chem **282:**15325-15329.
- 305. Hoshino K, Sugiyama T, Matsumoto M, Tanaka T, Saito M, Hemmi H, Ohara O, Akira S, Kaisho T. 2006. IkappaB kinase-alpha is critical for interferon-alpha production induced by Toll-like receptors 7 and 9. Nature 440:949-953.
- 306. **Tsujimura H, Tamura T, Kong HJ, Nishiyama A, Ishii KJ, Klinman DM, Ozato K.** 2004. Toll-like receptor 9 signaling activates NF-kappaB through IFN regulatory factor-8/IFN consensus sequence binding protein in dendritic cells. J Immunol **172:**6820-6827.

- 307. **Tailor P, Tamura T, Kong HJ, Kubota T, Kubota M, Borghi P, Gabriele L, Ozato K.** 2007. The feedback phase of type I interferon induction in dendritic cells requires interferon regulatory factor 8. Immunity **27:**228-239.
- 308. **Yanez A, Goodridge HS.** 2016. Interferon regulatory factor 8 and the regulation of neutrophil, monocyte, and dendritic cell production. Curr Opin Hematol **23:**11-17.
- 309. **Platanias LC.** 2005. Mechanisms of type-I- and type-II-interferon-mediated signalling. Nat Rev Immunol **5:**375-386.
- 310. Sheppard P, Kindsvogel W, Xu W, Henderson K, Schlutsmeyer S, Whitmore TE, Kuestner R, Garrigues U, Birks C, Roraback J, Ostrander C, Dong D, Shin J, Presnell S, Fox B, Haldeman B, Cooper E, Taft D, Gilbert T, Grant FJ, Tackett M, Krivan W, McKnight G, Clegg C, Foster D, Klucher KM. 2003. IL-28, IL-29 and their class II cytokine receptor IL-28R. Nat Immunol 4:63-68.
- 311. **Fink K, Grandvaux N.** 2013. STAT2 and IRF9: Beyond ISGF3. JAKSTAT **2**:e27521.
- 312. **Takaoka A, Hayakawa S, Yanai H, Stoiber D, Negishi H, Kikuchi H, Sasaki S, Imai K, Shibue T, Honda K, Taniguchi T.** 2003. Integration of interferonalpha/beta signalling to p53 responses in tumour suppression and antiviral defence. Nature **424:**516-523.
- 313. **Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, Raff M, Roberts K, Walter P.** 2002. Molecular Biology of the Cell, 4th ed. Garland Science, New York.
- 314. **Tough DF.** 2012. Modulation of T-cell function by type I interferon. Immunol Cell Biol **90**:492-497.
- 315. **Gonzalez-Navajas JM, Lee J, David M, Raz E.** 2012. Immunomodulatory functions of type I interferons. Nat Rev Immunol **12:**125-135.
- 316. Wang C, Al-Omar HM, Radvanyi L, Banerjee A, Bouman D, Squire J, Messner HA. 1999. Clonal heterogeneity of dendritic cells derived from patients with chronic myeloid leukemia and enhancement of their T-cells stimulatory activity by IFN-alpha. Exp Hematol **27**:1176-1184.
- 317. **Padovan E, Spagnoli GC, Ferrantini M, Heberer M.** 2002. IFN-alpha2a induces IP-10/CXCL10 and MIG/CXCL9 production in monocyte-derived dendritic cells and enhances their capacity to attract and stimulate CD8+ effector T cells. J Leukoc Biol **71**:669-676.
- 318. **Kim CH, Broxmeyer HE.** 1999. Chemokines: signal lamps for trafficking of T and B cells for development and effector function. J Leukoc Biol **65:**6-15.
- 319. **Thompson LJ, Kolumam GA, Thomas S, Murali-Krishna K.** 2006. Innate inflammatory signals induced by various pathogens differentially dictate the IFN-I dependence of CD8 T cells for clonal expansion and memory formation. J Immunol **177:**1746-1754.
- 320. Kolumam GA, Thomas S, Thompson LJ, Sprent J, Murali-Krishna K. 2005. Type I interferons act directly on CD8 T cells to allow clonal expansion and memory formation in response to viral infection. J Exp Med **202:**637-650.
- 321. **Curtsinger JM, Valenzuela JO, Agarwal P, Lins D, Mescher MF.** 2005. Type I IFNs provide a third signal to CD8 T cells to stimulate clonal expansion and differentiation. J Immunol **174:**4465-4469.

- 322. **Belizario JE, Brandao W, Rossato C, Peron JP.** 2016. Thymic and Postthymic Regulation of Naive CD4(+) T-Cell Lineage Fates in Humans and Mice Models. Mediators Inflamm **2016**:9523628.
- 323. **Golubovskaya V, Wu L.** 2016. Different Subsets of T Cells, Memory, Effector Functions, and CAR-T Immunotherapy. Cancers (Basel) **8**.
- 324. **Szabo SJ, Sullivan BM, Stemmann C, Satoskar AR, Sleckman BP, Glimcher LH.** 2002. Distinct effects of T-bet in TH1 lineage commitment and IFNgamma production in CD4 and CD8 T cells. Science **295**:338-342.
- 325. **Huber JP, Farrar JD.** 2011. Regulation of effector and memory T-cell functions by type I interferon. Immunology **132**:466-474.
- 326. **Matikainen S, Paananen A, Miettinen M, Kurimoto M, Timonen T, Julkunen I, Sareneva T.** 2001. IFN-alpha and IL-18 synergistically enhance IFN-gamma production in human NK cells: differential regulation of Stat4 activation and IFN-gamma gene expression by IFN-alpha and IL-12. Eur J Immunol **31:**2236-2245.
- 327. Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, Weaver CT. 2005. Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. Nat Immunol 6:1123-1132.
- 328. **Moschen AR, Geiger S, Krehan I, Kaser A, Tilg H.** 2008. Interferon-alpha controls IL-17 expression in vitro and in vivo. Immunobiology **213**:779-787.
- 329. Le Bon A, Schiavoni G, D'Agostino G, Gresser I, Belardelli F, Tough DF. 2001. Type i interferons potently enhance humoral immunity and can promote isotype switching by stimulating dendritic cells in vivo. Immunity 14:461-470.
- 330. **Jego G, Palucka AK, Blanck JP, Chalouni C, Pascual V, Banchereau J.** 2003. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce plasma cell differentiation through type I interferon and interleukin 6. Immunity **19:**225-234.
- 331. **Braun D, Caramalho I, Demengeot J.** 2002. IFN-alpha/beta enhances BCRdependent B cell responses. Int Immunol **14:**411-419.
- 332. **Coro ES, Chang WL, Baumgarth N.** 2006. Type I IFN receptor signals directly stimulate local B cells early following influenza virus infection. J Immunol **176**:4343-4351.
- 333. **Fink K, Lang KS, Manjarrez-Orduno N, Junt T, Senn BM, Holdener M, Akira S, Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H.** 2006. Early type I interferonmediated signals on B cells specifically enhance antiviral humoral responses. Eur J Immunol **36:**2094-2105.
- 334. Moseman EA, Wu T, de la Torre JC, Schwartzberg PL, McGavern DB.
 2016. Type I interferon suppresses virus-specific B cell responses by modulating CD8(+) T cell differentiation. Sci Immunol 1.
- 335. **Simon HU, Seelbach H, Ehmann R, Schmitz M.** 2003. Clinical and immunological effects of low-dose IFN-alpha treatment in patients with corticosteroid-resistant asthma. Allergy **58**:1250-1255.
- 336. **Kroegel C, Bergmann N, Foerster M, Workalemahu G, Machnik A, Mock B, Reissig A.** 2006. Interferon-alphacon-1 treatment of three patients with

severe glucocorticoid-dependent asthma. Effect on disease control and systemic glucocorticosteroid dose. Respiration **73:**566-570.

- 337. **Boehme KW, Singh J, Perry ST, Compton T.** 2004. Human cytomegalovirus elicits a coordinated cellular antiviral response via envelope glycoprotein B. J Virol **78**:1202-1211.
- 338. **Perry ST, Compton T.** 2006. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus virions inhibit interferon responses induced by envelope glycoprotein gpK8.1. J Virol **80**:11105-11114.
- 339. **Zhu FX, Sathish N, Yuan Y.** 2010. Antagonism of host antiviral responses by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus tegument protein ORF45. PLoS One **5:**e10573.
- 340. Mossman KL, Macgregor PF, Rozmus JJ, Goryachev AB, Edwards AM, Smiley JR. 2001. Herpes simplex virus triggers and then disarms a host antiviral response. J Virol **75:**750-758.
- 341. **Preston CM, Harman AN, Nicholl MJ.** 2001. Activation of interferon response factor-3 in human cells infected with herpes simplex virus type 1 or human cytomegalovirus. J Virol **75:**8909-8916.
- 342. Simmen KA, Singh J, Luukkonen BG, Lopper M, Bittner A, Miller NE, Jackson MR, Compton T, Fruh K. 2001. Global modulation of cellular transcription by human cytomegalovirus is initiated by viral glycoprotein B. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:7140-7145.
- 343. **DeMeritt IB, Milford LE, Yurochko AD.** 2004. Activation of the NF-kappaB pathway in human cytomegalovirus-infected cells is necessary for efficient transactivation of the major immediate-early promoter. J Virol **78**:4498-4507.
- 344. **Amici C, Belardo G, Rossi A, Santoro MG.** 2001. Activation of I kappa b kinase by herpes simplex virus type 1. A novel target for anti-herpetic therapy. J Biol Chem **276**:28759-28766.
- 345. **Chaudhary PM, Jasmin A, Eby MT, Hood L.** 1999. Modulation of the NFkappa B pathway by virally encoded death effector domains-containing proteins. Oncogene **18:**5738-5746.
- 346. **Pollara G, Jones M, Handley ME, Rajpopat M, Kwan A, Coffin RS, Foster G, Chain B, Katz DR.** 2004. Herpes simplex virus type-1-induced activation of myeloid dendritic cells: the roles of virus cell interaction and paracrine type I IFN secretion. J Immunol **173:**4108-4119.
- 347. Lagos D, Vart RJ, Gratrix F, Westrop SJ, Emuss V, Wong PP, Robey R, Imami N, Bower M, Gotch F, Boshoff C. 2008. Toll-like receptor 4 mediates innate immunity to Kaposi sarcoma herpesvirus. Cell Host Microbe 4:470-483.
- 348. West JA, Gregory SM, Damania B. 2012. Toll-like receptor sensing of human herpesvirus infection. Front Cell Infect Microbiol **2**:122.
- 349. **Yu HR, Huang HC, Kuo HC, Sheen JM, Ou CY, Hsu TY, Yang KD.** 2011. IFNalpha production by human mononuclear cells infected with varicella-zoster virus through TLR9-dependent and -independent pathways. Cell Mol Immunol **8:**181-188.

- 350. **Kim JA, Park SK, Seo SW, Lee CH, Shin OS.** 2017. STING Is Involved in Antiviral Immune Response against VZV Infection via the Induction of Type I and III IFN Pathways. J Invest Dermatol **137**:2101-2109.
- 351. **Dutta D, Dutta S, Veettil MV, Roy A, Ansari MA, Iqbal J, Chikoti L, Kumar B, Johnson KE, Chandran B.** 2015. BRCA1 Regulates IFI16 Mediated Nuclear Innate Sensing of Herpes Viral DNA and Subsequent Induction of the Innate Inflammasome and Interferon-beta Responses. PLoS Pathog **11**:e1005030.
- 352. **Iqbal J, Ansari MA, Kumar B, Dutta D, Roy A, Chikoti L, Pisano G, Dutta S, Vahedi S, Veettil MV, Chandran B.** 2016. Histone H2B-IFI16 Recognition of Nuclear Herpesviral Genome Induces Cytoplasmic Interferon-beta Responses. PLoS Pathog **12**:e1005967.
- 353. Gram AM, Sun C, Landman SL, Oosenbrug T, Koppejan HJ, Kwakkenbos MJ, Hoeben RC, Paludan SR, Ressing ME. 2017. Human B cells fail to secrete type I interferons upon cytoplasmic DNA exposure. Mol Immunol 91:225-237.
- 354. **Paijo J, Doring M, Spanier J, Grabski E, Nooruzzaman M, Schmidt T, Witte G, Messerle M, Hornung V, Kaever V, Kalinke U.** 2016. cGAS Senses Human Cytomegalovirus and Induces Type I Interferon Responses in Human Monocyte-Derived Cells. PLoS Pathog **12**:e1005546.
- 355. **DeFilippis VR, Alvarado D, Sali T, Rothenburg S, Fruh K.** 2010. Human cytomegalovirus induces the interferon response via the DNA sensor ZBP1. J Virol **84:**585-598.
- 356. Weber F, Wagner V, Rasmussen SB, Hartmann R, Paludan SR. 2006. Double-stranded RNA is produced by positive-strand RNA viruses and DNA viruses but not in detectable amounts by negative-strand RNA viruses. J Virol 80:5059-5064.
- 357. **Ma Y, He B.** 2014. Recognition of herpes simplex viruses: toll-like receptors and beyond. J Mol Biol **426**:1133-1147.
- 358. **West J, Damania B.** 2008. Upregulation of the TLR3 pathway by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus during primary infection. J Virol **82:**5440-5449.
- 359. **Iwakiri D, Zhou L, Samanta M, Matsumoto M, Ebihara T, Seya T, Imai S, Fujieda M, Kawa K, Takada K.** 2009. Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-encoded small RNA is released from EBV-infected cells and activates signaling from Toll-like receptor 3. J Exp Med **206**:2091-2099.
- 360. Rasmussen SB, Jensen SB, Nielsen C, Quartin E, Kato H, Chen ZJ, Silverman RH, Akira S, Paludan SR. 2009. Herpes simplex virus infection is sensed by both Toll-like receptors and retinoic acid-inducible gene- like receptors, which synergize to induce type I interferon production. J Gen Virol 90:74-78.
- 361. **Rasmussen SB, Sorensen LN, Malmgaard L, Ank N, Baines JD, Chen ZJ, Paludan SR.** 2007. Type I interferon production during herpes simplex virus infection is controlled by cell-type-specific viral recognition through Toll-like receptor 9, the mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein pathway, and novel recognition systems. J Virol **81:**13315-13324.

- 362. **Chiu YH, Macmillan JB, Chen ZJ.** 2009. RNA polymerase III detects cytosolic DNA and induces type I interferons through the RIG-I pathway. Cell **138:**576-591.
- 363. **Samanta M, Iwakiri D, Kanda T, Imaizumi T, Takada K.** 2006. EB virusencoded RNAs are recognized by RIG-I and activate signaling to induce type I IFN. EMBO J **25:**4207-4214.
- 364. **Inn KS, Lee SH, Rathbun JY, Wong LY, Toth Z, Machida K, Ou JH, Jung JU.** 2011. Inhibition of RIG-I-mediated signaling by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-encoded deubiquitinase ORF64. J Virol **85:**10899-10904.
- 365. **Peri P, Mattila RK, Kantola H, Broberg E, Karttunen HS, Waris M, Vuorinen T, Hukkanen V.** 2008. Herpes simplex virus type 1 Us3 gene deletion influences toll-like receptor responses in cultured monocytic cells. Virol J **5**:140.
- 366. **Sen J, Liu X, Roller R, Knipe DM.** 2013. Herpes simplex virus US3 tegument protein inhibits Toll-like receptor 2 signaling at or before TRAF6 ubiquitination. Virology **439**:65-73.
- 367. **Wang S, Wang K, Lin R, Zheng C.** 2013. Herpes simplex virus 1 serine/threonine kinase US3 hyperphosphorylates IRF3 and inhibits beta interferon production. J Virol **87:**12814-12827.
- 368. **Wang K, Ni L, Wang S, Zheng C.** 2014. Herpes simplex virus 1 protein kinase US3 hyperphosphorylates p65/RelA and dampens NF-kappaB activation. J Virol **88**:7941-7951.
- 369. van Lint AL, Murawski MR, Goodbody RE, Severa M, Fitzgerald KA, Finberg RW, Knipe DM, Kurt-Jones EA. 2010. Herpes simplex virus immediate-early ICP0 protein inhibits Toll-like receptor 2-dependent inflammatory responses and NF-kappaB signaling. J Virol **84:**10802-10811.
- 370. **Zhang J, Wang K, Wang S, Zheng C.** 2013. Herpes simplex virus 1 E3 ubiquitin ligase ICP0 protein inhibits tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced NF-kappaB activation by interacting with p65/RelA and p50/NF-kappaB1. J Virol **87:**12935-12948.
- 371. **Johnson KE, Chikoti L, Chandran B.** 2013. Herpes simplex virus 1 infection induces activation and subsequent inhibition of the IFI16 and NLRP3 inflammasomes. J Virol **87:**5005-5018.
- 372. **Orzalli MH, DeLuca NA, Knipe DM.** 2012. Nuclear IFI16 induction of IRF-3 signaling during herpesviral infection and degradation of IFI16 by the viral ICP0 protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **109**:E3008-3017.
- 373. Xing J, Wang S, Lin R, Mossman KL, Zheng C. 2012. Herpes simplex virus 1 tegument protein US11 downmodulates the RLR signaling pathway via direct interaction with RIG-I and MDA-5. J Virol **86**:3528-3540.
- 374. **Xing J, Ni L, Wang S, Wang K, Lin R, Zheng C.** 2013. Herpes simplex virus 1encoded tegument protein VP16 abrogates the production of beta interferon (IFN) by inhibiting NF-kappaB activation and blocking IFN regulatory factor 3 to recruit its coactivator CBP. J Virol **87:**9788-9801.
- 375. **Wang S, Wang K, Li J, Zheng C.** 2013. Herpes simplex virus 1 ubiquitinspecific protease UL36 inhibits beta interferon production by deubiquitinating TRAF3. J Virol **87:**11851-11860.

- 376. **Ma Y, Jin H, Valyi-Nagy T, Cao Y, Yan Z, He B.** 2012. Inhibition of TANK binding kinase 1 by herpes simplex virus 1 facilitates productive infection. J Virol **86**:2188-2196.
- 377. **Verpooten D, Ma Y, Hou S, Yan Z, He B.** 2009. Control of TANK-binding kinase 1-mediated signaling by the gamma(1)34.5 protein of herpes simplex virus 1. J Biol Chem **284**:1097-1105.
- 378. **Su C, Zheng C.** 2017. Herpes Simplex Virus 1 Abrogates the cGAS/STING-Mediated Cytosolic DNA-Sensing Pathway via Its Virion Host Shutoff Protein, UL41. J Virol **91**.
- 379. **Zhang D, Su C, Zheng C.** 2016. Herpes Simplex Virus 1 Serine Protease VP24 Blocks the DNA-Sensing Signal Pathway by Abrogating Activation of Interferon Regulatory Factor 3. J Virol **90:**5824-5829.
- 380. Christensen MH, Jensen SB, Miettinen JJ, Luecke S, Prabakaran T, Reinert LS, Mettenleiter T, Chen ZJ, Knipe DM, Sandri-Goldin RM, Enquist LW, Hartmann R, Mogensen TH, Rice SA, Nyman TA, Matikainen S, Paludan SR. 2016. HSV-1 ICP27 targets the TBK1-activated STING signalsome to inhibit virus-induced type I IFN expression. EMBO J 35:1385-1399.
- 381. Vandevenne P, Lebrun M, El Mjiyad N, Ote I, Di Valentin E, Habraken Y, Dortu E, Piette J, Sadzot-Delvaux C. 2011. The varicella-zoster virus ORF47 kinase interferes with host innate immune response by inhibiting the activation of IRF3. PLoS One 6:e16870.
- 382. **Zhu H, Zheng C, Xing J, Wang S, Li S, Lin R, Mossman KL.** 2011. Varicellazoster virus immediate-early protein ORF61 abrogates the IRF3-mediated innate immune response through degradation of activated IRF3. J Virol **85:**11079-11089.
- 383. Whitmer T, Malouli D, Uebelhoer LS, DeFilippis VR, Fruh K, Verweij MC. 2015. The ORF61 Protein Encoded by Simian Varicella Virus and Varicella-Zoster Virus Inhibits NF-kappaB Signaling by Interfering with IkappaBalpha Degradation. J Virol **89:**8687-8700.
- 384. **Taylor RT, Bresnahan WA.** 2006. Human cytomegalovirus IE86 attenuates virus- and tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced NFkappaB-dependent gene expression. J Virol **80:**10763-10771.
- 385. **Choi HJ, Park A, Kang S, Lee E, Lee TA, Ra EA, Lee J, Lee S, Park B.** 2018. Human cytomegalovirus-encoded US9 targets MAVS and STING signaling to evade type I interferon immune responses. Nat Commun **9:**125.
- 386. **Slobedman B, Barry PA, Spencer JV, Avdic S, Abendroth A.** 2009. Virusencoded homologs of cellular interleukin-10 and their control of host immune function. J Virol **83**:9618-9629.
- 387. **Jones BC, Logsdon NJ, Josephson K, Cook J, Barry PA, Walter MR.** 2002. Crystal structure of human cytomegalovirus IL-10 bound to soluble human IL-10R1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **99:**9404-9409.
- 388. **Chang WL, Barry PA, Szubin R, Wang D, Baumgarth N.** 2009. Human cytomegalovirus suppresses type I interferon secretion by plasmacytoid dendritic cells through its interleukin 10 homolog. Virology **390:**330-337.

- 389. **Yamana J, Yamamura M, Okamoto A, Aita T, Iwahashi M, Sunahori K, Makino H.** 2004. Resistance to IL-10 inhibition of interferon gamma production and expression of suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 in CD4+ T cells from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Res Ther **6:**R567-577.
- 390. Spencer JV, Cadaoas J, Castillo PR, Saini V, Slobedman B. 2008. Stimulation of B lymphocytes by cmvIL-10 but not LAcmvIL-10. Virology 374:164-169.
- 391. **Jenkins C, Abendroth A, Slobedman B.** 2004. A novel viral transcript with homology to human interleukin-10 is expressed during latent human cytomegalovirus infection. J Virol **78**:1440-1447.
- 392. Jenkins C, Garcia W, Godwin MJ, Spencer JV, Stern JL, Abendroth A, Slobedman B. 2008. Immunomodulatory properties of a viral homolog of human interleukin-10 expressed by human cytomegalovirus during the latent phase of infection. J Virol 82:3736-3750.
- 393. Poole E, Avdic S, Hodkinson J, Jackson S, Wills M, Slobedman B, Sinclair J. 2014. Latency-associated viral interleukin-10 (IL-10) encoded by human cytomegalovirus modulates cellular IL-10 and CCL8 Secretion during latent infection through changes in the cellular microRNA hsa-miR-92a. J Virol 88:13947-13955.
- 394. Biolatti M, Dell'Oste V, Pautasso S, Gugliesi F, von Einem J, Krapp C, Jakobsen MR, Borgogna C, Gariglio M, De Andrea M, Landolfo S. 2018. Human Cytomegalovirus Tegument Protein pp65 (pUL83) Dampens Type I Interferon Production by Inactivating the DNA Sensor cGAS without Affecting STING. J Virol 92.
- 395. Fu YZ, Su S, Gao YQ, Wang PP, Huang ZF, Hu MM, Luo WW, Li S, Luo MH, Wang YY, Shu HB. 2017. Human Cytomegalovirus Tegument Protein UL82 Inhibits STING-Mediated Signaling to Evade Antiviral Immunity. Cell Host Microbe 21:231-243.
- 396. Li S, Zhu J, Zhang W, Chen Y, Zhang K, Popescu LM, Ma X, Lau WB, Rong R, Yu X, Wang B, Li Y, Xiao C, Zhang M, Wang S, Yu L, Chen AF, Yang X, Cai J. 2011. Signature microRNA expression profile of essential hypertension and its novel link to human cytomegalovirus infection. Circulation 124:175-184.
- 397. **Huang Y, Chen D, He J, Cai J, Shen K, Liu X, Yang X, Xu L.** 2015. Hcmv-miR-UL112 attenuates NK cell activity by inhibition type I interferon secretion. Immunol Lett **163:**151-156.
- 398. **DeFilippis V, Fruh K.** 2005. Rhesus cytomegalovirus particles prevent activation of interferon regulatory factor 3. J Virol **79:**6419-6431.
- 399. **Jaworska J, Gravel A, Fink K, Grandvaux N, Flamand L.** 2007. Inhibition of transcription of the beta interferon gene by the human herpesvirus 6 immediate-early 1 protein. J Virol **81:**5737-5748.
- 400. Li Y, Long X, Huang L, Yang M, Yuan Y, Wang Y, Delecluse HJ, Kuang E. 2016. Epstein-Barr Virus BZLF1-Mediated Downregulation of Proinflammatory Factors Is Essential for Optimal Lytic Viral Replication. J Virol **90**:887-903.
- 401. van Gent M, Braem SG, de Jong A, Delagic N, Peeters JG, Boer IG, Moynagh PN, Kremmer E, Wiertz EJ, Ovaa H, Griffin BD, Ressing ME.

2014. Epstein-Barr virus large tegument protein BPLF1 contributes to innate immune evasion through interference with toll-like receptor signaling. PLoS Pathog **10**:e1003960.

- 402. **Wu L, Fossum E, Joo CH, Inn KS, Shin YC, Johannsen E, Hutt-Fletcher LM, Hass J, Jung JU.** 2009. Epstein-Barr virus LF2: an antagonist to type I interferon. J Virol **83:**1140-1146.
- 403. **Wang JT, Doong SL, Teng SC, Lee CP, Tsai CH, Chen MR.** 2009. Epstein-Barr virus BGLF4 kinase suppresses the interferon regulatory factor 3 signaling pathway. J Virol **83**:1856-1869.
- 404. **Bentz GL, Liu R, Hahn AM, Shackelford J, Pagano JS.** 2010. Epstein-Barr virus BRLF1 inhibits transcription of IRF3 and IRF7 and suppresses induction of interferon-beta. Virology **402**:121-128.
- 405. Lu Y, Qin Z, Wang J, Zheng X, Lu J, Zhang X, Wei L, Peng Q, Zheng Y, Ou C, Ye Q, Xiong W, Li G, Fu Y, Yan Q, Ma J. 2017. Epstein-Barr Virus miR-BART6-3p Inhibits the RIG-I Pathway. J Innate Immun 9:574-586.
- 406. **Zhu FX, King SM, Smith EJ, Levy DE, Yuan Y.** 2002. A Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesviral protein inhibits virus-mediated induction of type I interferon by blocking IRF-7 phosphorylation and nuclear accumulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **99:**5573-5578.
- 407. **Yu Y, Wang SE, Hayward GS.** 2005. The KSHV immediate-early transcription factor RTA encodes ubiquitin E3 ligase activity that targets IRF7 for proteosome-mediated degradation. Immunity **22:**59-70.
- 408. **Yu Y, Hayward GS.** 2010. The ubiquitin E3 ligase RAUL negatively regulates type i interferon through ubiquitination of the transcription factors IRF7 and IRF3. Immunity **33**:863-877.
- 409. **Zhao Q, Liang D, Sun R, Jia B, Xia T, Xiao H, Lan K.** 2015. Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus-encoded replication and transcription activator impairs innate immunity via ubiquitin-mediated degradation of myeloid differentiation factor 88. J Virol **89:**415-427.
- 410. **Ahmad H, Gubbels R, Ehlers E, Meyer F, Waterbury T, Lin R, Zhang L.** 2011. Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus degrades cellular Tollinterleukin-1 receptor domain-containing adaptor-inducing beta-interferon (TRIF). J Biol Chem **286:**7865-7872.
- 411. **Cloutier N, Flamand L.** 2010. Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus latency-associated nuclear antigen inhibits interferon (IFN) beta expression by competing with IFN regulatory factor-3 for binding to IFNB promoter. J Biol Chem **285**:7208-7221.
- 412. **Lefort S, Soucy-Faulkner A, Grandvaux N, Flamand L.** 2007. Binding of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus K-bZIP to interferon-responsive factor 3 elements modulates antiviral gene expression. J Virol **81:**10950-10960.
- 413. Wu JJ, Li W, Shao Y, Avey D, Fu B, Gillen J, Hand T, Ma S, Liu X, Miley W, Konrad A, Neipel F, Sturzl M, Whitby D, Li H, Zhu F. 2015. Inhibition of cGAS DNA Sensing by a Herpesvirus Virion Protein. Cell Host Microbe 18:333-344.

- 414. **Hwang S, Kim KS, Flano E, Wu TT, Tong LM, Park AN, Song MJ, Sanchez DJ, O'Connell RM, Cheng G, Sun R.** 2009. Conserved herpesviral kinase promotes viral persistence by inhibiting the IRF-3-mediated type I interferon response. Cell Host Microbe **5:**166-178.
- 415. **Abend JR, Ramalingam D, Kieffer-Kwon P, Uldrick TS, Yarchoan R, Ziegelbauer JM.** 2012. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus microRNAs target IRAK1 and MYD88, two components of the toll-like receptor/interleukin-1R signaling cascade, to reduce inflammatory-cytokine expression. J Virol **86**:11663-11674.
- 416. **Johnson KE, Song B, Knipe DM.** 2008. Role for herpes simplex virus 1 ICP27 in the inhibition of type I interferon signaling. Virology **374:**487-494.
- 417. Yokota S, Yokosawa N, Okabayashi T, Suzutani T, Miura S, Jimbow K, Fujii N. 2004. Induction of suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 by herpes simplex virus type 1 contributes to inhibition of the interferon signaling pathway. J Virol **78:**6282-6286.
- 418. Sato Y, Koshizuka T, Ishibashi K, Hashimoto K, Ishioka K, Ikuta K, Yokota SI, Fujii N, Suzutani T. 2017. Involvement of herpes simplex virus type 1 UL13 protein kinase in induction of SOCS genes, the negative regulators of cytokine signaling. Microbiol Immunol **61:**159-167.
- 419. **Ambagala AP, Cohen JI.** 2007. Varicella-Zoster virus IE63, a major viral latency protein, is required to inhibit the alpha interferon-induced antiviral response. J Virol **81:**7844-7851.
- 420. Verweij MC, Wellish M, Whitmer T, Malouli D, Lapel M, Jonjic S, Haas JG, DeFilippis VR, Mahalingam R, Fruh K. 2015. Varicella Viruses Inhibit Interferon-Stimulated JAK-STAT Signaling through Multiple Mechanisms. PLoS Pathog **11**:e1004901.
- 421. **Ouwendijk WJD, van Veen S, Mahalingam R, Verjans G.** 2017. Simian varicella virus inhibits the interferon gamma signalling pathway. J Gen Virol doi:10.1099/jgv.0.000925.
- 422. **Choi EJ, Lee CH, Shin OS.** 2015. Suppressor of Cytokine Signaling 3 Expression Induced by Varicella-Zoster Virus Infection Results in the Modulation of Virus Replication. Scand J Immunol **82:**337-344.
- 423. **Miller DM, Zhang Y, Rahill BM, Waldman WJ, Sedmak DD.** 1999. Human cytomegalovirus inhibits IFN-alpha-stimulated antiviral and immunoregulatory responses by blocking multiple levels of IFN-alpha signal transduction. J Immunol **162:**6107-6113.
- 424. **Paulus C, Krauss S, Nevels M.** 2006. A human cytomegalovirus antagonist of type I IFN-dependent signal transducer and activator of transcription signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **103**:3840-3845.
- 425. **Krauss S, Kaps J, Czech N, Paulus C, Nevels M.** 2009. Physical requirements and functional consequences of complex formation between the cytomegalovirus IE1 protein and human STAT2. J Virol **83**:12854-12870.
- 426. Huh YH, Kim YE, Kim ET, Park JJ, Song MJ, Zhu H, Hayward GS, Ahn JH. 2008. Binding STAT2 by the acidic domain of human cytomegalovirus IE1 promotes viral growth and is negatively regulated by SUMO. J Virol 82:10444-10454.

- 427. **Feng L, Sheng J, Vu GP, Liu Y, Foo C, Wu S, Trang P, Paliza-Carre M, Ran Y, Yang X, Sun X, Deng Z, Zhou T, Lu S, Li H, Liu F.** 2018. Human cytomegalovirus UL23 inhibits transcription of interferon-gamma stimulated genes and blocks antiviral interferon-gamma responses by interacting with human N-myc interactor protein. PLoS Pathog **14**:e1006867.
- 428. **Raghavan B, Cook CH, Trgovcich J.** 2014. The carboxy terminal region of the human cytomegalovirus immediate early 1 (IE1) protein disrupts type II inteferon signaling. Viruses **6:**1502-1524.
- 429. Shah KM, Stewart SE, Wei W, Woodman CB, O'Neil JD, Dawson CW, Young LS. 2009. The EBV-encoded latent membrane proteins, LMP2A and LMP2B, limit the actions of interferon by targeting interferon receptors for degradation. Oncogene **28**:3903-3914.
- 430. **Geiger TR, Martin JM.** 2006. The Epstein-Barr virus-encoded LMP-1 oncoprotein negatively affects Tyk2 phosphorylation and interferon signaling in human B cells. J Virol **80**:11638-11650.
- Hooykaas MJG, van Gent M, Soppe JA, Kruse E, Boer IGJ, van Leenen D, Groot Koerkamp MJA, Holstege FCP, Ressing ME, Wiertz E, Lebbink RJ.
 2017. EBV MicroRNA BART16 Suppresses Type I IFN Signaling. J Immunol 198:4062-4073.
- 432. **Bisson SA, Page AL, Ganem D.** 2009. A Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus protein that forms inhibitory complexes with type I interferon receptor subunits, Jak and STAT proteins, and blocks interferon-mediated signal transduction. J Virol **83:**5056-5066.
- 433. Chatterjee M, Osborne J, Bestetti G, Chang Y, Moore PS. 2002. Viral IL-6induced cell proliferation and immune evasion of interferon activity. Science 298:1432-1435.
- 434. **Fuld S, Cunningham C, Klucher K, Davison AJ, Blackbourn DJ.** 2006. Inhibition of interferon signaling by the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus full-length viral interferon regulatory factor 2 protein. J Virol **80:**3092-3097.
- 435. **Leang RS, Wu TT, Hwang S, Liang LT, Tong L, Truong JT, Sun R.** 2011. The anti-interferon activity of conserved viral dUTPase ORF54 is essential for an effective MHV-68 infection. PLoS Pathog **7**:e1002292.
- 436. **Boutell C, Cuchet-Lourenco D, Vanni E, Orr A, Glass M, McFarlane S, Everett RD.** 2011. A viral ubiquitin ligase has substrate preferential SUMO targeted ubiquitin ligase activity that counteracts intrinsic antiviral defence. PLoS Pathog **7:**e1002245.
- 437. **Chelbi-Alix MK, de The H.** 1999. Herpes virus induced proteasomedependent degradation of the nuclear bodies-associated PML and Sp100 proteins. Oncogene **18**:935-941.
- 438. **Parkinson J, Everett RD.** 2000. Alphaherpesvirus proteins related to herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP0 affect cellular structures and proteins. J Virol **74**:10006-10017.
- 439. **Wang L, Oliver SL, Sommer M, Rajamani J, Reichelt M, Arvin AM.** 2011. Disruption of PML nuclear bodies is mediated by ORF61 SUMO-interacting

motifs and required for varicella-zoster virus pathogenesis in skin. PLoS Pathog **7**:e1002157.

- 440. **Saffert RT, Kalejta RF.** 2006. Inactivating a cellular intrinsic immune defense mediated by Daxx is the mechanism through which the human cytomegalovirus pp71 protein stimulates viral immediate-early gene expression. J Virol **80:**3863-3871.
- 441. **Woodhall DL, Groves IJ, Reeves MB, Wilkinson G, Sinclair JH.** 2006. Human Daxx-mediated repression of human cytomegalovirus gene expression correlates with a repressive chromatin structure around the major immediate early promoter. J Biol Chem **281:**37652-37660.
- 442. **Cantrell SR, Bresnahan WA.** 2006. Human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) UL82 gene product (pp71) relieves hDaxx-mediated repression of HCMV replication. J Virol **80:**6188-6191.
- 443. Scherer M, Klingl S, Sevvana M, Otto V, Schilling EM, Stump JD, Muller R, Reuter N, Sticht H, Muller YA, Stamminger T. 2014. Crystal structure of cytomegalovirus IE1 protein reveals targeting of TRIM family member PML via coiled-coil interactions. PLoS Pathog **10**:e1004512.
- 444. **Lee HR, Kim DJ, Lee JM, Choi CY, Ahn BY, Hayward GS, Ahn JH.** 2004. Ability of the human cytomegalovirus IE1 protein to modulate sumoylation of PML correlates with its functional activities in transcriptional regulation and infectivity in cultured fibroblast cells. J Virol **78:**6527-6542.
- 445. **Gravel A, Gosselin J, Flamand L.** 2002. Human Herpesvirus 6 immediateearly 1 protein is a sumoylated nuclear phosphoprotein colocalizing with promyelocytic leukemia protein-associated nuclear bodies. J Biol Chem **277:**19679-19687.
- 446. **Stanton R, Fox JD, Caswell R, Sherratt E, Wilkinson GW.** 2002. Analysis of the human herpesvirus-6 immediate-early 1 protein. J Gen Virol **83:**2811-2820.
- 447. **Kofod-Olsen E, Ross-Hansen K, Mikkelsen JG, Hollsberg P.** 2008. Human herpesvirus 6B U19 protein is a PML-regulated transcriptional activator that localizes to nuclear foci in a PML-independent manner. J Gen Virol **89:**106-116.
- 448. **Tsai K, Thikmyanova N, Wojcechowskyj JA, Delecluse HJ, Lieberman PM.** 2011. EBV tegument protein BNRF1 disrupts DAXX-ATRX to activate viral early gene transcription. PLoS Pathog **7:**e1002376.
- 449. Huang H, Deng Z, Vladimirova O, Wiedmer A, Lu F, Lieberman PM, Patel DJ. 2016. Structural basis underlying viral hijacking of a histone chaperone complex. Nat Commun **7:**12707.
- 450. **Full F, Jungnickl D, Reuter N, Bogner E, Brulois K, Scholz B, Sturzl M, Myoung J, Jung JU, Stamminger T, Ensser A.** 2014. Kaposi's sarcoma associated herpesvirus tegument protein ORF75 is essential for viral lytic replication and plays a critical role in the antagonization of ND10-instituted intrinsic immunity. PLoS Pathog **10:**e1003863.
- 451. **Marcos-Villar L, Lopitz-Otsoa F, Gallego P, Munoz-Fontela C, Gonzalez-Santamaria J, Campagna M, Shou-Jiang G, Rodriguez MS, Rivas C.** 2009. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus protein LANA2 disrupts PML

oncogenic domains and inhibits PML-mediated transcriptional repression of the survivin gene. J Virol **83**:8849-8858.

- 452. **Marcos-Villar L, Campagna M, Lopitz-Otsoa F, Gallego P, Gonzalez-Santamaria J, Gonzalez D, Rodriguez MS, Rivas C.** 2011. Covalent modification by SUMO is required for efficient disruption of PML oncogenic domains by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus latent protein LANA2. J Gen Virol **92:**188-194.
- 453. **Sewatanon J, Ling PD.** 2013. Murine gammaherpesvirus 68 ORF75c contains ubiquitin E3 ligase activity and requires PML SUMOylation but not other known cellular PML regulators, CK2 and E6AP, to mediate PML degradation. Virology **440**:140-149.
- 454. **Ling PD, Tan J, Sewatanon J, Peng R.** 2008. Murine gammaherpesvirus 68 open reading frame 75c tegument protein induces the degradation of PML and is essential for production of infectious virus. J Virol **82:**8000-8012.
- 455. **Sewatanon J, Ling PD.** 2014. Murine gammaherpesvirus 68 encodes a second PML-modifying protein. J Virol **88:**3591-3597.
- 456. **Full F, Reuter N, Zielke K, Stamminger T, Ensser A.** 2012. Herpesvirus saimiri antagonizes nuclear domain 10-instituted intrinsic immunity via an ORF3-mediated selective degradation of cellular protein Sp100. J Virol **86:**3541-3553.
- 457. Hahn AS, Grosskopf AK, Jungnickl D, Scholz B, Ensser A. 2016. Viral FGARAT Homolog ORF75 of Rhesus Monkey Rhadinovirus Effects Proteasomal Degradation of the ND10 Components SP100 and PML. J Virol 90:8013-8028.
- 458. **Cunningham C, Barnard S, Blackbourn DJ, Davison AJ.** 2003. Transcription mapping of human herpesvirus 8 genes encoding viral interferon regulatory factors. J Gen Virol **84:**1471-1483.
- 459. **Baresova P, Pitha PM, Lubyova B.** 2013. Distinct roles of Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus-encoded viral interferon regulatory factors in inflammatory response and cancer. J Virol **87:**9398-9410.
- 460. **Jacobs SR, Damania B.** 2011. The viral interferon regulatory factors of KSHV: immunosuppressors or oncogenes? Front Immunol **2:**19.
- 461. **Lee HR, Kim MH, Lee JS, Liang C, Jung JU.** 2009. Viral interferon regulatory factors. J Interferon Cytokine Res **29:**621-627.
- 462. **Park J, Lee MS, Yoo SM, Jeong KW, Lee D, Choe J, Seo T.** 2007. Identification of the DNA sequence interacting with Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus viral interferon regulatory factor 1. J Virol **81:**12680-12684.
- 463. **Morin G, Robinson BA, Rogers KS, Wong SW.** 2015. A Rhesus Rhadinovirus Viral Interferon (IFN) Regulatory Factor Is Virion Associated and Inhibits the Early IFN Antiviral Response. J Virol **89:**7707-7721.
- 464. **Robinson BA, O'Connor MA, Li H, Engelmann F, Poland B, Grant R, DeFilippis V, Estep RD, Axthelm MK, Messaoudi I, Wong SW.** 2012. Viral interferon regulatory factors are critical for delay of the host immune response against rhesus macaque rhadinovirus infection. J Virol **86:**2769-2779.

- 465. **Schulz TF, Chang Y.** 2007. KSHV gene expression and regulation. *In* Arvin A, Campadelli-Fiume G, Mocarski E, Moore PS, Roizman B, Whitley R, Yamanishi K (ed), Human Herpesviruses: Biology, Therapy, and Immunoprophylaxis, Cambridge.
- 466. **Choi YB, Nicholas J.** 2010. Bim nuclear translocation and inactivation by viral interferon regulatory factor. PLoS Pathog **6**:e1001031.
- 467. Seo T, Lee D, Shim YS, Angell JE, Chidambaram NV, Kalvakolanu DV, Choe J. 2002. Viral interferon regulatory factor 1 of Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus interacts with a cell death regulator, GRIM19, and inhibits interferon/retinoic acid-induced cell death. J Virol **76:**8797-8807.
- 468. **Choi YB, Sandford G, Nicholas J.** 2012. Human herpesvirus 8 interferon regulatory factor-mediated BH3-only protein inhibition via Bid BH3-B mimicry. PLoS Pathog **8:**e1002748.
- 469. Chavoshi S, Egorova O, Lacdao IK, Farhadi S, Sheng Y, Saridakis V. 2016. Identification of Kaposi Sarcoma Herpesvirus (KSHV) vIRF1 Protein as a Novel Interaction Partner of Human Deubiquitinase USP7. J Biol Chem 291:6281-6291.
- 470. **Seo T, Park J, Lee D, Hwang SG, Choe J.** 2001. Viral interferon regulatory factor 1 of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus binds to p53 and represses p53-dependent transcription and apoptosis. J Virol **75:**6193-6198.
- 471. **Xiang Q, Ju H, Li Q, Mei SC, Chen D, Choi YB, Nicholas J.** 2018. Human Herpesvirus 8 Interferon Regulatory Factors 1 and 3 Mediate Replication and Latency Activities via Interactions with USP7 Deubiquitinase. J Virol **92**.
- 472. **Pozharskaya VP, Weakland LL, Zimring JC, Krug LT, Unger ER, Neisch A, Joshi H, Inoue N, Offermann MK.** 2004. Short duration of elevated vIRF-1 expression during lytic replication of human herpesvirus 8 limits its ability to block antiviral responses induced by alpha interferon in BCBL-1 cells. J Virol **78:**6621-6635.
- 473. **Seo T, Park J, Choe J.** 2005. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus viral IFN regulatory factor 1 inhibits transforming growth factor-beta signaling. Cancer Res **65**:1738-1747.
- 474. **Ma Z, Jacobs SR, West JA, Stopford C, Zhang Z, Davis Z, Barber GN, Glaunsinger BA, Dittmer DP, Damania B.** 2015. Modulation of the cGAS-STING DNA sensing pathway by gammaherpesviruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **112:**E4306-4315.
- 475. **Lee MS, Kim YJ.** 2007. Signaling pathways downstream of patternrecognition receptors and their cross talk. Annu Rev Biochem **76:**447-480.
- 476. West JA, Wicks M, Gregory SM, Chugh P, Jacobs SR, Zhang Z, Host KM, Dittmer DP, Damania B. 2014. An important role for mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein in the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus life cycle. J Virol 88:5778-5787.
- 477. **Hwang KY, Choi YB.** 2016. Modulation of Mitochondrial Antiviral Signaling by Human Herpesvirus 8 Interferon Regulatory Factor 1. J Virol **90:**506-520.
- 478. **Burysek L, Yeow WS, Lubyova B, Kellum M, Schafer SL, Huang YQ, Pitha PM.** 1999. Functional analysis of human herpesvirus 8-encoded viral

interferon regulatory factor 1 and its association with cellular interferon regulatory factors and p300. J Virol **73:**7334-7342.

- 479. **Zimring JC, Goodbourn S, Offermann MK.** 1998. Human herpesvirus 8 encodes an interferon regulatory factor (IRF) homolog that represses IRF-1-mediated transcription. J Virol **72:**701-707.
- 480. **Zhang YJ, Patel D, Nan Y, Fan S.** 2011. Inhibition of primary effusion lymphoma engraftment in SCID mice by morpholino oligomers against early lytic genes of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. Antivir Ther **16:**657-666.
- 481. **Seo T, Lee D, Lee B, Chung JH, Choe J.** 2000. Viral interferon regulatory factor 1 of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8) binds to, and inhibits transactivation of, CREB-binding protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun **270**:23-27.
- 482. Lin R, Genin P, Mamane Y, Sgarbanti M, Battistini A, Harrington WJ, Jr., Barber GN, Hiscott J. 2001. HHV-8 encoded vIRF-1 represses the interferon antiviral response by blocking IRF-3 recruitment of the CBP/p300 coactivators. Oncogene **20**:800-811.
- 483. **Jacobs SR, Gregory SM, West JA, Wollish AC, Bennett CL, Blackbourn DJ, Heise MT, Damania B.** 2013. The viral interferon regulatory factors of kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus differ in their inhibition of interferon activation mediated by toll-like receptor 3. J Virol **87:**798-806.
- 484. Li M, Lee H, Guo J, Neipel F, Fleckenstein B, Ozato K, Jung JU. 1998. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus viral interferon regulatory factor. J Virol **72:**5433-5440.
- 485. **Jacobs SR, Stopford CM, West JA, Bennett CL, Giffin L, Damania B.** 2015. Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus Viral Interferon Regulatory Factor 1 Interacts with a Member of the Interferon-Stimulated Gene 15 Pathway. J Virol **89:**11572-11583.
- 486. Lagos D, Trotter MW, Vart RJ, Wang HW, Matthews NC, Hansen A, Flore O, Gotch F, Boshoff C. 2007. Kaposi sarcoma herpesvirus-encoded vFLIP and vIRF1 regulate antigen presentation in lymphatic endothelial cells. Blood 109:1550-1558.
- 487. Burysek L, Yeow WS, Pitha PM. 1999. Unique properties of a second human herpesvirus 8-encoded interferon regulatory factor (vIRF-2). J Hum Virol 2:19-32.
- 488. **Jenner RG, Alba MM, Boshoff C, Kellam P.** 2001. Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus latent and lytic gene expression as revealed by DNA arrays. J Virol **75:**891-902.
- Hu H, Dong J, Liang D, Gao Z, Bai L, Sun R, Hu H, Zhang H, Dong Y, Lan K.
 2016. Genome-Wide Mapping of the Binding Sites and Structural Analysis of Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus Viral Interferon Regulatory Factor
 2 Reveal that It Is a DNA-Binding Transcription Factor. J Virol 90:1158-1168.
- 490. **Kim Y, Cha S, Seo T.** 2016. Activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3kinase/Akt pathway by viral interferon regulatory factor 2 of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. Biochem Biophys Res Commun **470**:650-656.

- 491. **Areste C, Mutocheluh M, Blackbourn DJ.** 2009. Identification of caspasemediated decay of interferon regulatory factor-3, exploited by a Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus immunoregulatory protein. J Biol Chem **284:**23272-23285.
- 492. **Mutocheluh M, Hindle L, Areste C, Chanas SA, Butler LM, Lowry K, Shah K, Evans DJ, Blackbourn DJ.** 2011. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus viral interferon regulatory factor-2 inhibits type 1 interferon signalling by targeting interferon-stimulated gene factor-3. J Gen Virol **92:**2394-2398.
- 493. **Burysek L, Pitha PM.** 2001. Latently expressed human herpesvirus 8encoded interferon regulatory factor 2 inhibits double-stranded RNAactivated protein kinase. J Virol **75:**2345-2352.
- 494. **Williams BR.** 1999. PKR; a sentinel kinase for cellular stress. Oncogene **18**:6112-6120.
- 495. **Gil J, Alcami J, Esteban M.** 2000. Activation of NF-kappa B by the dsRNAdependent protein kinase, PKR involves the I kappa B kinase complex. Oncogene **19:**1369-1378.
- 496. **Lubyova B, Pitha PM.** 2000. Characterization of a novel human herpesvirus 8-encoded protein, vIRF-3, that shows homology to viral and cellular interferon regulatory factors. J Virol **74:**8194-8201.
- 497. **Rivas C, Thlick AE, Parravicini C, Moore PS, Chang Y.** 2001. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus LANA2 is a B-cell-specific latent viral protein that inhibits p53. J Virol **75:**429-438.
- 498. **Dupin N, Fisher C, Kellam P, Ariad S, Tulliez M, Franck N, van Marck E, Salmon D, Gorin I, Escande JP, Weiss RA, Alitalo K, Boshoff C.** 1999. Distribution of human herpesvirus-8 latently infected cells in Kaposi's sarcoma, multicentric Castleman's disease, and primary effusion lymphoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **96:**4546-4551.
- 499. **Katano H, Sato Y, Kurata T, Mori S, Sata T.** 1999. High expression of HHV-8-encoded ORF73 protein in spindle-shaped cells of Kaposi's sarcoma. Am J Pathol **155:**47-52.
- 500. **Parravicini C, Chandran B, Corbellino M, Berti E, Paulli M, Moore PS, Chang Y.** 2000. Differential viral protein expression in Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus-infected diseases: Kaposi's sarcoma, primary effusion lymphoma, and multicentric Castleman's disease. Am J Pathol **156**:743-749.
- 501. Lee HR, Li F, Choi UY, Yu HR, Aldrovandi GM, Feng P, Gao SJ, Hong YK, Jung JU. 2018. Deregulation of HDAC5 by Viral Interferon Regulatory Factor 3 Plays an Essential Role in Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus-Induced Lymphangiogenesis. MBio **9**.
- 502. **Esteban M, Garcia MA, Domingo-Gil E, Arroyo J, Nombela C, Rivas C.** 2003. The latency protein LANA2 from Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus inhibits apoptosis induced by dsRNA-activated protein kinase but not RNase L activation. J Gen Virol **84:**1463-1470.
- 503. **Baresova P, Musilova J, Pitha PM, Lubyova B.** 2014. p53 tumor suppressor protein stability and transcriptional activity are targeted by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-encoded viral interferon regulatory factor 3. Mol Cell Biol **34**:386-399.

- 504. Marcos-Villar L, de la Cruz-Herrera CF, Ferreiros A, Baz-Martinez M, Lang V, Vidal A, Munoz-Fontela C, Rodriguez MS, Collado M, Rivas C. 2015. KSHV latent protein LANA2 inhibits sumo2 modification of p53. Cell Cycle 14:277-282.
- 505. **Munoz-Fontela C, Marcos-Villar L, Gallego P, Arroyo J, Da Costa M, Pomeranz KM, Lam EW, Rivas C.** 2007. Latent protein LANA2 from Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus interacts with 14-3-3 proteins and inhibits FOXO3a transcription factor. J Virol **81:**1511-1516.
- 506. **Wies E, Mori Y, Hahn A, Kremmer E, Sturzl M, Fleckenstein B, Neipel F.** 2008. The viral interferon-regulatory factor-3 is required for the survival of KSHV-infected primary effusion lymphoma cells. Blood **111:**320-327.
- 507. **Jaiswal PK, Goel A, Mittal RD.** 2015. Survivin: A molecular biomarker in cancer. Indian J Med Res **141**:389-397.
- 508. **Satou A, Taira T, Iguchi-Ariga SM, Ariga H.** 2001. A novel transrepression pathway of c-Myc. Recruitment of a transcriptional corepressor complex to c-Myc by MM-1, a c-Myc-binding protein. J Biol Chem **276**:46562-46567.
- 509. **Hagio Y, Kimura Y, Taira T, Fujioka Y, Iguchi-Ariga SM, Ariga H.** 2006. Distinct localizations and repression activities of MM-1 isoforms toward c-Myc. J Cell Biochem **97:**145-155.
- 510. **Lubyova B, Kellum MJ, Frisancho JA, Pitha PM.** 2007. Stimulation of c-Myc transcriptional activity by vIRF-3 of Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. J Biol Chem **282:**31944-31953.
- 511. **Baresova P, Pitha PM, Lubyova B.** 2012. Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus vIRF-3 protein binds to F-box of Skp2 protein and acts as a regulator of c-Myc protein function and stability. J Biol Chem **287:**16199-16208.
- 512. **Marcos-Villar L, Gallego P, Munoz-Fontela C, de la Cruz-Herrera CF, Campagna M, Gonzalez D, Lopitz-Otsoa F, Rodriguez MS, Rivas C.** 2014. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus lana2 protein interacts with the pocket proteins and inhibits their sumoylation. Oncogene **33:**495-503.
- 513. **Cha S, Choe J, Seo T.** 2016. vIRF3 encoded by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus inhibits T-cell factor-dependent transcription via a CREB-binding protein-interaction motif. Biochem Biophys Res Commun **479:**697-702.
- 514. **Bi X, Yang L, Mancl ME, Barnes BJ.** 2011. Modulation of interferon regulatory factor 5 activities by the Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-encoded viral interferon regulatory factor 3 contributes to immune evasion and lytic induction. J Interferon Cytokine Res **31:**373-382.
- 515. Wies E, Hahn AS, Schmidt K, Viebahn C, Rohland N, Lux A, Schellhorn T, Holzer A, Jung JU, Neipel F. 2009. The Kaposi's Sarcoma-associated Herpesvirus-encoded vIRF-3 Inhibits Cellular IRF-5. J Biol Chem **284**:8525-8538.
- 516. **Lubyova B, Kellum MJ, Frisancho AJ, Pitha PM.** 2004. Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus-encoded vIRF-3 stimulates the transcriptional activity of cellular IRF-3 and IRF-7. J Biol Chem **279:**7643-7654.

- 517. **Clement JF, Meloche S, Servant MJ.** 2008. The IKK-related kinases: from innate immunity to oncogenesis. Cell Res **18**:889-899.
- 518. **Seo T, Park J, Lim C, Choe J.** 2004. Inhibition of nuclear factor kappaB activity by viral interferon regulatory factor 3 of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. Oncogene **23:**6146-6155.
- 519. **Schmidt K, Wies E, Neipel F.** 2011. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus viral interferon regulatory factor 3 inhibits gamma interferon and major histocompatibility complex class II expression. J Virol **85:**4530-4537.
- 520. **Zuo J, Hislop AD, Leung CS, Sabbah S, Rowe M.** 2013. Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus-encoded viral IRF3 modulates major histocompatibility complex class II (MHC-II) antigen presentation through MHC-II transactivator-dependent and -independent mechanisms: implications for oncogenesis. J Virol **87:**5340-5350.
- 521. **Steimle V, Siegrist CA, Mottet A, Lisowska-Grospierre B, Mach B.** 1994. Regulation of MHC class II expression by interferon-gamma mediated by the transactivator gene CIITA. Science **265**:106-109.
- 522. Xi X, Persson LM, O'Brien MW, Mohr I, Wilson AC. 2012. Cooperation between viral interferon regulatory factor 4 and RTA to activate a subset of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus lytic promoters. J Virol **86:**1021-1033.
- 523. **Yu HR, Kim YJ, Lee HR.** 2018. KSHV vIRF4 enhances BCL6 transcription via downregulation of IRF4 expression. Biochem Biophys Res Commun **496:**1128-1133.
- 524. **Hwang SW, Kim D, Jung JU, Lee HR.** 2017. KSHV-encoded viral interferon regulatory factor 4 (vIRF4) interacts with IRF7 and inhibits interferon alpha production. Biochem Biophys Res Commun **486:**700-705.
- 525. **O'Connor CM, Damania B, Kedes DH.** 2003. De novo infection with rhesus monkey rhadinovirus leads to the accumulation of multiple intranuclear capsid species during lytic replication but favors the release of genome-containing virions. J Virol **77:**13439-13447.
- 526. **Renne R, Blackbourn D, Whitby D, Levy J, Ganem D.** 1998. Limited transmission of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus in cultured cells. J Virol **72:**5182-5188.
- 527. **Renne R, Zhong W, Herndier B, McGrath M, Abbey N, Kedes D, Ganem D.** 1996. Lytic growth of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8) in culture. Nat Med **2:**342-346.
- 528. **Rivera-Molina YA, Martinez FP, Tang Q.** 2013. Nuclear domain 10 of the viral aspect. World J Virol **2:**110-122.
- 529. Wilcox KW, Sheriff S, Isaac A, Taylor JL. 2005. SP100B is a repressor of gene expression. J Cell Biochem **95:**352-365.
- 530. **Salomoni P, Khelifi AF.** 2006. Daxx: death or survival protein? Trends Cell Biol **16:**97-104.
- 531. **Boisvert FM, Kruhlak MJ, Box AK, Hendzel MJ, Bazett-Jones DP.** 2001. The transcription coactivator CBP is a dynamic component of the promyelocytic leukemia nuclear body. J Cell Biol **152**:1099-1106.

- 532. Alandijany T, Roberts APE, Conn KL, Loney C, McFarlane S, Orr A, Boutell C. 2018. Distinct temporal roles for the promyelocytic leukaemia (PML) protein in the sequential regulation of intracellular host immunity to HSV-1 infection. PLoS Pathog **14**:e1006769.
- 533. **Negorev DG, Vladimirova OV, Ivanov A, Rauscher F, 3rd, Maul GG.** 2006. Differential role of Sp100 isoforms in interferon-mediated repression of herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early protein expression. J Virol **80:**8019-8029.
- 534. **Tavalai N, Papior P, Rechter S, Stamminger T.** 2008. Nuclear domain 10 components promyelocytic leukemia protein and hDaxx independently contribute to an intrinsic antiviral defense against human cytomegalovirus infection. J Virol **82:**126-137.
- 535. **Gaspar M, Gill MB, Losing JB, May JS, Stevenson PG.** 2008. Multiple functions for ORF75c in murid herpesvirus-4 infection. PLoS One **3:**e2781.
- 536. **Moore PS, Gao SJ, Dominguez G, Cesarman E, Lungu O, Knowles DM, Garber R, Pellett PE, McGeoch DJ, Chang Y.** 1996. Primary characterization of a herpesvirus agent associated with Kaposi's sarcomae. J Virol **70:**549-558.
- 537. **Giffin L, Damania B.** 2014. KSHV: pathways to tumorigenesis and persistent infection. Adv Virus Res **88:**111-159.
- 538. **Cesarman E.** 2014. Gammaherpesviruses and lymphoproliferative disorders. Annu Rev Pathol **9**:349-372.
- 539. Dittmer D, Stoddart C, Renne R, Linquist-Stepps V, Moreno ME, Bare C, McCune JM, Ganem D. 1999. Experimental transmission of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV/HHV-8) to SCID-hu Thy/Liv mice. J Exp Med **190:**1857-1868.
- 540. **Ashlock BM, Ma Q, Issac B, Mesri EA.** 2014. Productively infected murine Kaposi's sarcoma-like tumors define new animal models for studying and targeting KSHV oncogenesis and replication. PLoS One **9**:e87324.
- 541. **DeWire SM, McVoy MA, Damania B.** 2002. Kinetics of expression of rhesus monkey rhadinovirus (RRV) and identification and characterization of a polycistronic transcript encoding the RRV Orf50/Rta, RRV R8, and R8.1 genes. J Virol **76:**9819-9831.
- 542. **Dittmer DP, Gonzalez CM, Vahrson W, DeWire SM, Hines-Boykin R, Damania B.** 2005. Whole-genome transcription profiling of rhesus monkey rhadinovirus. J Virol **79:**8637-8650.
- 543. **Taniguchi T, Ogasawara K, Takaoka A, Tanaka N.** 2001. IRF family of transcription factors as regulators of host defense. Annu Rev Immunol **19**:623-655.
- 544. **Springgay LKE, R.D.; Wong, S.W.** 2016. Viral interferon regulatory factors and their role in modulating the immune reesponse to gamma2-herpesvirus infection. Current Topics in Virology **13**:47-58.
- 545. Li C, Peng Q, Wan X, Sun H, Tang J. 2017. C-terminal motifs in promyelocytic leukemia protein isoforms critically regulate PML nuclear body formation. J Cell Sci **130**:3496-3506.

- 546. **Estep RD, Rawlings SD, Li H, Manoharan M, Blaine ET, O'Connor MA, Messaoudi I, Axthelm MK, Wong SW.** 2014. The rhesus rhadinovirus CD200 homologue affects immune responses and viral loads during in vivo infection. J Virol **88**:10635-10654.
- 547. **Nojima T, Oshiro-Ideue T, Nakanoya H, Kawamura H, Morimoto T, Kawaguchi Y, Kataoka N, Hagiwara M.** 2009. Herpesvirus protein ICP27 switches PML isoform by altering mRNA splicing. Nucleic Acids Res **37:**6515-6527.
- 548. **Cuchet-Lourenco D, Vanni E, Glass M, Orr A, Everett RD.** 2012. Herpes simplex virus 1 ubiquitin ligase ICP0 interacts with PML isoform I and induces its SUMO-independent degradation. J Virol **86**:11209-11222.
- 549. **Cuchet D, Sykes A, Nicolas A, Orr A, Murray J, Sirma H, Heeren J, Bartelt A, Everett RD.** 2011. PML isoforms I and II participate in PML-dependent restriction of HSV-1 replication. J Cell Sci **124**:280-291.
- 550. **Leppard KN, Emmott E, Cortese MS, Rich T.** 2009. Adenovirus type 5 E4 Orf3 protein targets promyelocytic leukaemia (PML) protein nuclear domains for disruption via a sequence in PML isoform II that is predicted as a protein interaction site by bioinformatic analysis. J Gen Virol **90**:95-104.
- 551. **DeWire SM, Damania B.** 2005. The latency-associated nuclear antigen of rhesus monkey rhadinovirus inhibits viral replication through repression of Orf50/Rta transcriptional activation. J Virol **79:**3127-3138.
- 552. **Bechtel J, Grundhoff A, Ganem D.** 2005. RNAs in the virion of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. J Virol **79:**10138-10146.
- 553. Schreiner S, Martinez R, Groitl P, Rayne F, Vaillant R, Wimmer P, Bossis G, Sternsdorf T, Marcinowski L, Ruzsics Z, Dobner T, Wodrich H. 2012. Transcriptional activation of the adenoviral genome is mediated by capsid protein VI. PLoS Pathog 8:e1002549.
- 554. **Bund T, Spoden GA, Koynov K, Hellmann N, Boukhallouk F, Arnold P, Hinderberger D, Florin L.** 2014. An L2 SUMO interacting motif is important for PML localization and infection of human papillomavirus type 16. Cell Microbiol **16:**1179-1200.
- 555. **Full F, Hahn AS, Grosskopf AK, Ensser A.** 2017. Gammaherpesviral Tegument Proteins, PML-Nuclear Bodies and the Ubiquitin-Proteasome System. Viruses **9**.
- 556. **Lukac DM, Yuan Y.** 2007. Reactivation and lytic replication of KSHV. *In* Arvin A, Campadelli-Fiume G, Mocarski E, Moore PS, Roizman B, Whitley R, Yamanishi K (ed), Human Herpesviruses: Biology, Therapy, and Immunoprophylaxis, Cambridge.
- 557. **Aneja KK, Yuan Y.** 2017. Reactivation and Lytic Replication of Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus: An Update. Front Microbiol **8**:613.